
 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday, 12th July, 2023, 7.00 pm (or at the rise of ASPIRE, 
whichever is the later) - George Meehan House, 294 High Road, N22 
8JZ (watch the live meeting here and watch the recording here) 
 
Members: Councillors Zena Brabazon (Chair), Felicia Opoku, Elin Weston, 
Lotte Collett, Marsha Isilar-Gosling, Cressida Johnson and Ahmed Mahbub 
 
 
Quorum: 3 
 
1. FILMING AT MEETINGS   

 
Please note this meeting may be filmed or recorded by the Council for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the Council’s internet site or by anyone attending 
the meeting using any communication method.  Although we ask members of 
the public recording, filming or reporting on the meeting not to include the 
public seating areas, members of the public attending the meeting should be 
aware that we cannot guarantee that they will not be filmed or recorded by 
others attending the meeting.  Members of the public participating in the 
meeting (e.g. making deputations, asking questions, making oral protests) 
should be aware that they are likely to be filmed, recorded or reported on.  By 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings. 
 
The Chair of the meeting has the discretion to terminate or suspend filming or 
recording, if in his or her opinion continuation of the filming, recording or 
reporting would disrupt or prejudice the proceedings, infringe the rights of any 
individual, or may lead to the breach of a legal obligation by the Council. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)   
 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   
 
The Chair will consider the admission of late items of urgent business. Late 
items will be considered under the agenda item they appear. New items will 
be dealt with at item 10 below.  
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MDRmNzcxNTgtMTE3Zi00NmRiLWI5MmEtZDdjNzNjYzZiZTVj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%226ddfa760-8cd5-44a8-8e48-d8ca487731c3%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22082c2e5d-5e1e-45e1-aa8b-522a7eea8a16%22%7d
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL_DSjoFpWl8tSPZp3XSVAEhv-gWr-6Vzd


 

A member with a personal interest in a matter who attends a meeting of the 
authority at which the matter is considered must disclose to that meeting the 
existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that 
consideration, or when the consideration becomes apparent.  
 
A member with a personal interest in a matter also has a prejudicial interest in 
that matter the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of 
the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice the member’ judgement of the public interest.   
 

5. MINUTES  (PAGES 1 - 6) 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2023 
 

6. PERFORMANCE FOR QUARTER 4 2022/23 WITH UPDATES TO MAY 
2023  (PAGES 7 - 12) 
 
This report provides an analysis of the performance data and trends for an 
agreed set of measures relating to looked after children on behalf of the 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee. 
 

7. OUTCOME OF OFSTED INSPECTION OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES  
(PAGES 13 - 44) 
 
Haringey Children’s Social Care Service was inspected by OFSTED between 
13 and 24 February 2023.  The inspection, following a five day notice and 
mobilisation period,  focused on the effectiveness of the Council’s Children’s 
Social Care Services.  
 

8. NATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION ADVISER FOR CARE LEAVERS  (PAGES 
45 - 60) 
 
To receive an update on the National Implementation Adviser for Care 
Leavers 
 

9. NATIONAL REVIEW INTO DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS  
(PAGES 61 - 156) 
 
To note the national review into disabilities and Complex Health Needs.  
 

10. IRO CPAC BRIEFING  (PAGES 157 - 164) 
 
To receive an update on IROs. 
 

11. BRIEFING FROM THE CHILDREN IN CARE HEALTH TEAM  (PAGES 165 - 
170) 
 
Report provides an update on the work of the Children in Care health team.           
 

12. PAN LONDON CARE LEAVERS COVENANT (VERBAL UPDATE)   



 

 
To receive an update on the Pan London Care Leavers Covenant.  
 

13. COMPACT (VERBAL UPDATE)   
 
To receive an update on Compact.  
 

14. UNREGULATED AND UNREGISTERED PLACEMENTS   
 
To receive an update on unregulated and unregistered placements.  
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 
 
 
Date of next meeting: 2 October 2023 
 
 

 
Nazyer Choudhury, Principal Committee Co-ordinator 
Tel – 020 8489 3321 
Fax – 020 8881 5218 
Email: nazyer.choudhury@haringey.gov.uk 
 
Fiona Alderman 
Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
George Meehan House, 294 High Road, Wood Green, N22 8JZ 
 
Tuesday, 04 July 2023 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE CORPORATE PARENTING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE HELD ON TUESDAY 28 FEBRUARY, 2023, 7:00PM – 
8:20PM 
 

 
PRESENT:  Councillors Zena Brabazon (Chair), Elin Weston, Cressida Johnson, 

Lotte Collett, Ahmed Mahbub  

 

PRESENT ONLINE: Councillor Marsha Isilar-Gosling.  

 
 
1. FILMING AT MEETINGS  

 
The Chair referred to the filming of meetings and this information was noted.  

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)  

 
Apologies had been received from Councillor Opoku.  

 
3. URGENT BUSINESS  

 
There were none.  

 
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest.  

 
5. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED: That minutes of the meeting of 16 January 2023 be agreed as a correct record.  

 
6. CHILDREN IN CARE SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT (APRIL 2021- MARCH 2022)  

 
Ms Lynn Carrington, Designated Nurse, Whittington Health, presented the report.  

Members queried the report and asked questions. The meeting heard that:  

 In relation to immunisations, there was some reluctance to impose a position on 

parents whereby they are told that they must have immunisations completed for their 

children.  

 It would be helpful to have next year’s annual report earlier and a report brought to 

every Committee. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



 

 

 That was a large CAMHS transfer across NCL and then there were commissioning 

structures within Haringey ICB. The work sat with the Haringey ICB which was specific 

to Haringey and would put the borough on par or above some of the other local 

authorities including the comparison Next Step papers in terms of the mental health 

pathway.  

 The NCL widened the access to all children, but within the strands in the delivery 

groups, children in care would have greater accessibility to a range of other type of 

mental health interventions  

 The Committee would be updated on issues regarding casework.  

 If a young person had been reminded into a secure unit but they were not a child in 

care before they got remanded, then the health plan should be written and put into 

place by the secure unit, so it was not that they were not seen by a health 

professional, they were seen by the health professionals within the unit. The Haringey 

team would not be responsible, but would visit young people who were children in care 

before they were remanded.  

 As there would be regular reports regarding children in the Youth Justice System, a 

thematic approach could be taken to the reports to allow for in-depth analysis.  

 As an audit would be taken for every child in care to ensure that their health records 

were up to standards, it would be useful to do this for children in remand as well.  

 In relation to those remanded with additional needs, thorough assessments would be 

made when those young people first come to the attention of the service. Work was 

done with a range of professionals, but a dedicated Speech and Language therapist 

was still required. The range and depth of the challenges that a child might have would 

be assessed. Some young people had access to a speech and language therapist 

through their school, and the Youth Justice Service would work with those 

professionals. Work so done with those children who had educational, health and care 

plans. 

 

RESOLVED:  

That the report be noted.  

 
7. INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER'S ANNUAL REPORT 2021 / 22  

 
Ms Beverley Hendricks and Ms Pauline Morris presented the report. 

Members queried the report and asked questions. The meeting heard that:  

 More information on participation data, especially regarding under 4s was needed in 

future reports   

 With infants and babies, understanding the care experience was often a mixture of the 

Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) & Social workers  making observations. 

Observations would be made from the social worker and the network of professionals 

around the children such as a health visitor, a GP and those that attend the child in 

care review.  

Page 2



 

 

 Collective alert typically related to placements. Children were sometimes waiting 

longer for placements to be matched as negotiations took place around the quality of 

care and commissioning of services for a need to be met.  

 IROs had the power to report to the secretary of state if they found it necessary to do 

so. This has never been necessary as matters are resolved at AD level.  

 Quarterly reports should be regularly submitted to the Committee, particularly in areas 

which were being championed by the borough.  

 The Stability Placements panel had been useful during the coronavirus crisis. Reports 

had been received by foster carers are residential providers that some adolescents did 

not want to follow lockdown rules. After the panel was introduced, the Council had ‘a 

balcony view’ of what was causing the instability to placements. Other professionals 

could contribute to help provide greater stability.  

 The report would be submitted to the Committee on a quarterly basis.  

 

RESOLVED:  

1. That the contents of the report be noted.  

2. That the report be submitted on a quarterly basis.  

 
8. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN SUFFICIENCY STRATEGY 2022-2026  

 
Ms Beverley Hendricks, Assistant Director for Safeguarding and Social Care introduced the 

item.   

Members queried the strategy and asked questions. The meeting heard that:  

 There were large numbers of  children identified as having autistic spectrum diagnosis. 

Foster carers are supported via  training around managing neurodiversity needs.  

 Research was being completed on where the disparity started amongst different 

demographics. When there was unaddressed bias, the rate of referrals on risks and 

harm was higher as opposed to an evidence-based approach. The amount of 

assessments end after three months after being referred in and it was because of how 

things were interpreted, and the evidence gathered from the assessment. When an 

evidence assessment was made there was no need to keep a case open longer. For 

Looked After Children, it was important to note that if structural inequalities around 

families facing poverty and disadvantage presented risks attributable to the parenting 

that could not be changed then CSC had a duty to act . It was also easier for those 

from affluent backgrounds to secure additional support 

 

RESOLVED:  

That the contents of the report be noted.  

 
9. CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER HEALTH REPORT  

 
As item 6.   

Page 3



 

 

 
10. PATHWAY PLAN  

 
Ms Emma Cummergen, Head of Young Adult Service, presented the item.  

Members asked various questions. The meeting heard that:  

 In order to access a tenancy, those placed outside Haringey would have to come back 

into the borough.  Reciprocal arrangements were attempted with other boroughs, but 

this was not a Pan London process. About 60% of the 16-25 year olds lived out of the 

borough.  

 The pathway followed young people until the age of 21. When they reached 21, young 

people could choose not to continue. If there were any concerns, the Council would 

continue with the pathway plan. The majority of young people would work and with the 

borough until the age of 25 and the pathway plan would adapt for them into adult 

services.  

 Liquid Logic was about to be introduced later in the year and amendments could only 

be made after the new systems are in place.  

 It was important to work alongside the young people and that they voice was central to 

the decision-making process. However, the Council was guiding and supporting young 

people through the process. The work was done in conjunction with the young people. 

 The service was about to launch a new strategy around life story planning. There was 

also discussion regarding young people who may request to access the records in the 

future.  

 Managing risks around life stories for young people who have had upsetting 

backgrounds depended on the individual and the identification of the best 

professionals to support the young person. Sometimes young people do not remember 

what happened in their infancy if they experienced something traumatic. By the time 

young people entered into young adults, they would have a sense of what had 

happened to their lives and sometimes this would help explain issues they may suffer 

from such as anxiety.  

 

RESOLVED:  

That Members note the template.  

 
11. CHILDREN IN CARE KNOWN TO THE YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE - DATA 

UPDATE  
 
Ms Sherri Jiwani-Burnett, Youth Justice Service Manager, presented a verbal update.  

The meeting heard that:  

 They were 13 young people involved from children in care in addition to four children 

from other authorities which have been placed in Haringey. Some of the children were 

considered to be high risk in relation to safety and wellbeing. Therefore, they would be 

seen at least three times a week up to an hour. Work would be done with them in the 

meetings including joyful work as young people were more likely they were to engage in 

Page 4



 

 

the process that way.  Some were seen on a daily basis. The assessments were a 

lengthy process and some children were under-going court proceedings 

 Dealing with young people with significant trauma and engaging them in therapeutic 

services was met with difficulty, although some children did respond well, work was 

being done to ensure that young people understood what was expected of them and a 

lot of training has been done regarding non-verbal communication. Some of the work 

could be brought to the Youth Justice Board meeting.  

 The Committee would have at least a quarterly or bi-annual reports regarding the issue.  

 

The Committee thanked Ms Jiwani-Burnett for her presentation.  

 

RESOLVED:  

That the update be noted.  

 
12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 
There was no other business.  

 
 

 
CHAIR:  Councilor Zena Brabazon 
 
Signed by Chair ……………………………….. 
 
Date ………………………………… 
 
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 6  

 
 
 
Report for:  Corporate Parent Advisory Committee:  July 2023 
 
Item number: 6  
 
Title: Performance for Quarter 4 2022/23 with updates to May 2023 
 
Report  
Authorised by:  Director Children’s Services Ann Graham 
 
Lead Officer: Richard Hutton, Performance and Business Intelligence  

richard.hutton@haringey.gov.uk  
           
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
Report for Key/  
Non Key Decision: Non key 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This report provides an analysis of the performance data and trends for an 
agreed set of measures relating to looked after children on behalf of the 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee. 

 
1.2. Section 2 contains performance highlights and key messages identifying areas 

of improvement and areas for focus. It provides an overall assessment relating 
to Children in Care so that Members can assess progress in key areas within 
the context of the Local Authority’s role as Corporate Parent.  
 

1.3. The report covers the fourth quarter of the year 2022/23 with updates for April 
and May 2023 where appropriate. 

 
 
2. Overall Assessment of Performance 

 
2.1. At the end of both March & May  375 children were in care (rate of 64 per 

10,000). This is 5 more children than was reported in March 2023 and still 
within the interquartile range of our statistical neighbours (rate of 60-69).  
 

2.2. The number of unaccompanied asylum seeker (UASC) children has increased 
from 25 in the last report to 33, or 9% of open looked after children’s cases this 
is still 20 below the revised national transfer scheme threshold.  

 

2.3. Although the overall rate of children in care has remained stable in the past 
few years the rate of those becoming and ceasing to be in care has reduced, a 
trend which has continued in 2023.  
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6

mailto:richard.hutton@haringey.gov.uk


 

Page 2 of 6  

2.4. The rate of 22 as an average over the past 6 months equates to 65 children 
becoming looked after. Lower than the 26.1 (141 children) in 2022/23 

  
 

2.5. 158 (rate 29.3) children ceased to be looked after over the 12 months to March 
2023 but the number of children ceasing to be looked in past 6 months 
reduced bringing the annualised rate of children ceasing to be looked after 
down to 10 per 10,000 children in the month of May or 21 for the 6 months 
from December to May. 
 

 
 

2.6. Of the 375 children looked after as at the end of May, 56 are aged 3 or under 
(2 more than March 2023). 18 of these children have not yet reached their first 
birthday.   
 
CLA aged 3 or under 
 

March 
2020 

March 
2021 

March 
2022 

March 
2023 

May 
2023  

49 67 60 54 56 

 
 
 

2.7. Following the management audit and implementation of the actions highlighted 
in the last report the past 6 months data shows that ‘family in acute stress’ 
given as the reason for children coming into care has reduced slightly to 25% 
although still significantly higher than last reported figures for our statistical 
neighbours. This remains the second most frequent reason for children coming 
into care with the top reason being Abuse & Neglect accounting for 37% of 

Page 8



 

Page 3 of 6  

open cases at the end of November. Absent parenting has increased to 29% 
(see paragraph 2.2regarding increase in UASC UASC) 

 

2.8. A family in acute stress would typically display a combination of factors such 
as; the underlying and accumulative issues related to, poverty, substance 
misuse,  parental mental health and domestic violence, which combine to put 
parents in a position where they cannot cope without additional support.  

 

 
2.9. 3 children have been adopted in the past 6 months, 5% of those who leave 

care, this down on the last period (9%) but matches our latest SN percentage. 
3 young people had a special guardianship order granted in the past 6 months 
May 2023.  
 

2.10. As of May 2023, 87% of looked after children aged under 16 had an up-to-date 
Care Plan. This is now continuing to close the gap with the 90% target.  
 

2.11. Of the 105 children in care aged 16 & 17 who require a pathway plan, 81% 
had up to date plans, now above the 80% target 

 
2.12. Personal education plans (PEPs) have again improved this year and the 

process is now fully embedded, with PEPs achieved during spring term 
reaching 97%.  
 
 

Page 9



 

Page 4 of 6  

2.13. 80% of Children in Care were recorded as having up to date visits within the 
relevant timescales as of the last week of May 2023. Visits to looked after 
children continue to be tracked at performance meetings, held by the Head of 
Service for Children in Care, and along with supervision and management 
direction noted as consistently and actively monitored. 
 

2.14. 28% of children who are placed with foster carers at the end of May have been 
long term matched to the carers. This is a significant improvement since this 
measure has been last reported to CPAC, when it was 11%.  
 

2.15. At the end of May 23, 13% of children with an open episode of care had three 
or more placement moves in the last 12 months. This is now higher than 
the London and statistical neighbour average. The following factors have 
impacted placements moves:  

 

 Placements breaking down due to CLA developing more complex 
needs as they become teenagers 

 17 year olds moving into semi-independent accommodation 
 
 

 
 
Children under 16 who had been in care for at least 2.5 years in the same 
placement for at least 2 years, has dropped to dipped to 46% (61 children) and 
is below levels reported by our statistical neighbours (average 70%). This indicator 
can fluctuate, the 46% represents 13 fewer children in the same placement for at 
least 2 years. This indicator and the three or more placements indicator should be 
viewed together to gain a view of placement stability for Haringey’s children in care. 
 

 
2.16. At the end of May 23, 95% of children who were looked after for at least 12 

months had an up-to-date health assessment, well exceeding levels of our 
statistical neighbours’ (92%). 

 
2.17. At the end of March 2021 only 51% of eligible children had up to date dental 

visits. This had increased to 78% by the end of March 2022 and is now at 
79% four percentage points above the number reported last time. 
Unfortunately, dental checks have always been a challenging area. 
 

Page 10



 

Page 5 of 6  

 
 

2.18. There are now 654 care leavers in receipt of or eligible for leaving care 
services as of the end of May, this figure is up by 230 as we are now count 
returning care leavers and looked after children aged over 16 within the cohort.  
 

2.19. 75% of those aged 17–18-year-olds were considered as in touch with the 
local authority at the end of May. With the other 25 shown as not recorded as 
these young people are still in care and are newly included in this cohort, we 
will be recoding these details in the same as care levers in the future. 

 

 
2.20. 100% of those aged 19-21 were considered as in touch with the local 

authority at the end of November. 
 

 

2.21. 134 or 58% of the 19–21-year-olds and 66% of 17–18-year-olds were known 
to be in Education Employment or Training (EET) 

 

 
2.22. 93% of 19–21-year-old care leavers were known to be in suitable 

accommodation (89% in June 2022) and 70% of 17–18-year-olds 
 
 

Page 11



 

Page 6 of 6  

 
 

 
 

Page 12



 

Page 1 of 5  

 
 

Report for:  Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee:    12 July 2023  
 
Item number: 7 
 
Title: Outcome of Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services 
 
Report  
authorised by :  Ann Graham, Director of Children’s Services  
 
Lead Officer: Beverley Hendricks, Assistant Director of Safeguarding and Social 

Care   
 
Ward(s) affected: All  
 
Report for Key/  
Non Key Decision: Non Key decision 
 
 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 

 
1.1 Haringey Children’s Social Care Service was inspected by OFSTED between  

13 and 24 February 2023.  The inspection, following a five day notice and 
mobilisation period,  focused on the effectiveness of the Council’s Children’s Social 
Care Services.  
 

1.2 The inspection took place in accordance with legislation and the new Ofsted 
inspection framework that became operational in December 2022.  The findings from 
the inspection were published on 11 April 2023 and the inspectors judged that 
Haringey’s Children’s Service is now rated for overall effectiveness as Good. The 
inspection noted significant improvement since the last full inspection, the report for 
which was published in December 2018.  

 
1.3 The inspection report includes a small number of areas for improvement and to 

address these areas the Post Inspection Action Plan is presented for Members 
herewith, as indicated to Cabinet on 13 June 2023.  
 

1.4 The Director of Children’s Services and the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People, Schools and Learning and will submit the action plan to OFSTED on 18 July 
2023.  The delivery of the  action plan will be overseen by the Excellence for 
Children’s Board, and the AD for Safeguarding & Social Care will provide progress 
reports to the Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee, to Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Panel, and to the Haringey Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.   

 
2. Recommendations  

 
2.1      Members are asked to:   

  
a) note the findings and outcome of the Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Social Care 

Services, a copy of which is attached as Appendix 1;  and 
  

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



 

Page 2 of 5  

b) note the approach set out for the development of the areas identified by Ofsted 
as requiring further improvement in the draft attached action plan at Appendix 2.  

   
3. Background 
 
3.1     Children’s Services were subject to a full Ofsted inspection called the Inspection of 

Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) by a team of Ofsted inspectors over a 
three-week period. During the first week of the inspection, inspectors were off site 
and were provided with data and information in line with the guidance in the ILACS 
framework. Inspectors were based in Haringey for the last two weeks of the 
inspection from 13 February to 24 February 2023. 

 
3.2  The inspection framework is focused on evidence about improving outcomes for 

children and young people and evidence of the impact of leaders. There is a strong 
emphasis on examining frontline practice, talking directly with practitioners, and 
taking into account the views of children, young people, parents and carers. Our work 
with partner agencies and in fulfilling responsibilities as Corporate Parents was also 
an important focus point for the inspectors.  

 
3.3  In advance of the inspection, the service produced a self-evaluation that set out the 

strengths, areas for improvement and actions needed to improve services. Ofsted 
received a copy of the self-evaluation in advance of the inspection and used this 
alongside a set of required data and information to form their key lines of enquiry. As 
part of the inspection process, inspectors look for evidence of progress from previous 
inspections. The last full inspection of children’s services took place in 2018  

50044253 (ofsted.gov.uk) and a Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) on neglect 
took place in December 2017.  

 
3.4 The inspection team were on site for nine working days and read case files, observed 

practice, interviewed a wide arrange of frontline practitioners, and other professionals 
and safeguarding partners regarding the help and care given to children in Haringey. 
They also talked directly to children, young people and their families including the 
Children in Care Council, ASPIRE, young people at Bruce Grove and Rising Green 
Youth Centres and visited the Maya Angelou Family Centre. Inspectors spent time in 
Haringey’s Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and met with most designated 
safeguarding partners including those from Health, Housing leads, Head Teachers 
and schools,  and the Haringey and Enfield BCU – Police Teams. 

 
3.5  The judgement from the inspection is that the effectiveness of Haringey 

Children’s Social Care Services is Overall Good 

 Judgement  Grade 

Overall effectiveness  Good  

The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families  

Good  

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection  

Good  

The experiences of children in care  Requires improvement to be good 

The experiences and progress of 
children care leavers  

Good  

 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50044253


 

Page 3 of 5  

 
3.6  The summary of the findings is taken verbatim from the full report as follows :  

‘Leaders have supported frontline staff to significantly improve practice since the last 
inspection. Particular progress has been made for children in need of help and 
protection. Multi-agency partnership work is effective in identifying children at risk of 
abuse or neglect and providing the right support at the right time. Children at risk of 
extra-familial harm benefit from bespoke, timely and targeted support to protect them 
and to disrupt exploitation. Care leavers continue to receive effective help to take up 
education and employment opportunities and prepare for adulthood. Personal 
advisers are tenacious and creative in supporting them as young adults.  

 
While most children are now supported well, leaders know there is more to do to 
achieve the same level of progress in developing services for children in care. 
Children come into care when it is in their best interests and most live in homes 
which meet their needs. However, practice is not consistently enabling them to 
achieve the stability and permanence they need for the future. Many do not receive 
individualised, sensitive life-story work to help them understand their journeys. 
Leaders have an accurate and realistic view of the service. Stability of senior 
leadership and good corporate and political support have helped Haringey make 
considerable progress in a challenging context. The transformation seen is making a 
positive difference to most children’s lives.’ 

 
3.7 Ofsted inspectors commented that ‘In 2018, inspectors judged Haringey children’s 

services to require improvement to be good. Since then, an ambitious and stable 
leadership team has made considerable progress and much of the service is now 
transformed. The senior leadership team has achieved steady improvement in the 
quality and impact of social work practice for children in need of help and protection 
and sustained good support for care leavers. Services in these areas are now good, 
with some examples of excellent child and family-centred practice’. (Inspection of 
Haringey local authority children’s services report, page 9). 

 
3.8 Ofsted acknowledged that most children are now well supported and ‘that leaders 

know there is more to do to achieve the same level of progress in developing 
services for children in care’. Under a heading:  ‘what needs to improve’, inspectors 
noted the following areas for improvement:  
 

 The effectiveness of permanence planning for children in care, including the 
challenge brought by independent reviewing officers. 

 The identification of and response to children in private fostering arrangements. 

 The provision and quality of life story work at key developmental stages in 
children’s lives. 

 The quality of supervision in ensuring that plans for children make a positive 
impact. 

 The understanding and knowledge of frontline workers about adoption. 
 
 
3.9 This is consistent with the Service’s self-evaluation.   
 
4. Contribution to the Corporate Delivery Plan 2022-2024 High level Strategic 
 outcomes 

 

Page 15



 

Page 4 of 5  

4.1 The Children and Young People’s Service contributes to delivering the following 
strategic outcomes in our Corporate Delivery Plan:  
 

  Inclusive public participation 

  Best start in life – the first few years of every child’s life will give them the 
 long-term foundation to thrive  

  Happy childhoods – all children across the borough will be happy and health 
 as they grow up, feeling safe and secure in their family networks and 
 communities  

  Successful futures – every young person, whatever their background, has a 
 pathway to success for the future  

  A safer borough – a borough where all residents and visitors feel safe and 
 are safe.   

 
5. Statutory Officers comments (Director of Finance ( procurement), Head of 

Legal and Governance, Equalities) 
 
5.1 Regulation 3 (Publication of a written statement of proposed action) of the Education 

and Inspections Act 2006 (Inspection of Local Authorities) Regulations 2007 provides 
that the Council must within 70 working days of receiving the Chief Inspector’s report, 
publish a written statement of action which it proposes to take in light of the report by 
sending a copy to the Chief Inspector, Secretary of State and persons or bodies to 
whom a copy of the report of the inspection was sent. 
 

5.2 Finance  
There are no new financial commitment proposed by this reports with current service 
costs contained within approved revenue budget provision. 
 

5.3 Procurement 
Strategic Procurement notes the contents of this report and confirms there are no 
procurement implications arising from the recommendations in paragraph 2.1 above. 
 

5.4 Head of Legal & Governance  
The Head of Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer) has been consulted in the 
preparation of this report. 
 
The legal framework for Ofsted inspections of Children Services is set out in Section 
135-142 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 ( Inspection of Local Authorities) Regulations 2007. 
 
In November 2017, Ofsted introduced a new Framework, evaluation criteria and 
inspection guidance for the inspections of local authority children’s services. The 
Framework, last updated in April 2023, enables inspectors to be consistent in 
inspections whilst retaining flexibility to respond to the individual circumstances of 
each local authority.  
 
Regulation 3 (Publication of a written statement of proposed action) of the Education 
and Inspections Act 2006 (Inspection of Local Authorities) Regulations 2007 provides 
that the Council must within 70 working days of receiving the Chief Inspector’s report, 
publish a written statement of action which it propose to take in light of the report by 

Page 16



 

Page 5 of 5  

sending a copy to the Chief Inspector, Secretary of State and persons or bodies to 
whom a copy of the report of the inspection was sent.    

 
5.5 Equality 

Children’s Social Care services are delivered to fulfil the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities towards children in the Borough who are in need of help and 
protection or are in care or are leaving care. Services are regulated by legislation and 
by statutory guidance. 

 
6. Use of Appendices 

 
  Appendix 1 - Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services report 2023 
  Appendix 2 – Draft Post-Ofsted Action Plan   
  
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

Inspecting local authority children’s services – the inspection framework that Ofsted 
use to inspect children’s services  

 
‘External links – Haringey Council is not responsible for the contents or reliability of 
linked web sites and does not necessarily endorse any views expressed within them. 
Listing should not be taken as endorsement of any kind. It is your responsibility to 
check the terms and conditions of any other web sites you may visit. We cannot 
guarantee that these links will work all of the time and we have no control over the 
availability of the linked pages.’  

 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority 
children’s services  
Inspection dates: 13 to 24 February 2023 

Lead inspector: Claire Beckingham, His Majesty’s Inspector 

Judgement Grade 

The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families 

Good 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and protection  

Good 

The experiences and progress of 
children in care 

Requires improvement to be good 

The experiences and progress of care 
leavers  

Good  

Overall effectiveness Good  

Leaders have supported frontline staff to significantly improve practice since the last 
inspection. Particular progress has been made for children in need of help and 
protection. Multi-agency partnership work is effective in identifying children at risk of 
abuse or neglect and providing the right support at the right time. Children at risk of 
extra-familial harm benefit from bespoke, timely and targeted support to protect 
them and to disrupt exploitation. Care leavers continue to receive effective help to 
take up education and employment opportunities and prepare for adulthood. 
Personal advisers are tenacious and creative in supporting them as young adults.  

While most children are now supported well, leaders know there is more to do to 
achieve the same level of progress in developing services for children in care. 
Children come into care when it is in their best interests and most live in homes 
which meet their needs. However, practice is not consistently enabling them to 
achieve the stability and permanence they need for the future. Many do not receive 
individualised, sensitive life-story work to help them understand their journeys.  

Leaders have an accurate and realistic view of the service. Stability of senior 
leadership and good corporate and political support have helped Haringey make 

Page 19



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

2 

considerable progress in a challenging context. The transformation seen is making a 
positive difference to most children’s lives.  

What needs to improve? 

◼ The effectiveness of permanence planning for children in care, including the 
challenge brought by independent reviewing officers.  

◼ The identification of and response to children in private fostering arrangements.  

◼ The provision and quality of life-story work at key developmental stages in 
children’s lives. 

◼ The quality of supervision in ensuring that plans for children make a positive 
impact. 

◼ The understanding and knowledge of frontline workers about adoption. 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection: good  

1. Services for children who need help and protection in Haringey are strong. 
Thresholds for intervention are understood across the partnership and by 
practitioners in the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH). Children and 
families get the right level of help and protection at the right time, making a 
positive difference to their day-to-day lives and reducing the risk of harm. 

2. Children benefit from a well-coordinated range of early help services that 
effectively support families with a wide range of complex and difficult issues. 
Judicious, targeted investment in reconfigured locality-based teams results in 
early help that is carefully prioritised to support potentially vulnerable families. 
Early help assessments provide clarity about needs; the strongest assessments 
are detailed and explorative. Staff are great advocates for families. Workers use 
a wide variety of tools to work creatively with adults and children, building 
relationships in which trust is established.  

3. Children are appropriately safeguarded from harm when necessary. 
Enthusiastic, experienced MASH practitioners and managers provide sensitive, 
child-centred and timely responses and interventions. Skilled and sensitive work 
by MASH social workers, including speaking directly to children, ensures that 
decisions are informed by a good understanding of their lives.  

4. Co-location and joint working between health, education, police, children’s 
social workers and early help professionals strengthens practice. Information 
about past harm and risk informs decisions and leads to proportionate action. 
The importance of parental consent is well understood, and appropriately 
overridden if needed. Management oversight of MASH work ensures that 
children’s experiences are central to timely decisions about the steps needed to 
help and protect children from harm.  

Page 20



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

3 

5. In response to findings from rapid reviews and case reviews, leaders’ recent 
decision to appoint a hospital social worker is positive. This expedites decisions 
and referrals about vulnerable children and pregnant woman at risk.  

6. Well-established systems in the out-of-hours emergency duty team (EDT) 
ensure that children receive a prompt service. The relationships and reporting 
arrangements with day services are effective and children are safeguarded 
appropriately. The EDT has access to dedicated fostering provision, which 
ensures that children in custody do not have to wait for extended periods of 
time in police cells before accommodation is found. 

7. Although variable in quality, most assessments identify the impact for children 
of parental mental illness, domestic abuse, substance misuse, exploitation and 
neglect. This is an improvement from the previous inspection. The impact of 
poverty, racism, poor housing and fuel debt is understood, but this does not 
detract from focusing on harm and risk to children. Stronger assessments 
across social care teams and in early help are detailed and provide a thorough 
analysis informed by children’s views and those of partner agencies. However, 
some children who need longer-term help and protection do not move on from 
the assessment teams quickly enough, resulting in some drift. Leaders had 
initiated action before this inspection to ameliorate this problem; by creating 
additional assessment teams, they have been increasing capacity to complete 
timely assessments.  

8. Children who are supported through child in need (CIN) or child protection (CP) 
plans benefit from diligent and persistent workers who focus on reducing risk 
and are effective in improving outcomes for them. A culture of listening to 
children, understanding their world, and acting on their views is becoming 
increasingly embedded in practice across teams and is leading to proportionate 
interventions. Appropriate action is taken to safeguard and protect children who 
are at immediate risk of significant harm. Most CP conferences are timely. 
Multi-agency core groups and CIN meetings are held regularly, and most are 
used effectively to review and update plans. However, some plans lack clarity 
about risks, desired outcomes and timescales. Where this is the case, progress 
is not consistently measured against or continuously evaluated in supervision.  

9. When children’s circumstances or risks change, workers appropriately escalate 
or step down the level of service and support they need. Where concerns are 
very serious, concurrent work for children subject to the Public Law Outline 
(PLO) is preventing drift and ensuring timely decisions about applications to 
family courts. Targeted and timely work with families presented to the PLO 
multi-team decision panel is also successfully diverting families from court. 
Work to strengthen PLO processes and the introduction of a proceedings 
tracker have helped managers strengthen their grip on what is happening. The 
judiciary receives effective support from Haringey’s legal team. Workers 
complete viability assessments of extended family members if assessed risks 
indicate that children are unable to live safely with their parents, although the 
quality and timeliness of these assessments are inconsistent. 

Page 21



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

4 

10. Strong multi-agency communication ensures that effective arrangements are in 
place for identifying and responding to disabled children and young people, 
helping to protect them from harm and ensure that they are appropriately 
cared for.  

11. The need to improve the identification and awareness of private fostering 
arrangements was noted at the last inspection. This has not been addressed 
quickly enough and work in this area remains underdeveloped. Haringey has 
only identified an unexpectedly small number of children in such arrangements, 
and practice lacks rigour and management oversight.  

12. Senior leaders have aligned information to better monitor and assess the 
impact of work with vulnerable adolescents and children at risk of exploitation. 
The Violence, Vulnerability and Exploitation team provides intensive 
wraparound support that reduces risks to children who go missing or who are 
at risk of exploitation. Professionals identify risks to young people early, by 
using screening tools and swiftly sharing information with multi-agency 
partners. All children who have gone missing are offered return home 
interviews, but this is not always robustly followed up when children decline to 
take part. 

13. Diligent work across the partnership, for instance in the ‘gangs’ meeting and 
collaboration with ‘Prevent’ and Channel, is protecting children who are 
vulnerable to extra-familial exploitation and radicalisation. Sophisticated, 
individualised direct work by highly skilled practitioners in the early help 
exploitation team is helping children to understand risk and develop ways to 
avoid harmful situations. In some cases, workers are not always using 
appropriate, non-victim blaming language in reports about vulnerable and 
exploited children.  

14. Young people who present as homeless have their needs carefully considered 
by social workers in collaboration with housing officers. Workers help them to 
return home with support or to move to alternative provision. Children and 
families who present as destitute receive a responsive service from the No 
Recourse to Public Funds team. They do not have to wait until the outcome of 
an assessment before being provided with support and financial provision. This 
ensures that children’s needs are met quickly.  

15. Local authority designated officer decisions demonstrate appropriate 
understanding and application of safeguarding thresholds. Effective systems 
help managers track all open referrals, ensuring that decisions are timely. The 
designated officer has rightly identified the need to strengthen recording in 
cases where police investigations are lengthy.  

16. The local authority has put clear systems in place to satisfy itself that children 
who are being educated at home are being safeguarded. 

Page 22



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

5 

17. Designated safeguarding leads in schools value the opportunities they are given 
to network and meet. They understand when to contact partners about 
safeguarding concerns. Sometimes they are not updated on subsequent social 
work actions as quickly as they would like.  

The experiences and progress of children in care: requires 
improvement to be good  

18. When children need to be looked after, appropriate decisions and timely actions 
are taken to secure their safety. Decisions are well informed by accurate 
assessments of children’s needs. Most children live in homes which meet their 
needs, where they are settled and supported by their carers to make progress. 
However, some children have experienced repeated placement moves or have 
not been able to achieve permanence in a timely manner. When it is not 
possible for children to return to the care of their parents, there is consideration 
of family and friends to care for children. There continues to be some variability 
in the quality and timeliness of assessments of potential carers.  

19. More progress is needed to improve the effectiveness of matching and 
timeliness of securing permanence for children. Some children in care have 
experienced drift and delay. For some of these children, there has been 
insufficient consideration of matching based on their needs, and this has made 
it harder for them to settle and make progress. Some children have remained 
on court orders when they are no longer necessary, and others have not been 
formally matched with foster families with whom they have lived for significant 
periods of time. Some older children with very complex needs have experienced 
multiple moves despite careful matching.  

20. Social workers are creative and committed to helping these children overcome 
trauma and in trying to mitigate the impact of these moves, sometimes 
becoming the child’s most constant relationship. Recently, systems and plans 
have been developed to improve matching and permanency, but these are not 
fully embedded to ensure that all children benefit. Recent permanence planning 
and matching for some younger children leaving care through adoption has 
been more effective.  

21. Decisions for children to return home, live with family friends or to be cared for 
by extended family are informed well by thorough parenting and specialist 
assessments. Manager oversight and scrutiny of these arrangements is not yet 
regular enough to ensure that these plans remain the most appropriate for 
children.  

22. Children’s care plans are variable in quality. Stronger plans reflect consideration 
of children’s voices, views, cultural, religious and language needs and provide 
clear outcomes and timescales to achieve these. Weaker plans are not routinely 
updated to reflect current circumstances or situations and tasks are not 
achieved in a timely manner. Plans are regularly reviewed. A ‘child-led’ 
approach positively empowers children to be active participants in their reviews. 

Page 23



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

6 

Children’s views are captured well and mostly reflected using language that is 
purposefully chosen to empower children and challenge any stigma associated 
with being in care. Children and families can use interpreters when needed, 
which helps their views to be heard. Some children have experienced delays in 
the progression of their plans. Independent reviewing officer oversight is not 
consistently effective in addressing this problem.  

23. Children are seen regularly by their workers. Some children receive direct work 
to explore their histories, journeys or individual stories. However, some have 
had too many social workers and a lack of focused and meaningful visits. Not 
all children have access to advocates and independent visitors.  

24. Life-story work is underdeveloped and has been absent for too many children in 
care. Operationally, there has been limited understanding about the importance 
of this work to enable children to make sense of their identities, stories and 
histories at different stages of their development. Leaders have appropriately 
recognised this gap and training is planned. 

25. Children experiencing, or who are at risk of, exploitation are supported well 
through impactful work which improves their safety. Meaningful interventions 
provided by direct intervention workers help to divert children and young 
people away from gang affiliation and criminal activity. There is good oversight 
of children who go missing from care, with appropriate review of risk and timely 
return home interviews to ascertain the reasons for their missing episodes and 
to inform future planning for them.  

26. Culturally sensitive work with unaccompanied minors makes a difference to 
their lives, helping children to settle, access health and education, and live in 
homes which meet their needs. 

27. Disabled children are supported well by social workers who have a detailed 
understanding of their needs, know how best to support them and help them 
voice their views about the care they receive.  

28. Children’s health needs are assessed at least annually and appropriate referrals 
are made to specialist services. The local authority and its partners have 
improved access to services to meet the emotional and mental health needs of 
children living in or near to Haringey. Children are supported to attend dental 
and optician appointments when needed.  

29. Children who live in stable homes are encouraged to develop their interests and 
hobbies. When children move placement, some experience delays in attending 
an appropriate educational setting. Social workers cannot easily source 
appropriate education, training and employment support for children who have 
had several placement moves.  

30. Children are supported to safely maintain their relationships with people who 
are important to them. Where possible, they live with their brothers and sisters; 
when they don’t, they are actively supported to spend time with each other 

Page 24



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

7 

when this is in their best interests. Children are prepared for family time and 
their social workers consider carefully how it meets their needs.  

31. Designated safeguarding leads in schools play a key role in ensuring that 
children and young people in care get a good deal. They are well supported by 
other partners, including social workers and the virtual school team. Evidence 
of impact can be seen in children’s improving attendance levels and 
achievement, a reduction in suspensions from school and a decrease in the 
proportion of young people not in education, employment or training. The 
virtual school service provides relevant training for social workers, foster carers 
and designated leads. Considering the challenges that many pupils in care face, 
more can still be done to support better educational outcomes, especially for 
those in primary school and older pupils in key stage 4.  

32. Almost all personal education plans (PEPs) are completed in a timely way. Most 
of these plans contain measurable and meaningful steps for each child. 
However, some have gaps in the educational history of the child, for example in 
how they achieved at the end of primary school. Some PEPs do not give 
sufficient emphasis on careers guidance and support, especially for children 
coming to the end of their secondary schooling. The virtual school is working on 
a new development plan. 

33. Recruitment of foster carers is an improving picture. Recruitment in the last 
year has increased the number of foster carers available. Foster carers receive 
a high level of support from their supervising social workers. Support for 
connected carers is not implemented soon enough. The training offer for foster 
carers is good; however, it is not clear how many carers have taken up training 
to ensure that they remain skilled and up to date to meet children’s needs. The 
First Steps team supports foster carers with trauma-informed help and 
strategies to understand and respond to children’s behaviours. The quality of 
assessments and annual foster carer reviews is improving. A backlog of out-of-
timescale reviews has built up, so that oversight of foster carers has not been 
as robust as it should be. Leaders had recognised this prior to the inspection 
and had deployed a reviewing officer, who has returned the outstanding 
reviews to panel. 

34. Haringey has been part of the Adopt London North regional adoption agency 
(RAA) since October 2019. These partnership arrangements are serving 
Haringey children well. The RAA has a good understanding of children’s needs, 
and the local authority has good oversight of the RAA’s work. However, leaders 
and managers rightly recognise that there is a lack of understanding among 
frontline teams about adoption.  

The experiences and progress of care leavers: good  

35. Social workers and personal advisers supporting care leavers are dedicated to 
and knowledgeable about their young people. They provide practical help and 

Page 25



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

8 

support to young people which helps them in times of challenge, difficulty and 
success.  

36. Social workers and personal advisers keep in touch with young people and offer 
the support that they need, when they need it. They visit young people 
regularly to develop trusting and caring relationships. This includes young 
people in custody.  

37. Nurturing, enduring and stable relationships support and enable young people 
to share painful information, so the right help can be provided. Workers 
maintain regular communication, sometimes daily, with their young people in 
warm, enthusiastic messages. Visits are well recorded; they are meaningful and 
explore issues that impact on individual young people.  

38. Social workers and personal advisers are inquisitive about young people’s 
vulnerabilities, and they understand the impact of trauma and adverse life 
experiences on their health and well-being. They work proactively to support 
young people with complex needs, doing all they can to support and prepare 
them for the next stage of their journey into adulthood. This includes helping 
young people to access therapeutic services. Personal advisers are persistent in 
finding them these resources, regardless of where young people are living. 
Young people have access to specialist mental health services when these are 
needed. Group therapy is also available, as is family therapy when family 
relationships need strengthening.  

39. The timing of, and rationale for, decisions to allocate a personal adviser rather 
than a social worker are not always clear to young people. This can make it 
harder for some to see how they will be supported at important transition 
points in their life and when to anticipate a change in worker.  

40. When a young adult turns 21, their needs are assessed and, through 
consultation with their personal adviser, they decide whether they want 
ongoing support from the local authority. If the young person does not want 
ongoing support, then workers keep in touch with them twice a year. If their 
circumstances change, or they change their mind, they can be reallocated a 
personal adviser.  

41. The local offer for young people is well understood by social workers and 
personal advisers, who regularly share details with young people so they 
understand their rights and entitlements. This is explicit in young people’s 
records. However, some care leavers informed inspectors that they did not 
know about all of their entitlements.  

42. The majority of young people have good-quality pathway plans. Most plans are 
co-produced with young people and are comprehensive, providing information 
about needs, entitlements, and practical information about their finances. The 
plans detail how young people’s needs will be met and include contributions 
from young people about their views to inform their plans for housing, 

Page 26



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

9 

employment and education. When young people choose not to contribute to 
their plan, workers ensure that they record the young person’s wishes. A 
minority of plans lack focus and detail on actions to support young people to 
develop independence.  

43. Pathway plans focus on education and employment. The help young people 
receive is enhanced by thoughtful and practical support from tenacious workers 
who help them act on careers advice. Plans are not identifying early enough 
when young people aged 16 and 17 are not on track to achieve in their 
mathematics or English courses. Young people have access to a wide range of 
support to gain employment skills. This includes help to apply for credible 
apprenticeships and education programmes. Young people are also supported 
through the work of the aspiration panel, promoting a whole-system response 
to their education and employment needs. Young adults who are at university 
are supported with accommodation and additional finances, as well as practical 
advice and guidance for other needs. 

44. Care leavers who are parents are supported well with practical help, advice and 
plans that reflect their own needs as well as their child’s. This approach helps 
them to parent more safely. Strong multi-agency support and communication 
improve outcomes and reduce risk for parents and their children.  

45. Young people’s health needs are assessed prior to them becoming 18, and 
actions to improve their health are explicitly considered in their pathway plans.  

46. Workers consider housing options and suitable pathways before young people 
reach 18 so that the right accommodation and support can be planned. Support 
to apply for benefits is also provided by a dedicated Department of Work and 
Pensions worker deployed within Haringey’s services. Most young people live in 
areas of their choosing where possible, in accommodation they choose and 
which is adequate and meets their needs. Semi-independent accommodation 
with easy-to-access support is available to help young people develop their 
independence skills. This is further strengthened through young people having 
access to independence skills workshops and a Money Matters programme. 
‘Staying put’ arrangements are encouraged and widely available for young 
people in Haringey. This enables them to sustain relationships with their carers 
and benefit from continuous support.  

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and 
families: good  

47. In 2018, inspectors judged Haringey children’s services to require improvement 
to be good. Since then, an ambitious and stable leadership team has made 
considerable progress and much of the service is now transformed. The senior 
leadership team has achieved steady improvement in the quality and impact of 
social work practice for children in need of help and protection and sustained 
good support for care leavers. Services in these areas are now good, with some 
examples of excellent child and family-centred practice.  

Page 27



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

10 

48. Progress for children in care has not been achieved at the same pace. While 
many children in care are supported well, others have experienced significant 
delay in achieving permanence, and some have had too many social workers. 
This lack of stability has affected some children’s progress. The context in 
Haringey has been a particularly challenging one. Many children in care are 
older children who have complex needs, including some who have been 
affected by the extremes of deprivation, extra-familial harm, gangs and violent 
crime. While recruitment and retention are national issues, they have been 
compounded in Haringey by a legacy of reputation, and leaders have needed 
time to successfully reshape the workforce. Leaders are fully aware of what 
needs to improve for their children in care and they are focusing on 
accelerating improvement. Recently strengthened oversight and monitoring are 
starting to show some impact.  

49. Mature relationships, underpinned by trust, mean that leaders and elected 
members hold each other to account. There is ongoing political and corporate 
support with financial investment for children’s services. Good governance 
arrangements are in place, ensuring that the senior leadership team and 
elected members communicate regularly and effectively. 

50. Leaders take their responsibility as corporate parents for looked after children 
seriously. Haringey had a new administration in 2022. A champion programme 
commits elected members to take collective responsibility for enhancing the life 
chances of children and care-experienced adults. The corporate parenting 
board meets regularly, and the appointment of a participation officer is 
supporting children to have their voices heard and ensuring their involvement in 
strategic development plans.  

51. Performance management is well established and is a priority. Effective trackers 
and panels enable leaders to monitor plans for most children well. However, 
permanence planning is inconsistent and the progress made for some children 
is too slow.  

52. Leaders know their communities well and have targeted development and 
partnership initiatives at identified areas of need. Proactive collaborative work 
to improve local placement sufficiency is in development. The strategic and 
corporate ambition and vision set out in plans support a clear understanding 
and shared approach to prioritising and meeting children’s needs.  

53. Leaders have worked with partners to agree and pursue shared priorities that 
are informed by the experiences of local children and their families. This has 
strengthened relationships and joint work with partners. There is evidence of 
constructive professional challenge, joint training, auditing and continued 
discussions to improve multi-agency working with colleagues in justice, health 
and education, and through the safeguarding partnership. For example, 
targeted work with the police has focused on the impact for young people who 
are stopped and searched.  

Page 28



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

11 

54. Leaders are connected to frontline practice and have good knowledge of 
individual children. A tangible sense about wanting to do the right thing fosters 
an open learning culture, and leaders engage readily in internal and external 
reviews and challenge. Leaders know their services well and there is a strong 
ethos of continuous learning. They use a range of information, including 
performance data, feedback, the comprehensive quality assurance framework 
and audit activity to inform plans to improve services for vulnerable children. A 
strength is where children have told leaders something is important to them, 
and this is translated into tangible action: ‘you said, we did’.  

55. Since 2018, leaders have strengthened services in several key areas of practice. 
Work to safeguard older children from risk and exploitation is a particular 
strength. The multi-agency-attended exploitation panel is an effective forum, 
bringing together agencies that swiftly provide bespoke packages of 
wraparound support to safeguard young people from exploitation. The impact 
of this practice can be seen in outcomes for individual young people and in 
having helped reduce the number of young people entering the youth justice 
system.  

56. Supervision across children’s services is regular, but it is not consistently strong 
enough to progress all children’s plans. In good supervision, social workers 
participate in reflective discussions alongside the reviewing of tasks and 
compliance activities.  

57. Staff have access to a wide range of training opportunities through Haringey 
Children’s Academy and other accredited training opportunities. Workers 
appreciate the training offer, although accessing training can be challenging at 
times due to caseload demands.  

58. Successful workforce planning and staff development in Haringey have 
increased the number of frontline practitioners supporting children. This 
includes extensive and successful overseas recruitment. This has increased 
capacity to sustain a good-quality service and is a substantial improvement 
since the last inspection.  

59. Haringey’s diverse population is reflected in the workforce and senior leadership 
team. This is important to frontline staff and one of the attractions of working 
for this local authority. Staff and leaders are acutely aware of the enduring 
public perception of Haringey children’s services. At all levels, staff are proud of 
working for Haringey. A culture of appreciation, kindness and support is firmly 
embedded. Staff said their leaders care about them, listen to them and take 
action to address the things that need to change. In turn, staff are loyal and 
they care about their leaders. Staff who leave often return to Haringey. They 
talk about the feeling of ‘family’. This sense of emotional safety is vitally 
important, enabling workers to practise with the confidence and persistence 
needed to effect change for children and young people who are living in very 
challenging circumstances.  

 

Page 29



 

 

Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services 
13 to 24 February 2023 

12 

 

 

 

The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) 

regulates and inspects to achieve excellence in the care of children and young 

people, and in education and skills for learners of all ages. It regulates and 

inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the Children and Family 

Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher 

training, further education and skills, adult and community learning, and education 

and training in prisons and other secure establishments. It assesses council 

children’s services, and inspects services for children looked after, safeguarding 

and child protection. 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print 

or Braille, please telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format 

or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this 

licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to 

the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or 

email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This report is available at https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/. 

Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more 

information and updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn.  

 

Piccadilly Gate 

Store Street 

Manchester 

M1 2WD 

 

T: 0300 123 1231 

Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

W: www.gov.uk/ofsted  

© Crown copyright 2023 

 

Page 30

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


June 2023 

Haringey’s Children and Young People Service – 
POST OFSTED ACTION PLAN 

1

P
age 31



Introduction 
Haringey Children’s Social Care Service was inspected in accordance with 
legislation and the new Ofsted inspection framework that became 
operational in December 2022.  The findings from the inspection were 
published on 11 April 2023 and the inspectors judged that Haringey is 
now judge for overall effectiveness as a Good Children’s Services. The 
inspection noted significant improvement since the last full inspection 
which was published in December 2018. 

Children’s services were subject to a full Ofsted inspection called the 
Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) by a team of 
Ofsted inspectors over a three-week period. During the first week of the 
inspection, inspectors were off site and were provided with data and 
information in line with the guidance in the ILACS framework. Inspectors 
were based in Haringey for the last two weeks of the inspection from 13 
February to 24 February 2023.

The inspection framework is focused on evidence about improving 
outcomes for children and young people and evidence of the impact of 
leaders. There is a strong emphasis on examining frontline practice, talking 
directly with practitioners and taking into account the views of children, 
young people, parents and carers. 
 

2

Judgement Grade
OVERALL EFFECTIVENESS GOOD 

The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families 

Good 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and protection 

Good 

The experiences of children in care Requires improvement 
to be good

The experiences and progress of 
children care leavers 

Good 

In advance of the inspection, the service produced a self-evaluation 
that set out the strengths, areas for improvement and actions needed 
to improve services. Ofsted received a copy of the self-evaluation in 
advance of the inspection and used this alongside a set of required 
data and information to form their key lines of enquiry. As part of the 
inspection process, inspectors look for evidence of progress from 
previous inspections. The last full inspection of children’s services took 
place in 2018 and inspectors noted significant improvement since the 
last full inspection which was published in December 2018. 

The judgement from the inspection is that the overall effectiveness of 
the service is ‘Good’ . 

P
age 32

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services


Delivering further improvement 

3

The Ofsted inspectors ‘ in 2018, inspectors judged Haringey children’s services to require improvement to be good. Since then, an 
ambitious and stable leadership team has made considerable progress and much of the service is now transformed. The senior leadership 
team has achieved steady improvement in the quality and impact of social work practice for children in need of help and protection and 
sustained good support for care leavers. Services in these areas are now good, with some examples of excellent child and family-centred 
practice’ (Inspection of Haringey local authority children’s services report, April 2023, page 9).

Ofsted acknowledged that most children are now well supported and ‘that leaders know there is more to do to achieve the same level of 
progress in developing services for children in care’. Under a heading, ‘what needs to improve’, inspectors noted the following areas for 
improvement: 

• The effectiveness of permanence planning for children in care, including the challenge brought by independent reviewing officers.
• The identification of and response to children in private fostering arrangements.
• The provision and quality of life story work at key developmental stages in children’s lives.
• The quality of supervision in ensuring that plans for children make a positive impact.
• The understanding and knowledge of frontline workers about adoption.

This action plan has been sent to Ofsted in advance of their deadline of 18 July 2023. The action plan will be overseen by the X Board and 
progress will be reported to the CYPS Directorate Management Team, Corporate Leadership Team, the Corporate Parenting Advisory 
Committee, to Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel with updates to CAB/Cabinet. 

P
age 33



Strategic leadership and oversight 

4

The recent inspection of Haringey Children’s Services has recognized that services for children and their families are overall good. This is, in our view, a very significant 
achievement particularly given the long history of previously Requires Improvement and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. We are also pleased that the inspection 
acknowledged our improvement journey, and we are ambitious for our children and young people. 

The aim of this Post Ofsted Action Plan is to address the findings made by the Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) inspection conducted in 2023 clearly 
indicating how we will implement the 5 recommendations. Alongside this plan, we have a clear vision for working with children and families, which is underpinned by 
our getting to excellence initiative. The Excellence Board will be chaired by a sector-led expert with the Director of Children’s Services. 

1.Strengths based - actively exploring and acknowledging family strengths as well as their difficulties. We will use methods for building hope and motivation, reducing 
resistance or ambivalence to change. Providing families with consistent, multidisciplinary, and where appropriate ‘high challenge, high support’ to become more 
resilient.
2.Children and young people’s wishes, feelings and experiences placed at the centre; a relentless focus on the timeliness, quality and outcomes  in the help given to 
children, young people and their families.
3.The development of professional expertise to work effectively with children, young people and their families.
4.Truly valuing and acting on feedback from children, young people and families; and continuous learning and improvement, by reflecting critically on practice to 
identify problems and opportunities for a more effective and efficient system.

In our drive towards achieving consistently good services, we follow a cycle of improvement, continuously reviewing and testing our practice and oversight to ensure 
that we are making progress and creating actions to address our priority areas. In addition, a suite of key performance indicators will be used to track and monitor 
progress against each recommendation and priority area.

Governance and Accountability
As a senior leadership team, we will take responsibility for the delivery of our plan. We will monitor improvements in performance and practice, measuring impact of our 
plan quarterly through the: 
• Divisional    Management Team – Lead Officer, Director of Children’s Services 
• Achieving Excellence   Board – Lead, Independent Scrutineer 
• Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee – Lead Member for Children and Families 
• Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee – Lead Member for Children’s & Young People’s scrutiny

P
age 34



1. Improve the effectiveness of permanence planning for children in care, 
including the challenge brought by independent reviewing officers.

Leads: Heads of Services 

What Ofsted told us
 Some children have experienced repeated placement moves or have not been able to achieve permanence in a timely manner
 More progress is needed to improve the effectiveness of matching and timeliness of securing permanence for children. 
 Some children in care have experienced drift and delay. 
 For some of these children, there has been insufficient consideration of matching based on their needs, and this has made it harder for them to 

settle and make progress. 
 Some children have remained on court orders when they are no longer necessary, and others have not been formally matched with foster families 

with whom they have lived for significant periods of time. 
 Some older children with very complex needs have experienced multiple moves despite careful matching.
 Recently, systems and plans have been developed to improve matching and permanency, but these are not fully embedded to ensure that all 

children benefit. Recent permanence planning and matching for some younger children leaving care through adoption has been more effective
 Decisions for children to return home, live with family friends or to be cared for by extended family are informed well by thorough parenting and 

specialist assessments. Manager oversight and scrutiny of these arrangements is not yet regular enough to ensure that these plans remain the most 
appropriate for children.

 Children’s care plans are variable in quality. Stronger plans reflect consideration of children’s voices, views, cultural, religious and language needs 
and provide clear outcomes and timescales to achieve these. Weaker plans are not routinely updated to reflect current circumstances or situations 
and tasks are not achieved in a timely manner.

What impact this plan will have over the next two years
Our overall plan is for children in care  to benefit from certainty about their living , and care arrangements at the earliest opportunity. We want children 

and young people to know that as their Corporate Parents we will be tenacious, caring , and consistent in our planning to reduce any delays. With 
robust management oversight and consistent meaningful challenge from IRO’s we aim to reduce drift and delay for children in our ambition of 
achieving permanence, through long-term fostering or Special Guardianship Care. 

5

P
age 35



6

Suitable and timely plans for permanence are made for children if it is not suitable for them to return home 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2023 

1.1 Through our 
recruitment and 
retention approach 
we will ensure that 
children in care 
experience consistent 
and meaningful 
relationships with 
their social workers . 
We will do this by 
setting and 
maintaining a target of 
85% of the CIC 
workforce being 
permanent. 

Head of 
Service, 
Children in 
Care  

a. Recruit to the Edge of Care/VVE Service manager by 
October  2023 

b. Recruit 1  permanent  TM in the Children in Care Team 
c. Recruit 1 social worker in the Fostering and Kinship team 
d. Effectively settle and induct our two international social 

workers in the Children in Care team  by June 
e. Continue with our grow your own  pipeline approach and 

assign Step Up and ASYE’s 

85% permanent 
staff by 
December 2023 

1.2 Increase the business 
support capacity

Head of 
Service  for 
Children in 
Care 

a. Recruit BSO support in the Children in care service to 
reduce the administrative  over reliance on QSW by May  
2023 

Performance and 
administrative 
support 

1.3 Strengthen the skills 
of the social workers 
who have less court 
experience 

AD for 
Safeguarding 
through the 
HCA 

a. CPD proficiency targets met annually 
b. Workforce survey reports confident, skilled practitioners 
c. Learning cycle engagements well attended 

Positive 
Feedback from 
stakeholders  
and 90% of 
cases concluded 
on time with 
SMART and child 
centred care 
plans. 

1.4 Improve the practice 
in relation to early 
permanency 

Service 
Manager for 
Children in  
Care 

a. Deliver the SLIP programme of work from 6th March to 30th 
June  for IRO’s  

b. quality assure and audit 10% of our midway reviews and 
feed any learning to the HCA to targeted and bespoke 
learning and development  through this partners will be 

Improvement 
analysis 
evidence the 

P
age 36



7

Suitable and timely plans for permanence are made for children if it is not suitable for them to return home 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2023 

1.6 Strengthen the impact 
of the IRO service on 
early permanence 
planning 

Head of 
Service for 
Engagement, 
Safeguarding 
and Quality 
Assurance 

a. We will seek the support of those that are best in class and 
others who do this successfully, such as SLIP, to support 
IRO  practice improvement 

b. The IRO service will develop and provide monthly reports, 
including feedback from children, families, partners, setting 
out  issues relating to systems, timeliness and early 
permanency

c. Greater triangulation and scrutiny to evidence the impact of 
the IROs

Permanency plan 
identified  at 
second LAC 
review 

Quality 
assurance dip 
sampling  of IRO 
challenge 

Matching to be 
completed within 
6 months of Full 
care orders and 
3rd LAC review 

1.7 Identify a diverse 
range of carers to 
meet our children’s 
needs

Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting 

a. Continue to run successful fostering recruitment campaigns 
b. Improve matching by ensuring our placement planning 

approach is robust and placement of children in new 
placements or settings has the input of team managers, the 
virtual school lead and the linked health professional

c. Continue to explore all options for matching children to 
permanency – SGOs, Connect Carers 

d. To ensure 95% annual reviews are completed and that they 
are high quality so that foster carer information is up to date 
and that there are no delays for matching 

e. Quarterly themed audits of annual reviews reported to the 
AD for Safeguarding 

Net increase of 
20 foster 
placements in 
borough and 
representative of 
the permanency 
needs including 
language and 
cultural matches.  

1.8 Build on our 
relationships with the 
RAA Adoption to 
support effective 
family finding for 

AD for 
Safeguarding 

a. Social workers across the service are familiar with adoption 
through permanency  

b. The RAA continues to be present in all Permanency 
Planning meetings in order to support effective family 
finding 

95% of new 
born’s matched 
to prospective 
adopters through 
EP 

P
age 37



8

Suitable and timely plans for permanence are made for children if it is not suitable for them to return home 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2023 

1.10 Ensure children’s 
voices are central 
to early 
permanence work 

Principal Social 
worker and  
ASPIRE 

a. Launch the obsessions and the  focus on early permanence, 
for example through assessments, CLA reviews and through 
audits 

b. Re launch the Language that Cares and finalise the Aspire  
Voice of the Child development Plan 

All CIC views, 
experiences and 
wishes are, ( with 
consent) 
routinely shared 
and factored into 
all aspects of 
their care 
planning 

1.11 Implement our 
Children Looked 
After Sufficiency 
strategy 

Head of Service 
for Corporate 
Parenting and  
Commissioning 

a. Expand our ‘edge of care’ offer and non-residential 
placement step down options 

b. Increase the sufficiency of placement provision in borough 
c. Increase step up and step-down options for high-risk young 

people 
d. Strengthen the discharge planning and options  from Tier 4 

services 
e. Expand placement options for 16–18-year-olds 
f. Improve permanency options for children in care and care 

leavers 
g. Strengthen our approach to meeting the needs of children 

and young people with disabilities and their families 
h. Build a workforce with the skills, expertise and qualities to 

ensure children and young people report positive 
experiences of their period in care 

i. Confident workforce promote –the Haringey Way across the 
wider Haringey workforce 

Corporate 
Parenting 
Champions 
evidence the 
embedding of 
the Council 
Family adopting 
and applying the 
principles of 
corporate 
parenting. 

P
age 38



2. Improve the identification of and response to children in private fostering arrangements
Lead: Head of Service for Corporate Parenting 

What Ofsted told us
 The need to improve the identification and awareness of private fostering arrangements was noted at the last inspection. 
 This has not been addressed quickly enough and work in this area remains underdeveloped. 
 Haringey has only identified an unexpectedly small number of children in such arrangements, and practice lacks rigour and management oversight.

What impact this plan will have over the next two years
We want to be assured that there is an effective awareness raising programme and high-quality practice embedded  across the safeguarding system that identifies and 
response to the needs of children and young people who may be privately fostered. The practice system extends to other partners and as such the outcome we are trying to 
achieve is a relaunch of our awareness campaign with the net result of  increasing referrals for private fostering  from across the partnership. 
 Number of children privately fostered increases 
 Quality of the assessment enhanced and incorporate the Think Family Principles 

9

Improve identification and monitoring of children in private fostering arrangements 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

2.1 Joint operation 
between HSCP and 
CSP to develop and 
support Private 
Fostering Champions 

AD’s for 
Safeguardi
ng and 
CSP 

a. By the end of August 12 PF champions to be appointed 
across both partnerships to promote the Fostering App  
and challenge sessions within agencies including Faith 
Communities, Voluntary sector organisations and within 
communities requiring tailored outreach. 

Net increase of 
40% in referrals  
for Private 
fostering  by the 
end of March 
2024

2.2 
All frontline 
practitioners across 
Early Help and Social 
Care continue to be 
supported to apply 
the private fostering 
pathways and through 

Private 
Fostering 
SSW 

a. 100% inductions  for agency and newly appointed front 
line workers to receive the mandatory training  within first 7 
weeks of employment 

b. The delivery of annual private fostering awareness 
campaign to continue through the LADO and the KCSIE 
Officer with a sharper focus on Schools, Safer 
Neighbourhood police, Housing Concierge’s and the 

   

Widen the 
awareness  
across the 
safeguarding 
agencies  and 
make  Private 
Fostering 

 

P
age 39



3. Improve the provision and quality of life story work at key developmental 
stages in children’s lives

Lead: Head of Corporate Parenting 
What Ofsted told us
 Life story work is underdeveloped and has been absent for too many children in care. 
 Operationally, there has been limited understanding about the importance of this work to enable children to make sense of their identities, stories 

and histories at different stages of their development. 
 Leaders have appropriately recognised this gap and training is planned.
 Many do not receive individualised, sensitive life story work to help them understand their journeys.
What impact this plan will have over the next two years
We have spoken to Children and young people from Aspire and developed a collective desired outcome to reset the foundations for this work. Over 

the next 2 years Children and young people will  benefit from stable and meaningful relationships with social workers whose practice will be informed 
on the day to day understanding of their lived experience  pre and post permanency into care.   

Practice is based on understanding each child’s day-to-day lived experience and is informed by the most recent assessment.
Plans set out clearly the detail of the direct work required based on the needs of the individual child.
Children are seen regularly and seen alone by their social worker and children understand what is happening to them.
Children are safer as a result of the help they receive.
An increased number of children and young people engage in participation activity including ‘We do Care’ and routinely share their views, wishes and 

feelings. 
embedded

10

Children in care are helped to understand their life histories, experiences and identities 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact measures Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2024 

3.1 a)Ensure that every 
child and young 
person including  
UASC  have a life 
story book.  
b)And as appropriate 
all CIC with adoption 
as the permanency 
plan for adoption has 
a Later life letter 

Service 
Managers for 
CIC  and  
Young Adults 
Services 

a. Life story work is tracked through the permanency 
panel 

b. Life story work is effectively tracked via supervision 
and children looked after reviews 

95% of children with a 
life story book and  as 
appropriate 100% 
children to be adopted 
have a Later life letter 

3.2 Continuation of 
commissioned 
specialist

i i  f ll l  

Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting Practice embedded at pace and  the work of the Life Story 

Practitioner Social workers is supported to develop the 
          

Marked increase in 
high quality Life Story 
and Home Books – 

    

P
age 40



3. Improve the provision and quality of life story work at key developmental 
stages in children’s lives

Lead: Head of Corporate Parenting 
What Ofsted told us
 Life story work is underdeveloped and has been absent for too many children in care. 
 Operationally, there has been limited understanding about the importance of this work to enable children to make sense of their identities, stories 

and histories at different stages of their development. 
 Leaders have appropriately recognised this gap and training is planned.
 Many do not receive individualised, sensitive life story work to help them understand their journeys.
What impact this plan will have over the next two years
We have spoken to Children and young people from Aspire and developed a collective desired outcome to reset the foundations for this work. Over 

the next 2 years Children and young people will  benefit from stable and meaningful relationships with social workers whose practice will be informed 
on the day to day understanding of their lived experience  pre and post permanency into care.   

Practice is based on understanding each child’s day-to-day lived experience and is informed by the most recent assessment.
Plans set out clearly the detail of the direct work required based on the needs of the individual child.
Children are seen regularly and seen alone by their social worker and children understand what is happening to them.
Children are safer as a result of the help they receive.
An increased number of children and young people engage in participation activity including ‘We do Care’ and routinely share their views, wishes and 

feelings. 
embedded

11

Children in care are helped to understand their life histories, experiences and identities 
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact measures Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2024 

3.3 More frequent use 
with children and 
young people of their 
life stories by 
practitioners and 
carers, supported if 
needed by the clinical 
psychologist.   

Service 
Managers for 
CIC  and  
Young Adults 
Services 

95% of children with a 
life story book and  as 
appropriate 100% 
children to be adopted 
have a Later life letter 

3.2 Continuation of 
commissioned 
specialist
training of all relevant 
practitioners in
effective evidence-

 

Head of 
Corporate 
Parenting Practice embedded at pace and  the work of the Life Story 

Practitioner Social workers is supported to develop the 
skills needed for effective life story work through the HCA 

Audits demonstrate that social workers recognise the 
      

Marked increase in 
high quality Life Story 
and Home Books – 
95% of children in 
matched foster 
placements and SG 

P
age 41



4. Improve the quality of supervision in ensuring that plans for children make a 
positive impact

Lead: Principal Social Worker, (PSW)  and all Safeguarding Heads of Services 

What Ofsted told us: 
 Most CP conferences are timely. Multi-agency core groups and CIN meetings are held regularly, and most are used effectively to review and update 

plans. However, some plans lack clarity about risks, desired outcomes and timescales. Where this is the case, progress is not consistently 
measured against or continuously evaluated in supervision.

 Supervision across children’s services is regular, but it is not consistently strong enough to progress all children’s plans. In good supervision, social 
workers participate in reflective discussions alongside the reviewing of tasks and compliance activities.

What impact this plan will have over the next two years
Our plan aims to ensure that we  will continue to strengthen effective policy and procedures that  promote practice development in a culture of high 

support /high challenge ensuring the factors exist for practice to thrive.  We aim to promote the professional confidence of social workers to see their 
role as central to effective  safeguarding partnership and to listening to and valuing the contributions of children and young people. In the next two 
years the skills and assets of our team managers will ensure there are able to operate  with resilience to deliver and participate in the actions below: 

12

Improve the quality and impact of supervision
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2023 

4.1 Deliver the Core 
Obsessions  
Series Training for  
Team Managers

PSW Our performance data will indicate  timely and skilled 
interventions

The impact of timely decision making the eradicates  drift and 
delay and achieves the balance and need to continue building 
sustainable outcomes, reflected in the feedback from parents, 
carers, children,  young people  and professionals on 70% of 
cases

Representing the child’s story through supervision
tracking delays through SMART actions and continued use of 

Social Workers 
are clear on the 
priority actions 
for children to 
reduce drift and 
Delay

Audits identify 
Team Managers  
distinction  
between 

P
age 42



5. Improve the understanding and knowledge of frontline workers about adoption.
Lead: Head of Children in Need of Support and Protection 

What Ofsted told us: 
 Haringey has been part of the Adopt London North regional adoption agency (RAA) since October 2019. These partnership arrangements are 

serving Haringey children well.
 Recent permanence planning and matching for some younger children leaving care through adoption has been more effective.
 The RAA has a good understanding of children’s needs, and the local authority has good oversight of the RAA’s work. 
 However, leaders and managers rightly recognise that there is a lack of understanding amongst frontline teams about adoption.

What impact this plan will have over the next two years
Our aim is to continue to consistently achieve widespread higher standards of social work practice and management oversight . Although mitigated 

by effective auditing, permanency planning and adoption for frontline teams is not always effective, so the work to effect change for some children 
does not hold permanency through adoption in mind. 

13

Improve the quality and impact of supervision
Ref Action Lead Milestone Impact 

measures
Milestone completion timescales

Jun 
2023

Sept 
2023 

Dec 
2023 

Mar 
2024

June 
2023 

5.1 Review the parallel 
planning and early 
permanency process 
so that it starts from 
the assessment team 

HOS for 
Children in 
needs of 
support 
and 
protection 

a. All Team managers in, Assessment Team attend 
permanency planning meetings to discuss cases stepped 
up from Early Help and those Edging into care. 

b. Extend the permanency and parallel planning Terms of 
reference and practice guide to ensure all front-line 
practitioners ensure that children have a secure, stable and 
loving family to support them through their minority and 
early adulthood. 

Audits evidence 
that permanence 
is achieved for 
children without 
delay. 
Underpinned by 
effective 
management 
oversight and 
decision-making, 
early planning, 
and monitoring

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 45

A
genda Item

 8



Champions Model Progress
• Councillors have been identified for each Champion Priority 

role
• Care Experienced Young People have been identified for each 

Champion Priority Role alongside the subject expert advisors 

• A Care Experienced Young Person has been Employed as the 
Champion Ambassador.

• Listening Spaces have been identified as a forum to hear the 
initial views of Young People on each Priority and are being 
organised.

• Training has taken place for the Councillors and Service Leads 
for each Priority.

• Each lead representative have met and been introduced.

P
age 46



Transitional Safeguarding Progress

The Launch of the Protocol took place in July 2022

Care experienced Champion Identified to drive the concept, as well as a Service Lead in CYPS and Counsellor.

Workshops have taken place between November 2022 and March 2023 to promote the Protocol to Partners and gain 
their pledge to work inside the parameters of the protocol.

First Pilot Case success story in Nov 2022.

Further cases now being identified for further testing of the protocol.

Action Plan is now being progressed.

P
age 47



P
age 48



Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018

Legacy of 
Voice for 
Haringey 
CiCC

20182017 2019
Strengthening 
partnerships, 
developing ASPIRE 
and promoting Voice.

New DCS 
in April   

2020
March – 1st lockdown 
October - 2nd lockdown
December - London 
restrictions

Jan - 3rd national  lockdown
March – schools re-open 
July – most legal limits 
removed 

2021 2022 

• ASPIRE 
recruitment and  
development. • Recruitment of Senior 

Managers commenced.
• Consultation with 

Internal & External 
agencies e.g. Tottenham  
Hotspur Football Club 
(THfC) .

• Feb - new AD
• Strengthening partnership 

with THfC.
• Residential Planning Trips 

for CiCC and trips to Theme 
Parks for CiCC

• Mind of My Own (MOMO) 
development and 
implementation.

• Confidence building 
workshops with Actor Shop 
to promote awareness of 
CCE.

• Language that Cares 
introduced and developed 
with ASPIRE members.

• Pledge development work.

• Surveys to CICC durin 
Covid-19, including: 
emotional well being, 
physical health, laptops and 
educational matters.

• Joe Wilks daily exercise 
programme with Foster 
Carer’s and CiCC began.

• Representation at CPAC: 
Corporate Parenting 
Advisory Committee.

• Confidence building skills 
with ActorShop to wider 
audience, raised CCE 
awareness and impact of 
CCE re CLA as a result.

• CPAC adopted MOMO. IRO 
champion appointed to 
share views of care 
experienced CYP with CPAC 
and Councillors.

• Working with Foster Carers, 
what makes an excellent 
foster carer.

• Unexpectedly me session on, 
How to access housing and 
benefits, employment, 
education, training, health 
and mental wellness and 
where to get support.

• Participation and Consultation 
Officer, on the Fostering 
Panel.

• Skills for Life App introduced 
in Sept 21. App provides 
information about YAS, living 
independently, finance, health 
and wellbeing, housing, your 
rights, migrant support, 
relationships and socialising, 

    

• Language that Cares 
Development and 
Implementation.

• Links with Fostering, 
the Young People made 
a Vlog and Training with 
Carers.

• Review of Voice of the 
Child Strategy 2022 led 
to further development 
of ASPIRE being 
identified with plans 
implemented build upon 
earlier work streams.

Consolidating 
and building on 
foundations 

P
age 49



Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018

From strength 
to……..

20222022 2022
Strength
To……...

Strength 
To…..

2022
Strength
To……………

Strength 
To………………

2022 2023 

• ASPIRE expansion via 
recruitment of new 
members.

• Development and 
expansion of Young 
ASPIRE.

• CYP fed back to CPAC 
their views on Family 
Centre Appearance.

• Refurbishment project 
began.

• Several young peoples 
views consulted regarding 
murals for Maya Angelou 
Family Centre.

• Mark Riddell visit to LBoH, 
this work continues.

• Several young people consulted 
regarding proposed murals for 
Hazlemere Children’s Home and 
about Welcome Packs for the 
home.

• Regular meetings with ASPIRE 
members, NQSWw’s and QSW’s 
to provide Q&A sessions regards 
skills and experience young 
people believe QSW’s should 
have to advise and support CiCC 
and Care Leavers.

• Regular meetings with Fostering 
and Adoption Panel to discuss 
ASPIRE activates/events. 

• Monthly ASPIRE cinema Club, 
Crouch End Pic House.

• Foster Carer of some young 
people of ASPIRE and several 
young people wrote a piece of 
writing about the importance and 
value of being a foster, to be 
used as an introduction by the 
Fostering and Adoption Team.

• Draft Savings Policy 
Consultation for CiCC produced 
with foreword written by young 
CiCC.

• Half termly ASPIRE Arts 
workshop at Percy House, THfC.

• AD collaboration with THfC
regards Fostering Recruitment 
advertisement on Match Days.

• New life story project work in 
partnership with Courts including 
visits for CiCC & Care Leavers.

• ASPIRE young people contributing 
to a range of Interview panels, 
including, AD for Schools and 
Learning and Haringey’s Strategic 
Partnership Manager.

• 5 members from ASPIRE met with 
Peer Reviewers to give an 
overview of the work they 
undertake in Haringey on behalf 
of CiCC and Care Leavers. 

• Virtual School Achievement 
Awards Ceremony, November 
2022.

• Rising Green Youth Centre 
opened with range of activities 
including half term cooking skills 
& other events.

• Transitional Safeguarding 
Conference in person with 3 
Care Experienced Young 
Adults assisting Dez Holmes 
from RiP and Haringey’s AD 
to promote awareness 
regarding Transitional 
Safeguarding and gain 
commitment from an 
extensive audience of 
partners and stakeholders 
regarding this essential work 
strand.

• Consultation with Young 
People on new Stop and 
Search App.

• Currently we have 18 Young 
People who represent 
ASPIRE through several 
different avenues, aged 10-
24 years [10 males & 8 
females] & mixed ethnic 
representation.

• Expert by experience 
recruited to our Voice and 
Engagement Service.

And growing stronger 
with every 
day………….

P
age 50



Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018

From strength 
to……..

20232023 2023
And 
Growing…...

Getting 
stronger.

2023
Building 
and…………

Developing and
expanding……………

2023 2023 

• ASPIRE to updated 
Language that Cares 
policy with ASPIRE 
members and 
representatives are to 
co-facilitate this being 
promoted to all new 
staff as part of their 
Induction.

• Foster Carer’s are 
presented with artwork 
from our younger 
ASPIRE members 
following attendance at 
workshops.

• Induction and development of 
new Participation and 
Engagement (care experienced) 
worker, who’s role will be to 
expand further our capacity to 
gain view sof CYP, allowing us to 
further embed the face to face 
engagement with CYP in care 
and Care Leavers.

• Two other young people 
employed as project workers to 
further expand the family 
business.

• Care Experienced worker to co-
ordinate the Proud to be Me 
Project alongside our 
Engagement Team Manager.

• Meals out with Engagement and 
Voice service.

• Residential trip planned for 
summer 2023.

• Fun Day and celebration 
event planned for Summer 
2023.

• Day Trips planned during 
school holiday periods.

• Ticket from organizations 
such as theme parks for 
Foster Carer’s to take CiCC
for day trips.

• Local activities such as life 
skills work shops including the 
Money House and cooking 
skills.

• ASPIRE will continue to 
develop and work with 
Haringey’s Councillors and  
Heads of Service regards 
implementing the Champions 
Model.

• Continued representation at 
CPAC.

• Commitment secured for Chief 
Executive to meet ASPIRE 
members 3 times per year.

• Celebration event at 
Tottenham Hotspur Football 
Club to mark the 
achievements of our Children 
in Care and Care Leavers.

• Plans to expand recruitment 
to Care Leavers across 
Haringey Council.

• Some artwork produced by 
CYP to be transferred to 
Canvass to share with staff in 
Haringey buildings.

• Court Visits for YP to support 
Life Story Work.

• To fully represent views and aspirations of 
views and Children in Care cohort.

• Reaching out to children in children placed 
out of the local authority area, secure 
estates and prisons with our care 
experienced working supporting this piece 
of work.

• UASC currently worker with participation 
and engagement officers across Children 
services to engage our UASC offer, 
extending our Cinema club to includes 
attending film festivals and exploring 
specialist showings of films in other 
languages.

• UASC- currently worker with participation 
and engagement officers across Children 
services to engage our UASC offer, 
extending our Cinema club to includes 
attending film festivals and exploring 
specialist showings of films in other 
languages 

•  

ASIRE
with every 
day………….

P
age 51



Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018

From strength 
to……..

20232023 2023
Strength
To……...

Strength 
To…..

2023
Strength
To……………

Strength 
To………………

2023 2023 

• Invite to Aspire Arts 
Workshop

• Aspire recruitment 
invite and info

• Free swimming 
lessons for younger 
CiCC

• Care Leavers 
opportunity to train 
to become a 
lifeguard.

• Survey for Savings & 
Pocket Money 
Entitlements

• Money House workshops 
regarding budgeting.

• Emotional Wellbeing 
Survey – First Step

• Coram – Creative Writing 
Workshop

• .Independent living skills 
workshop.

• One to One support, 
homework and study skills 
and friendship group work for 
UASC care leavers.

• Collaboration work on 
improving the new office 
space reception area with care 
leavers.

• YAS and ASPIRE End of Year 
Newsletter 

• Youth Space Youth Space website page 
under development with care leavers.

• Art Therapy support offered at 2 projects 
in London from May 2023.

• Aspire and the RoundTable group 
continue to campaign for the age limit to 
be expanded to 25 for care leavers to 
access free gym pass.

• Free swimming sessions being developed 
between YAS, Haringey Leisure Services 
and Fusion Lifestyle for CiC and CL’s.

• Digital Offer newsletter produced and 
disseminated to all care leavers.

• 2 computer kiosks  being installed in the 
YAS reception area for CL’s to access.

• Laptops offered to care leavers via VS.
Accessible ASPIRE session for all YP in Care 
and care leavers.

And growing stronger 
with every 
day………….

P
age 52



9

You said We did 
You want to be involved in the recruitment of senior managers Brought in Actor Shop to train young people on how to conduct interviews and to complete the feedback forms. Young people have been involved in 

several interview panels. Some examples of the posts: AD Safeguarding and Social Care, HOS Principal Social Worker, HSCP Manager , AD for 
Schools and Learning, AD for Early Help, Prevention and SEND 

You would like to learn to swim Arranged for all children and young people in care in Haringey have been offered free swimming lessons.  
Arranged for care leavers to be offered the opportunity to train to be lifeguards 

You wanted to attend a gym Arranged for care leavers have been offered free gym membership 

You would like the Maya Angelou family centre and Haslemere Children’s Home to be 
more welcoming

Chose the design for the interior and the exterior of the building. Completed a survey to ask older children what they wanted to see in the Centre. 
Involved young people in the refurbishment of the centre and they have since had a tour to see the progress that has been made. Young people have 
said they are happy with the changes. 
Young people helped with the decorative design for Haslemere and have co-pdocued policies for the home e.g. Equalities and Inclusion policy and the 
Welcome to the Home Pack 

You would like some social activities with your peers Set up a monthly cinema club. 
Offered termly arts and crafts sessions. 

You would like to help train newly qualified social workers Designed the job description setting out what makes a good social worker. Involved young people in the induction for newly qualified social workers 
and students.

You would like to work with lead members and managers to progress priority areas for 
children in care and care leavers 

Embedding the champions model and have identified and trained young people to support the councillors and senior managers to progress priority 
areas. 

You would like to be involved in and promote the transitional safeguarding concept Involved you in the launch of the transitional safeguarding protocol and supported you to participate in several national conferences alongside Dez 
Holmes from RiP to continue to promote the concept. Young people signed off the protocol and produced an audio recording of their endorsement of 
the protocol. Young people produced a testimonial book to share their experiences and this led to the Adults and Children’s saying they would have a 
dedicated Transitional Safeguarding Post which is being recruited in May this year. 

You would like to expand the representation across the Children in Care and Care leaver 
cohort 

Worked with young people to produce surveys and recruit a care experienced participation and consultation worker who will lead on this work.  

You specifically wanted youth provision in Wood Green Co-produced and co-designed with a group of young people, collectively known as ‘Wood Green Young Voices’, the Rising Green youth space. 
Young people influenced the building designs, colours, logo and name through a series of design workshops. The name ‘Rising Green’ is inspired by 
the idea of growing up and being raised in Wood Green. Creating a Wood Green Young Voices programme is a priority in the Council’s Corporate 
Delivery Plan. 

You want to help decide on services for you Removed one provider from the SAFE Taskforce procurement process for mentoring and social skills, on the basis of a gateway question that 
providers had to answer in response to a young person’s question. 
Young people created a workshop for professionals to raise the awareness of extrafamilial harm and contextual safeguarding. Delivered at the Civic 
Centre to the Chief Executive and other senior leaders from across all services in the Council.

P
age 53

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ecUl5mQNLBo


You Said We Did
You would like different forms of therapeutic support Partnered up with First Step – Tavistock and Portman NHS Trust started to provide 

alternative forms of therapy via online and in-person platforms in May 23.
You would like to start building stability, better 
relationships etc., to make you feel good in the future

First Step will be providing sessions to  meet with care leavers to look at their stories, 
journeys etc.  This can be also be done with Workers.

You would prefer individual activities but be open to 
share experiences with other care leavers

The first phase of First Step Workshops are now on offer for care leavers to attend – These 
include First Aid for young parents with babies and children and First Aid for trauma, Vision 
Boards sessions and Personal fitness for body and mind.  Drive Forward will be introducing 
group sessions for care leavers at the Rising Green Youth Hub

You would like access to mental health services and 
not wait months for an appointment

Partnered with Open door to provide direct access to counselling services for 16 – 25 year 
old care leavers.  Drive Forward offer trauma informed and holistically focused counselling 
sessions both in-person and online. Mind in Haringey offer 1-2-1 sessions.

You said you would only share problems with people 
that listen and make you feel understood.  It is 
extremely important that your YAS Worker is relatable 
to you.

Wisdom Sharing Space has now been introduced to the service.  YAS Workers are offered 
individual online slots where they can book to discuss a young person’s emotional, health, 
learning ability, social skills etc., and understand what’s going on for them.  Care leavers 
can also book to attend if they’re feeling stuck or unable to access help.

You would like us to develop workshops dealing with 
self-esteem, confidence and anxiety

Ongoing workshops with First Step are being developed to meet the varying needs of our 
care leavers.

P
age 54



11

You said We did 
Help is not always visible.  Information displayed in reception area, Skills for Life App provides YAS and Haringey information and methods of 

contact, Information sent directly to CLs via YAS newsletter, texts and WhatApps messages

What’s the local offer? The Local Offer has been re-promoted to both CLs & staff, document was reviewed by YAS RoundTable group for 
their comments and redistributed.  Workers encouraged to highlight or hand out to CLs during visits

Council tax offer is good but it does not follow us.  Not all boroughs offer this provision and it can be difficult to instigate if a CL moves out of borough.

It depends on who your PA is with regards to what support you get offered.  First Step now offer sessions called Wisdom Sharing Space where YAS workers can meet to look at their CLs needs, 
emotional health, learning ability, social and interactive skills and understand what’s going on for the.  Care 
leavers can also attend these sessions if they’re feeling stuck.

A clear message that at 25 yrs you are done. Preparation for Case closure is discussed throughout a care leaver’s journey with YAS.  Each CL is supported 
through this on an individual basis and guidance and advice is provided around next steps etc.

Can we use council vans to move our furniture for free? YAS use two independent van removal services that cater for our care leavers with removals and support into their 
new accommodation.

Can we get repairs to our properties done sooner as a favoured approach? It just takes so long 
to get things fixed.  If we had a mum or dad they would do it a lot quicker.

A first tenancy offer of carpets and white goods would be great.  Haringey Homes now offer our care leavers carpets once they move into their permanent accommodation.

At times it just feels even harder being a care leaver which is hard enough as it is.  YAS continues to actively to listen to the needs of our care leavers via surveys and the RoundTable group.  The 
new First Step workshops will enable our CLs to express their concerns and develop personal wellbeing tools and 
thoughts to deal with this.

Yes please to driving lessons. Ongoing research and investigations continue in the area.

P
age 55



Housing Progress
• Haringey housing are ensuring that carpeting and flooring is 

in place for care leavers moving into their own properties.
• White goods are purchased using setting up home allowance 

which from 1st April 2023 has increased to £3000 per care 
leaver. 

• A resettlement officer has been recruited to support care 
leavers at risk of homelessness

• Care leavers living in Haringey are exempt from council tax 
up to the age of 25

• Haringey are working with other London Boroughs to ensure 
that this is reciprocated across all London Borough 

P
age 56



Manageable workloads
• YAS team expansion and restructure has taken place
• Developed a pod team model where the whole team work 

together to know and meet the needs of care leavers within 
the team

• Supported through group supervision, whole team office 
working weeks

• Introduction of non case holding Senior Practitioners to each 
team to support SWs and PAs to manage complexity and 
fluctuating demands

• Review and streamline of effectiveness of care leavers 
keeping in touch 

• Move from Mosaic to Liquid Logic is enabling wholescale 
review and streamlining of system forms and processes

P
age 57



Digital offer
Steps taken so far:
• Provision of laptops through virtual school for home learning

• Free wifi can be accessed in Haringey libraries
• Reviewing all semi independent provider contracts to ensure 

free wifi is provided. 
• Newsletter shared with YP about social tariffs for wifi access

Next steps:
• Developing the care leaver app to be able to use as a way of 

sharing information and promoting events directly to young 
people

P
age 58



Questions 
P

age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding 
children with 
disabilities 
and complex 
health needs 
in residential 
settings

Phase 1 report
October 2022

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



Page 62



Safeguarding 
children with 
disabilities 
and complex 
health needs 
in residential 
settings

Phase 1 report
October 2022

Page 63



Page 64



THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Contents

Foreword 4

Introduction 6

1. Executive summary 8

2. Review methodology 22

3. Contextual information 24

The findings 33

4.  What happened to the children and young adults placed 
in these settings? 34

5. Impact of leadership, management and culture 41

6. Impact of systems of quality assurance and national regulation 47

7. The children’s journey into placement at the settings 63

8. Implications for the wider system: review phase 2 70

9. Urgent action for assurance  71

10. Conclusion 73

Appendices 75

Appendix 1. Terms of reference: review phase 1 76

Appendix 2. Questionnaire sent to home local authorities 
of children placed at the three settings 77

Appendix 3. List of professionals involved in group interviews 81

Appendix 4. The legal framework 83

Page 65



4 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Foreword

1 IICSA ‘ The Residential Schools Investigation’, March 2022; IICSA final report https://www.
iicsa.org.uk/

Our report from phase one of this national review seeks to make sense of how 
and why a significant number of children with disabilities and complex needs 
came to suffer very serious abuse and neglect whilst living in three privately 
provided residential settings in the Doncaster area. It brings into sharp relief how 
the voices and experiences of this group of children are too often marginalised, 
misrecognised, and hidden from public sight.

It is profoundly shocking that, in the twenty first century, so many children who 
were in ‘plain sight’ of many public agencies could be so systematically harmed 
by their care givers. The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA)1 has 
highlighted profound historical deficiencies in the safety and quality of residential 
care for children. This review evidences how some children continue to be failed 
by a system that should be caring for and protecting them. 

The way in which residential care provision for children with disabilities and 
complex needs is commissioned, delivered and its quality overseen is extremely 
complicated. Indeed, it might be described as a confusing maze of expectations, 
roles, and responsibilities. The system of checks and balances which should have 
detected that things were going wrong simply did not work for these children. No 
one body or agency had an accurate picture of what was happening and there 
were unacceptable delays in the robust decision making that was required.

There are undoubtedly many committed and very skilled professionals working 
with this group of children and their families. However, practitioners, particularly 
those working in residential settings, do not have access consistently to the support 
and quality of leadership they need. 

We have a responsibility to transform how we view and work with this group of 
children, strengthening their voices and ensuring they are well cared for and 
protected so that they can enjoy the inalienable right of every child to live in a 
safe environment where they can thrive and flourish.

Page 66

https://www.iicsa.org.uk/reports-recommendations/publications/investigation/residential-schools


5SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Many individuals and organisations have contributed to this review. It has 
benefitted greatly from the work of the police officers, social workers and health 
professionals in Doncaster as part of Operation Lemur Alpha. Professionals from 
across the country have offered valuable insights about what happened. Dame 
Christine Lenehan, Strategic Director of the National Children’s Bureau and 
Council for Disabled Children, has been a wise and passionate lead reviewer. 
Dr Susan Tranter has provided excellent and strong Panel leadership, working 
closely with Panel members Simon Bailey, Jenny Coles, Sally Shearer and Sarah 
Elliott. Michelle Sharma and Claire Watkin from the Panel Secretariat have ably 
supported the review. John Harris has skilfully led the production of the text 
of the report. 

Learning from what happened to these children, phase two of our review offers 
the opportunity for open and robust challenge about the way we support, 
care for and protect children with disabilities and complex needs. We look 
forward in 2023 to making ambitious and bold recommendations for change 
and improvement.

Annie Hudson  
Chair – Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel

Page 67



6 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Introduction
This review is about the experiences of 108 children placed at the three 
independent residential settings operated by the Hesley Group in Doncaster. 
Doncaster Council initiated a complex abuse investigation in response to twelve 
‘whistleblowing’ allegations. They referred these allegations to the Panel and 
we agreed that a national review was needed. The first phase of our review is an 
examination of what went wrong and why.

What has been uncovered is a catalogue of abuse and serious harm of some of 
the most vulnerable children in our society. A complex criminal investigation into 
what happened to these children is being progressed by South Yorkshire Police. 
Our view, as a Panel, is that we do not and should not wait for the outcomes of 
criminal investigations before we seek to learn what changes to safeguarding 
practice are needed. In light of the seriousness of the review’s findings, and in 
advance of this report’s publication, the Panel asked Directors of Children’s 
Services (DCSs) and OFSTED to initiate urgent assurance action about all children 
placed in similar types of provision. 

DCSs in every English local authority are overseeing quality and safety reviews of 
every child placed in similar types of provision for whom they are responsible. This 
is intended to provide reassurance that the setting meets the child’s needs and 
to address any concerns that arise. These actions will enable local authorities, the 
Department for Education and the Panel to assess the extent to which provision is 
meeting the needs of these vulnerable children.

All of these children had disabilities and complex health needs; many of those 
placed with one of these residential settings were living far from home. All had 
an EHCP (Education and Health Care Plan). The children’s stories exemplify how 
children with complex needs and disabilities too often have no power and voice 
in what happens to them. They (and their families) are frequently ‘forgotten’ and 
side‑lined in public and professional discourse. The fact that these children lived 
far from their homes intensified this ‘forgotten’ status.

Page 68



7SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

In this review we have spoken to those responsible for placing the children in 
residential care. It is clear that the process for commissioning a place is incredibly 
difficult and involves invidious choices; and once a child has a place, they rarely 
leave. If it is the right setting for the child then all is well but as in these cases 
enormous amounts of public money were being spent on care that failed to meet 
the child’s needs and did not enable the child to thrive. 

The second phase of this national review will explore the changes needed to the 
wider ‘system’ so that these most vulnerable children are helped to live better lives 
in a safe, loving and positive environment.

Our phase two report will be published in late spring 2023.

Dr Susan Tranter 
Lead Panel Member for the Review

Page 69



8 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

1. Executive summary

2 The Hesley Group provides specialist residential services for schools and further education. 
The children’s homes and two residential schools were part of the Hesley Group provision.

1.1 This report sets out the findings from phase 1 of the Child Safeguarding 
Practice Review Panel’s review into the safeguarding of children with 
disabilities and complex health needs in residential settings. The phase 1 
report looks in particular at the experiences of 108 children and young 
adults placed from 55 local authorities at Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and 
Wheatley House specialist, independent, residential settings between 1 
January 2018 and 21 March 2021. These settings were located in the villages 
of Denaby Main and Wilsic, Doncaster, and run by the Hesley Group2. 

1.2 The children placed at Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster 
functioned significantly below their chronological age and exhibited 
behaviour that challenges. They had been diagnosed with complex needs 
including: autism (82%), learning disabilities (76%), mental health difficulties 
such as anxiety, obsessive‑compulsive disorder and bipolar disorder, and 
attention deficit hyperactive disorder (25%). Many of the children had 
profound difficulties with receptive and expressive communication, but 
were not supported when they displayed behaviours, signs and symptoms 
that were indicative of child abuse. They were among the most vulnerable 
children in society, yet they experienced systematic and sustained physical 
abuse, emotional abuse and neglect.

1.3 Our report sets out:

• what happened to the children and young adults placed in 
these settings

• why it happened

• urgent action to be taken by local authorities by November 2022, to 
provide assurance about the safety and care of children who may be 
residing in similar specialist settings

• wider systemic issues raised by the findings from phase 1, to be explored 
in depth in phase 2 and completed by spring 2023.

Page 70



9SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Background
1.4 On 5 March 2021, the Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership agreed 

to initiate a complex abuse investigation (Operation Lemur Alpha) into 
the three specialist residential settings run by the Hesley Group. This was 
in response to information gathered following a whistleblowing referral 
reporting 12 allegations of abuse and concerns for children in Fullerton 
House, which was received by the Doncaster Children Services Trust on 26 
February 2021. The alleged abuse included physical and emotional harm, 
cruelty towards children, significant levels of neglect and poor quality 
of care. OFSTED had received a number of complaints dating back to 
at least 2015, expressing concerns over staffing levels, staff conduct and 
possible abuse of the children. These complaints had prompted additional 
monitoring visits and an emergency inspection. Nonetheless, at the 
time the whistleblowing concerns were raised, both settings had been 
judged ‘good’ by OFSTED at the most recent inspection visit. In light of the 
concerns, OFSTED conducted emergency inspections of both settings in 
March 2021 and found serious and widespread shortfalls in leadership 
and management. Insufficient safeguarding measures were in place to 
ensure the safety and wellbeing of the children. As a result, the children had 
been exposed to serious harm and ongoing risk. Notices of suspension of 
the service were served for both settings. Between March and May 2021, 
Doncaster Children’s Services focused on immediately safeguarding the 
60 children and young adults who resided in the settings at the time of 
the whistleblowing allegations, liaising with the home local authorities of 
the children concerned to find suitable onward placements and ensure 
their safety. For some of the children and families, the transition to new 
placements has proved to be challenging. Doncaster Council and the 55 
placing local authorities have continued to provide on‑going support to the 
children and their families.

1.5 These matters were formally reported to the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel in September 2021. The Doncaster Safeguarding Children 
Partnership recommended that the Panel should initiate a national review 
given the seriousness of the issues and the number of local authority areas 
and agencies involved. The Panel convened a series of meetings with 
colleagues in Doncaster Council and other agencies to determine the 
scope of the national review. The Panel wrote to Nadhim Zahawi, then 
Secretary of State for Education, informing him of the national review in 
November 2021. The review was formally launched in January 2022. The 
terms of reference are provided in Appendix 1.

Page 71



10 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

National review approach
1.6 The Panel commissioned Dame Christine Lenehan, Strategic Director at the 

National Children’s Bureau and Director of the Council for Disabled Children, 
as the lead reviewer for this work. Christine brings a wealth of experience 
and expertise in this area and has an excellent track record in undertaking 
reviews about children with disabilities. The underpinning values for our 
review are informed by the principles of the United Nations Convention on 
the Rights of the Child.

1.7 Our review is being carried out in two phases and during a live criminal 
investigation. The ongoing criminal investigation means that the review 
team has not been able to meet with any of the 108 individual children or 
their parents. Members of the review team met some staff on a site visit but 
there has been no formal meeting with the Hesley Group. Nevertheless, 
within these constraints, we have employed a robust methodology that has 
enabled us to identify urgent assurance action and disseminate important 
national learning, without delay, while the criminal investigation concludes.

Phase 1 – The children’s stories
1.8 In this phase, we consider and describe the experiences of children 

placed at Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster. This includes 
understanding how the children came to be placed in these settings, what 
happened to them, and what factors and issues may have contributed to 
their abuse and neglect. We identify the urgent action required across all 
local authorities in England to provide assurance about the safety and care 
of children who are placed currently in similar specialist settings.

Page 72



11SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Phase 1: key lines of enquiry

• How were children placed at Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and Wheatley 
House, and what procedures and practices were in place to ensure that 
they were safe and well?

• How was the quality of care for each child kept under review?

• How did concerns arise and what was the quality of the response?

• Is what happened to these children reflective of practice more generally 
and how could the safeguarding system be improved?

• In the light of the findings, identify any urgent action required to assure the 
safety and care of children placed in similar specialist settings.

• Identify key issues for further exploration and the development of national 
recommendations in Phase 2 of the review.

1.9 The children resident in the settings were on the school roll at either Fullerton 
House School or Wilsic Hall School. Both schools had been assessed as 
‘good’ by OFSTED at their most recent inspections in autumn 2018. In 
November 2021, the Hesley Group informed OFSTED of its decision to close 
the two schools. The schools were not in the scope of Operation Lemur 
Alpha as the whistleblowing allegations related specifically to the residential 
care settings rather than the schools. Therefore, the schools were not in 
scope in phase 1 of our review.

Operation Lemur Alpha
1.10 Operation Lemur Alpha has identified a very substantial number of incidents 

of abuse and neglect which are the subject of formal criminal investigation 
currently. The joint police and local authority investigation is ongoing and 
continues to identify further cases of potential abuse. It has highlighted 
several issues affecting the experiences of children placed at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings in Doncaster. These include: the organisational 
culture and leadership, weaknesses in the supervision of children and 
young adults, concerns about the adequacy of staffing ratios, not hearing 
the voices of children, and extensive incidents of abuse and harm. Other 
themes relate to the effectiveness of the local authority designated officer 
(LADO) function and the impact of independent reviewing officers (IRO) 
from the placing local authorities. The findings from year 1 have been 
brought together in an interim investigation report, which is not in the public 
domain, so that the criminal investigation is not compromised.

Page 73



12 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

1.11 A protocol agreed with Doncaster Council and South Yorkshire Police has 
enabled us to gather the necessary information and analyse the complaints 
recorded by OFSTED over the period of time in scope.

Impact of COVID‑19
1.12 The impact of COVID‑19 was an exacerbating factor but not fundamental in 

affecting the quality of care and support that the children and young adults 
experienced at Hesley’s children’s residential settings. It significantly affected 
the way that the children had contact with their families, and the visits and 
reviews by their social workers in the last 12 months of the review period 
(from March 2020 onwards), when visits took place in ‘virtual’ formats.

Key findings from phase 1

Finding 1

There is evidence that children placed in Hesley’s children’s residential settings in 
Doncaster experienced sustained, significant abuse and harm over an extended 
period of time. The voices of the children and young adults were not heard.

1.13 Evidence of the abuse and harm experienced by the children included: 
physical abuse and violence, neglect, emotional abuse, sexual harm, and 
medical needs not being met. There was also evidence that medication 
was misused and maladministered. Staff did not respond effectively to 
allegations or disclosures made by children against staff members. Incidents 
that indicated safeguarding risks were too often not recognised as such. 
There was an over‑use of restraints and disproportionate use of temporary 
confinement. Children who had profound difficulties with receptive and 
expressive communication received little support to participate in review 
meetings or report the abuse they had experienced.

1.14 Given the scale of abuse and harm uncovered at Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings in Doncaster, we have initiated urgent action, through 
all Directors of Children’s Services, to ensure that all local authorities have 
an up to date view about the progress, care and safety of children with 
disabilities and complex health needs from their area who are currently 
placed in residential special schools registered as children’s homes (see 
urgent action 1 below).

Page 74



13SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

1.15 Respect for children’s views is a key principle of the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child3, giving every child the right to express 
their views on matters that affect them, and for those views to be taken into 
consideration. In phase 2 we will look at what needs to happen to ensure the 
voices of children with complex needs and disabilities are listened to and 
heard. Areas of focus will include: developing the skills of the workforce to 
enable children’s communication, empowering parents to ‘speak on behalf 
of the child’ when they have concerns about their safety and developing a 
framework for advocacy services for children with complex needs.

Finding 2

Placement far from home increased the children’s vulnerability.

1.16 Professionals contributing to the review reported major difficulties in securing 
long‑term placements for children with complex needs and behaviour 
that challenges. The limited range of options available for families and 
professionals meant that in practice, a placement some considerable way 
from a child’s home local authority was seen as the only viable option. 
The average distance from home for the 108 children placed at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings in Doncaster was 95 miles. In phase 2 of the 
review we will examine ways to improve the operation of the placements 
market to ensure that children can access provision that meets their 
needs locally.

Finding 3

Some children were placed at the settings inappropriately.

1.17 Effective decision making processes by the local authority and other 
partner agencies are vital for children when the suitability of a residential 
setting to meet a child’s needs is being considered. Our analysis found that 
inadequate and insufficient consideration was given to the education, 
health and care needs of the child and the impact that their placement 
would have on the other children. This led to a significant increase in 
anxiety, traumatic episodes and behaviour that challenges. Best practice in 
decision making requires further consideration and this will be addressed in 
phase 2 of the review.

3 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 11.

Page 75



14 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 4

Leadership and management in the three settings were inadequate and failed 
to meet statutory requirements, resulting in a culture of poor practice and 
misconduct by care staff.

1.18 Documented policies to promote a safeguarding culture and ethos in 
the three settings were not implemented in practice. In reality, a culture 
of abuse and harm prevailed, with ineffective management action to 
challenge it. As the settings offered all‑encompassing packages of support 
for the children, there was little input from external agencies to challenge 
ways of working. Where staff within the settings did raise concerns, they 
were either not considered or were minimised by senior managers.

1.19 The impact of ineffective leadership and management was reflected in the 
poor practice experienced by the children in the settings. Practitioners often 
diverged from support plans that had been agreed by the local authorities 
placing the children at Hesley’s children’s residential settings. A key area 
of focus for Phase 2 will be the changes required in terms of professional 
development and support to ensure that residential settings are led by 
appropriately qualified leaders with the skills and experience to promote 
and maintain the quality of safety and care.

Finding 5

High rates of staff turnover and vacancies, as well as poor‑quality training, support 
and supervision, were significant factors affecting the children’s quality of care.

1.20 Over the three‑year period in scope, the staff turnover at Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings in Doncaster was 38.6%. Children and young adults in 
the settings were not provided with the appropriate ratios of staff and the 
level of supervision to meet their needs. Staff received limited induction, and 
some did not have sufficient knowledge or training to recognise the signs 
that children were at risk and how to respond. In phase 2 we will draw on the 
learning from OFSTED’s urgent review of workforce sufficiency and quality 
(urgent action 3 below) to inform our recommendations for what needs to 
be done to build a committed workforce with the skills and knowledge to 
understand and respond to children with complex needs and disabilities in 
residential settings.

Page 76



15SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 6

The settings demonstrated significant weaknesses in their compliance with 
statutory reporting requirements under the Children’s Homes (England) 
Regulations 2015. Inaccurate and inconsistent record keeping and statutory 
reporting by the settings meant that OFSTED and the placing local authorities 
often had a false picture of the care, safety and progress of the children.

1.21 Absent or incomplete reporting by the settings obscured serious incidents 
and concerns, meaning that OFSTED and the local authorities did not have 
an up to date and accurate view about what life was like for the children.

Finding 7

Quality assurance processes in the local authorities placing children at the settings 
were inconsistent and did not enable them to have a full picture of the children’s 
progress, welfare and safety.

1.22 Local authorities and partner agencies placing children at the settings 
put great reliance on the reports provided by the settings, and did not 
sufficiently challenge them. There was a lack of triangulation with other 
independent sources of information about the children.

1.23 The degree of proactivity from local authorities in undertaking statutory visits 
to the children had a significant impact on their safeguarding. There were 
some good examples of local authorities increasing the frequency of visits 
in response to observed concerns, but overall the practice was variable. 
COVID‑19 significantly disrupted the capacity and formats for visits.

1.24 In response to findings 6 and 7, in phase 2 we will examine the changes 
required in the monitoring and oversight arrangements for providers and 
placing local authorities to ensure that children are safe and not at risk.

Page 77



16 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 8

There were major failings in operation of the LADO function, resulting in allegations 
about the conduct of staff in the residential settings not being investigated to a 
satisfactory standard.

1.25 The LADO function in Doncaster was not effective in bringing together 
information from a range of sources to analyse the pattern of safeguarding 
concerns about staff at Hesley’s children’s residential settings. As a result, 
children were not adequately safeguarded. Before our national review had 
been commissioned and as soon as these failings came to light through 
the investigation,  Doncaster Council commissioned an independent 
investigation of the LADO function hosted by DCST.  The investigation 
provided assurance in relation to the current effectiveness of the LADO 
function and clearly set out a number of improvements. These included 
multi agency training to raise the profile and understanding about the 
LADO role, consistent application of thresholds for referral to the LADO by 
relevant organisations, and robust governance, accountability and scrutiny 
of the LADO function by senior leaders and the Doncaster Safeguarding 
Children Partnership. The local authority reports that all actions have 
been completed.  

1.26 Our review has found that there was a lack of formal liaison arrangements 
between the LADO function in local authorities where residential settings 
are located and their counterparts in placing local authorities to alert them 
about enquiries into staff conduct. The Panel has therefore initiated urgent 
local assurance action, led by DCSs, to directly address this concern (see 
urgent action 2 below).

Page 78



17SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 9

National regulatory arrangements had a limited impact on identifying and 
responding to the many concerns and complaints about children’s safety and 
wellbeing. Children were left at continuing risk of harm.

1.27 Intelligence available to OFSTED from complaints, allegations and 
inspection evidence was not brought together with sufficient rigour to 
identify risk at the three settings and escalate earlier intervention. OFSTED 
has reviewed its response to parental complaints and the inspection of the 
children’s homes over the period 2015 to 2021. It has initiated key changes 
in scheduling and co‑ordinating inspections of residential special schools 
and care homes, and in training those conducting inspections to develop 
the professional curiosity required for placements such as those at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings that exhibit a ‘closed culture’. In phase 2 we will 
consider what changes may be required to the framework for inspection 
of residential settings, including the scope for a multi‑agency inspection 
process with a focus broader than regulatory compliance.

1.28 Overall, it is clear that professionals in different roles across the system 
had separate information indicating degrees of concern about what 
was happening to the children at these settings. None of this was brought 
together into a considered view that would have triggered escalation 
and intervention. In phase 2, we will explore further the respective roles 
of different professionals in keeping children with complex health needs 
and disabilities safe. We will consider the extent to which the various sets 
of reporting requirements, quality standards, regulations and inspections 
provide a coherent and effective assurance framework and make 
recommendations for improvement and change.

Page 79



18 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 10

Our in‑depth analysis of the journeys into residential care of 12 children placed at 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings highlights key challenges in current provision 
for children with disabilities and complex health needs that limit their access to the 
right support at the right time.

1.29 A focus on the child’s disability meant the greater complexity of need was 
often not recognised, particularly regarding the impact of adversity in early 
childhood. Early diagnosis concerns did not lead to effective, multi‑agency 
follow‑up and engagement. Offers of short breaks and family support were 
inadequate and insufficient. Many of the children experienced multiple 
education placements before residing at Hesley’s children’s residential 
settings in Doncaster. Often those placements ended outside formal 
processes, with no opportunity to plan for the child and review their needs.

1.30 In phase 2 we will examine the commissioning requirements for children 
with the most complex needs to ensure that they have access to the best 
provision to meet their needs in a timely way. We will look at best practice 
in commissioning and the potential for commissioning through statutory 
arrangements including new Integrated Care Boards. We will consider 
research evidence about alternatives to residential placements through 
such provision as specialist support services, family help, early diagnosis and 
preventative services and coordinated wraparound care.

Integrated education, health and care
1.31 The children were living together, educated together and had some of the 

same adults with them at school and in their home, but we found a lack of 
coherence and co‑ordination between the safeguarding arrangements 
operated by staff in the schools and the care staff in the three residential 
settings. In phase 2 we will look at how leadership and management can be 
supported to promote an organisational culture which integrates education, 
health and care in a holistic, child‑centred environment.

Page 80



19SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Urgent assurance action
1.32 The level and seriousness of the concerns raised by this review meant that 

the Panel needed to initiate action to provide assurance about the care 
and safety of children placed in similar specialist settings. Accordingly, 
the Panel has initiated urgent assurance action by Directors of Children’s 
Services in all English local authorities, and by OFSTED ahead of the 
publication of this report to:

• ensure that placing local authorities have an up‑to‑date view about the 
progress, care and safety of children with disabilities and complex health 
needs from their area who are placed in residential special schools 
registered as children’s homes;

• ensure that, for all residential special schools registered as children’s 
homes, any LADO referrals, complaints and concerns over the last three 
years relating to the workforce have been appropriately actioned;

• ensure effective liaison between LADOs in ‘host’ local authorities with 
residential special schools registered as children’s homes and the LADOs 
in placing local authorities in circumstances where there are enquiries 
not completed following allegations that a child has been harmed by a 
member of staff;

• understand current workforce challenges in these settings.

Our expectation is that these actions will be completed by the end of 
November 2022. Action to follow up concerns about the safety and care 
of individual children are the responsibility of the placing local authority. 
Concerns about individual settings will be reported to OFSTED for further 
investigation. Wider learning will be incorporated into phase 2 of the review. 

Page 81



20 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Urgent Action 1
• Directors of Children’s Services are to ensure that Quality and Safety 

Reviews are completed for all children with complex needs and disabilities 
currently living within placements with the same registrations (i.e., residential 
specialist schools registered as children’s homes) to ensure they are in safe, 
quality placements.

• This action should be led and overseen by the placing (i.e., home) local 
authority DCS. If a review identifies concerns about the conduct of a member 
of the workforce, the placing local authority may need to share the concerns 
with the host Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) if the threshold 
has been met.

• DCSs have been asked to provide an overview report on key findings and 
issues to both their local corporate parenting board and to local safeguarding 
partners, together with assurance that the Quality and Safety Reviews have 
been completed.

• DCSs have also been asked to send a copy of their overview report on the 
Quality and Safety Reviews to the relevant Department for Education regional 
improvement support lead (RISL). The Phase 1 review has highlighted how 
information may be held locally but that it is also important to develop a fuller 
and more comprehensive picture of quality in these type of placements. This 
will also allow for regional and national assurance that these actions have 
been undertaken.

Urgent Action 2
In relation to children with disabilities and complex health needs who are looked 
after children and who are currently placed in residential specialist schools 
which are registered as children’s homes, all Directors of Children’s Services 
should ensure:

• That the host authority LADO for each individual establishment reviews all 
information on any LADO referrals, complaints and concerns over the last 3 
years relating to the workforce in such establishments to ensure these have 
been appropriately actioned.

• The host authority LADO should then contact any local authorities who currently 
have children placed in the establishments in their area if there are any 
outstanding enquiries being carried out regarding staff employed in the home.

DCSs have been asked to confirm that urgent action two has been taken within 
the overview report that will be provided to the Department for Education RISL on 
action one above.

Page 82



21SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Urgent Action 3
OFSTED to conduct an immediate analysis of their evidence around workforce 
sufficiency focusing on its suitability, training and support.

Phase 2: the residential special school 
and care system
1.33 In this phase, we will explore the wider issues raised by our findings in phase 

1, including national recommendations for changes to policy and practice 
needed to keep children safe and well in residential placements. Phase 2 is 
due to be completed by spring 2023.

Phase 2: key lines of enquiry 

• What needs to happen to ensure the voices of children with complex 
health needs and disabilities are listened to and heard, and their rights are 
respected and upheld?

• What are the respective roles of different professionals in keeping children 
with the most complex needs safe? What changes, if any, are required to 
improve their effectiveness?

• What are the conditions for efficient and effective commissioning so that 
children with complex health can access the very best support to meet 
their needs in a timely way?

Page 83



22 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

2. Review methodology
2.1 Phase 1 of our review has been undertaken in the context of an ongoing 

criminal investigation. The methodology for the review was designed to 
ensure that evidence for the criminal investigation was not compromised 
and that individual children were not identifiable from the findings 
in our report. We have therefore been unable to engage with the 
families involved.

2.2 The review period in scope is January 2018 to March 2021. The rationale 
was defined by Operation Lemur Alpha and based on a number of key 
factors, including:

• an increase in the number of incidents involving physical interventions 
and restraints from 2019

• an increase in misadministration of medicines over the same period

• several whistleblowing reports to OFSTED, including Regulation 40 
notifications

• an increase in allegations against staff and further whistleblowing 
concerns between 2018 and 2020 reported to the LADO in Doncaster

• complaints about children’s care and safety by families or local 
authorities raised with OFSTED and/or their placing local authority

2.3 The first stage of our analysis was to collate data on the 108 children 
identified as in scope under Operation Lemur Alpha, drawing on an initial 
dataset provided by Doncaster Council. A second and larger set of data 
on each of the children was retrieved via a questionnaire completed by 
the home local authority of each child. The questionnaire was designed 
to gather further detail about their journey into placement at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings. A copy of the questionnaire is provided 
at Appendix 2. 

Page 84



23SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

2.4 Once all of the data had been analysed, we used the information to 
determine a sample of 12 children who together represented, as far as 
possible, the trends and averages identified within the whole population 
of 108 children. We reviewed the relevant information held about them as 
part of Operation Lemur Alpha, including the pen portraits, life story packs 
and specialist observations. Group interviews were set up with the placing 
authorities. These included a range of professionals such as allocated social 
workers, heads of service, independent reviewing officers, multi‑agency 
safeguarding partners, designated nurses, commissioners and special 
educational needs teams. In all we interviewed 51 professionals, the 
majority of whom were local authority staff. Their respective roles are listed 
in Appendix 3. These interviews were designed to help us understand the 
children’s lives and key practice episodes before their placement at the 
settings, and to ascertain how the quality of care for each child was kept 
under review. Professionals were also asked to reflect on whether or not they 
felt things could or should have been done differently.

Triangulation with learning from 
Operation Lemur Alpha
2.5 As part of the protocol agreed with Doncaster Council and South Yorkshire 

Police, we have had sight of the interim investigation report from year 1 
of Operation Lemur Alpha. It provides some of the evidential basis for our 
findings, particularly concerning the incidence of harm and abuse of the 
children in the three settings.

Law, policy and research literature on placement 
and safeguarding of disabled children in 
residential settings
2.6 In addition to our data analysis, we also commissioned work from the 

National Children’s Bureau research team to understand the broader 
context for children with autism and learning disabilities, and the 
international research evidence about how they are best supported and 
safeguarded. The learning from their work has been incorporated into 
our wider analysis in this report and has informed the focus for phase 2 
of the review.

Page 85



24 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

3. Contextual information

The settings
3.1 Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and Wheatley House are residential settings 

located within the Doncaster local authority area, forming part of a national 
provision run by the Hesley Group. The Hesley Group offers education and 
care up to 52 weeks per year for children and young people aged 8 to 19 
with profound and multiple disabilities, complex needs including behaviour 
that may challenge, and learning disabilities often in association with 
autism. Fullerton House, registered by OFSTED to offer up to 44 placements, 
is set within a small former mining village from where it has recruited the 
majority of its staff. The residential school is housed in an old miners’ hospital 
with the residential units housed in the adjacent streets on a relatively new 
social housing estate. Wheatley House is a newly built children’s home 
comprising three adjoining and inter‑linked two‑bedroomed terraced 
houses within the village, with accommodation for up to four children 
aged 10 to 17 who require intensive care and support. Wilsic Hall, registered 
with OFSTED to offer up to 32 placements, is an old, grand house, set 
within large grounds in a rural setting. The accommodation is in blocks 
within the grounds.

3.2 Information for parents and professionals from the Hesley Group emphasised 
a holistic package of care and education, based on a model of positive 
behaviour support and including access to a range of therapeutic services 
including speech and language therapy, occupational therapy and 
specialist clinical psychology. Staff were trained in the Hesley Enhancing 
Lives Programme which promoted an approach based on therapeutic 
crisis intervention and included accredited training on safe, proportionate, 
physical intervention. 

3.3 The settings are subject to the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 
2015, which set out the quality standards and reporting requirements 
expected of each provider. OFSTED is responsible for inspecting residential 
children’s homes against the quality standards, including a full inspection 
at least once a year. The residential care settings at Fullerton House and 
Wilsic Hall were suspended by OFSTED following assurance visits by OFSTED 
in March 2021.

Page 86



25SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

3.4 The settings are under investigation by Doncaster Council and South 
Yorkshire Police for poor practice, poor leadership and management, and 
suspected criminality. The Hesley Group has provided a range of policy 
documents, training material and data requested by the Panel and made a 
formal written response to a series of questions. These responses have been 
taken into account in the findings in our report.

Profile of the children placed at the three settings
3.5 The children and young people in our review presented a wide range of 

vulnerabilities as a result of their disabilities and complex needs, as shown in 
the two case illustrations below. These are typical of the children’s pathways 
to placement at one of the three settings.

Case Illustration 1: Jane

Jane was an affectionate, giggly girl who liked to laugh and socialise 
when her day was going well. When it wasn’t, she could display behaviours 
which were both disturbing and challenging. Jane originally received 
support with a child‑in‑need plan and local short break services. However, 
these services became increasingly unable to support her as there was 
not an appropriate peer group for befriending and enrichment activities. 
The local authority was keen to find ways of meeting her needs locally, 
but this became more challenging for the family and she was eventually 
placed at Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster on a Section 
20 agreement, over 100 miles away from home. Jane had a strong 
relationship with her family but it became increasingly difficult to maintain 
due to both distance and the additional impact of COVID‑19.

Page 87



26 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Case Illustration 2: Noah

Noah moved to the UK from an EU state when he was three years old. 
He was described as happy and bubbly and he enjoyed playing chase. 
He had a number of diagnoses between the ages of two and six years 
old. There had also been domestic violence in his wider family. Noah was 
supported through a series of child in need plans over the course of five 
years, including a package of overnight short break support. Despite Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services involvement and a diagnosis of 
complex post‑traumatic stress disorder, gradually his aggressive outbursts 
became seen as part of his disability rather than as a consequence of the 
experiences in his family environment. Noah’s mother had moved area to 
keep him safe from wider family influences, but there was no support for 
her other than overnight short breaks, as the move left her isolated from her 
support networks. At the age of eight Noah went to live at Hesley, where he 
remained for the next three and a half years.

3.6 Doncaster Council’s internal investigation has given us an insight into the 
children’s likes and interests, the way that they were able to communicate 
their feelings (both verbally and non‑verbally), and the things that made 
them feel happy and thriving. These are shown in the following graphic, 
drawn from the pen pictures of the children included in the social work life 
story packs created for the investigation.

Page 88



27SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Page 89



28 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Key characteristics of the children placed 
at Hesley’s Children’s Residential Settings
3.7 Age, gender and ethnicity

We found that on average, the children were 13.8 years old when placed, 
and 16.8 years old when they left. Seven children were placed when they 
were under the age of 10, and 14 were placed over the age of 16. Over 
three‑quarters were boys. The most common ethnic group was white (68%).

3.8 Diagnoses of disability

The most common diagnoses of disability were:

• autism (82%)

• learning disability (76%)

• global developmental delay (14%)

• attention deficit hyperactive disorder (25%)

Other diagnoses included hyperactivity and anxiety. Most of the children 
had profound difficulties with expressive and receptive communication.

Page 90



29SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

3.9 Functional communication

Research indicates that disabled children who have difficulty in 
communicating needs and discomforts are at increased risk of abuse or 
neglect and have problems in communicating their trauma.4 The Council 
for Disabled Children assessed the children’s communication against a 
seven‑point scale.5 It found that 72% of the children had a score of:

• 5 (rarely effective verbal communication)

• 6 (non‑verbal with use of shared symbols/communication systems)

• 7 (non‑verbal without use of shared symbols/communication systems).

3.10 Adverse experiences

Half of the children were noted to have had at least one adverse 
experience. The three most common adverse experiences were neglect 
(24 cases), abuse (15 cases) and having a parent with mental ill‑health or a 
mental illness (14 cases).

3.11 Distance placed from home

The children at Hesley’s children’s residential settings were placed by local 
authorities from all nine regions of England. Many of the children were 
placed a considerable distance away from home. The mean distance 
they were placed from their home authority was 95.16 miles, with a range 
of 7.3 to 267.1 miles. 60% of the children were placed over 50 miles away 
from their home. One child under the age of ten was placed almost 180 
miles from home.

4  See Vervoort‑Schel, J., Mercera, G., Wissink, I., Mink, E., Van Der Helm, P., Lindauer, R., 
& Moonen, X. (2018). ‘Adverse childhood experiences in children with intellectual 
disabilities: An exploratory case‑file study in Dutch residential care’. International Journal 
of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(10), 2136. https://doi.org/10.3390/
ijerph15102136  
Hunt, H. (2008). ‘Disabled children living away from home in foster care and 
residential settings.’ Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 50(12), 885. 
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469‑8749.2008.03179.x

5 The Council for Disabled Children adapted a communication function classification system 
that is used to classify the everyday, functional communication performance of people 
with cerebral palsy. This system was chosen as it provides a clear and graduated scale of 
a person’s communication ability in terms of expressive and receptive communication in 
relation to familiar and unfamiliar people and how much time is needed to understand 
communication from others. 

Page 91

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoi.org%2F10.3390%2Fijerph15102136&data=05%7C01%7C%7C399578f5d9874fd6e86108da90121ed5%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C637980704742007495%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=2O%2BoGoTz77lEGRQVD8tqVbr4mC2LXecadiSB2KUPQsg%3D&reserved=0
https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdoi.org%2F10.3390%2Fijerph15102136&data=05%7C01%7C%7C399578f5d9874fd6e86108da90121ed5%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C637980704742007495%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=2O%2BoGoTz77lEGRQVD8tqVbr4mC2LXecadiSB2KUPQsg%3D&reserved=0
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.03179.x


30 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

3.12 Legal status

Most of the 108 children had been placed under Section 20 (child looked 
after with parental agreement). Some of the children had more than one 
legal status during their time at the placement. All of the children had 
Education, Care and Health plans.

Legal status Number of children

Full care order 24

Interim care order 3

Section 20 69

Care leaver 5

Aged over 18 7

TOTAL 108

3.13 Funding

80% of the children’s placements were jointly funded.6

Placement funding Number of children

Education, health, social care 55

Education, social care 26

Social care, health 5

Education 7

Social care 9

Health 4

6 The review team was not provided with the details of funding for two of the 108 children 
resident at Hesley’s children’s residential settings during the period in scope.

Page 92



31SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Legal framework and statutory guidance
3.14 A key consideration of the review has been evaluating the extent to which 

the statutory duties to the disabled children placed at Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings were executed and met. See Appendix 4 for information 
on the Children Act 1989, which is the primary piece of legislation in relation 
to looked after children, as well as other key statutory guidance.

3.15 In the Children Act 1989, there is a ‘specific’ duty on local authorities to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the children they look after. In 
addition, there are series of duties on the timelines for reviews and visits 
to individual children and young people dependent on their legal status. 
A child who is looked after must have their care plan, which includes a 
personal education plan and a health plan, reviewed according to the 
statutory schedule. This applies to children who are accommodated under 
Section 20 as well Section 31 (a full care order).

3.16 For a child whose special educational needs are met through an education, 
health and care plan, the Children and Families Act 2014 requires the home 
local authority to review the plan annually. This responsibility rests with 
the child’s home local authority, even when the child is being educated 
outside the local area (as at Hesley’s children’s residential settings). Each of 
these statutory responsibilities needs to be fulfilled by the child’s home local 
authority and one does not supersede the other. 

Oversight and accountability
3.17 The children living at Hesley’s children’s residential settings were at the 

centre of a complex system of monitoring, oversight and quality assurance 
(as shown in the following diagram). An important area of focus in our 
report is the extent to which local and national arrangements for oversight 
and accountability for the children were effective in identifying concerns 
about their safety and wellbeing. The respective roles of providers, placing 
and host local authorities, and regulators, are summarised in Chapter 6, 
where we evaluate the impact of these arrangements at Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings.

Page 93



TH
E 

C
H

IL
D

 S
A

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 P
R

A
C

TI
C

E 
R

EV
IE

W
 P

A
N

EL

32
SA

FE
G

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 C
H

IL
D

R
EN

 W
IT

H
 D

IS
A

BI
LI

TI
ES

 A
N

D
 C

O
M

PL
EX

 H
EA

LT
H

 N
EE

D
S 

IN
 R

ES
ID

EN
TI

A
L 

SE
TT

IN
G

S

The findings

M
e

c
h

a
n

ism
s 

fo
r r

e
vi

e
w

s 
a

n
d

 q
u

a
lit

y 
a

ss
u

ra
n

c
e

ChildProvider

Pa
re

nt
s

A
d

vo
c

a
c

y

Authorities

N
H

S 
(jo

in
t‑

c
o

m
m

is
sio

n
e

rs
)

Pl
a

c
in

g
 A

ut
h

o
rit

y 
“C

o
m

m
is

sio
n

e
r”

(in
c

. S
EN

, 
C

h
ild

re
n’

s 
So

c
ia

l 
C

a
re

, I
RO

)

H
o

st
A

ut
h

o
rit

y
(in

c
. L

A
D

O
)

M
u

lti
‑A

g
e

n
c

y
Sa

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
Pa

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

D
fE

Regulator

O
FS

TE
D

G
ui

d
e

 
Re

g
u

la
tio

n
 4

0 
re

p
o

rt

 
Re

g
u

la
tio

n
 4

4 
re

p
o

rt

 
Re

g
u

la
tio

n
 4

5 
re

p
o

rt

 
EH

C
P 

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
vi

e
w

 
LA

C
 R

e
vi

e
w

Re
g

is
te

re
d

Pe
rs

o
n

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

nt
Pe

rs
o

n

Th
e

 C
h

ild

Pr
o

vi
d

e
r

Page 94



33SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

The findings

Page 95



34 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

4. What happened to the 
children and young adults 
placed in these settings?
4.1 Evidence from the Operation Lemur Alpha investigation and our analysis 

indicates that children placed in Hesley’s children’s residential settings in 
Doncaster experienced experienced sustained, significant abuse and harm 
over an extended period of time.

Abuse and harm in the three settings
4.2 The nature and scale of the abuse and harm is set out in the table below, 

followed by two case illustrations. As these matters are under criminal 
investigation by South Yorkshire Police, the details are presented at summary 
level only and through case illustrations to ensure that the investigation is not 
compromised and that individual children are not identifiable.

Table 1: Summary of abuse and harm experienced by children and young adults 
at Hesley’s children’s residential settings 2018 to 2021

Type of abuse  
and harm Description

Physical abuse 
and violence

Children and young adults experienced direct physical 
abuse from both staff and other residents. There were 
occasions of physical abuse being used as a form of 
discipline and evidence of excessive force against children 
and young adults. In the majority of cases, concerns about 
physical abuse were not investigated.

Neglect Children and young adults experienced various forms 
of neglect by staff. This included physical neglect (for 
example, poor clothing) but there was also a failure to take 
account of cultural, religious and recreational needs. To 
a significant extent, the concerns around neglect were 
reflective of the wider organisational culture and poor 
practice in the settings.

Page 96



35SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Emotional abuse Children and young adults experienced significant 
and varied emotional abuse by staff. Their distress was 
exacerbated in circumstances where there were high 
levels of violence between residents, which often went 
unchecked, leading to fear and anxiety that sometimes 
manifested themselves in self‑soothing behaviours such as 
head banging or rocking.

Sexual harm There was evidence suggesting that staff in the settings 
had seriously breached sexual boundaries with each other 
and with children and young adults.

Unmet 
medical needs

There were incidents of medical advice not being followed 
by staff regarding physical injuries to children and young 
adults and concerns of mental health deterioration.

Misused and 
maladministered 
medication

There were concerns that the settings were not 
compliant with Regulation 23 of the Children’s Homes 
(England) Regulations 2015 regarding the management, 
administration and disposal of medication.

4.3 The impact on the daily lives and experiences of children and young 
adults placed at Hesley’s children’s residential settings is shown in two 
case illustrations. 

Case Illustration 3: Fred

Fred was diagnosed with autism and had behaviour that could be seen 
as challenging. Given his limited verbal communication, he used certain 
types of behaviour to get his basic needs met. Before being placed at 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings, Fred had been taught to use the 
Picture Exchange Communication Scheme, a common method which 
enables young people to show staff pictures of what they need. Fred 
could use this to ask for food and drink, to go to the toilet and to show 
when he felt anxious. The scheme was not used with Fred at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings in Doncaster, and there was limited evidence 
that staff working with him made effective use of the communication 
training from the Hesley Enhancing Lives Programme. As a result, Fred was 
deprived of his voice and choice. His behaviour escalated and became 
more challenging, leading to disproportionate and unjustifiable use of 
physical restraint.

Page 97



36 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Case Illustration 4: Jennifer

Jennifer was a sociable and engaging teenager. She liked spending time 
with people she chose to, but also valued her own private space. This had 
become more important to her as she went through puberty. Jennifer’s 
experiences were very distressing. She had been forced regularly into 
solitude and deprived of her liberty by being locked down in her own 
room, even when she clearly needed support. She was also assaulted in 
her room by staff, violating the safe space she needed in order to regulate 
her behaviour.

4.4 All of the children in the three settings attended school at either Fullerton 
House or Wilsic Hall. Although they were living together, educated together 
and had some of the same adults with them at school and in their home, we 
found a lack of coherence and co‑ordination between the safeguarding 
arrangements operated by staff in the schools and the care staff in the three 
residential settings. The learning from OFSTED inspections of settings similar 
to Hesley’s children’s residential settings emphasises the importance of an 
organisational culture which integrates education and care together in a 
holistic, child‑centred environment.

7 This is a key requirement under regulation 7 of the Children’s Homes (England) 
Regulations 2015,

Voice of the child
4.5 At Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster the wishes and feelings 

of the children were not routinely sought.7 As children living away from 
home, they should have had access to independent advocacy support. 
We found little evidence that this was actively provided, with only two of the 
children in our review sample accessing independent advocacy. 

4.6 For many of the children, effective involvement in formal meetings such 
as annual reviews or care reviews would have been challenging and 
required creative approaches, but we found few instances where this was 
attempted. Although the Hesley Enhancing Lives Programme training for 
staff included developing advanced skills in engaging with individuals 
who struggle to communicate, there was minimal evidence of these skills 
in practice to support children and young adults to participate in key 
review meetings.

Page 98



37SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

4.7 Many of the children in scope had profound difficulties with expressive 
and receptive communication. As such, they would not have had the 
ability to describe something to another person clearly and articulately, or 
with detail. This meant that they would have found it difficult to report the 
abuse they had experienced, especially given they were not familiar with 
many people beyond the staff at Hesley’s children’s residential settings. 
Children’s behaviours that challenge meant that visiting professionals 
were often unable to see them alone, which made the circumstances 
more problematic. 

4.8 The staff at Hesley’s children’s residential settings did not respond effectively 
to allegations or disclosures from the children against staff members. Of 
particular concern was the response to non‑verbal children who were 
displaying behaviours, signs and symptoms indicative of child abuse. 
There was a lack of recognition that behaviour was itself a means of 
communication, and that behaviour that challenges may signal a need 
for support. Incidents that indicated safeguarding risk were too often 
characterised as self‑injurious behaviour that was deemed to be part of the 
child’s disability. In these circumstances, there was an over‑use of restraints 
and disproportionate use of temporary confinement. In some cases, staff at 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster had not been trained in 
the restraint techniques they were using, or were using them inappropriately.

Finding 1

There is evidence that children placed in Hesley’s children’s residential settings in 
Doncaster experienced sustained, significant abuse and harm over an extended 
period of time. The voices of the children and young adults were not heard.

4.9 A priority area of focus for the review in phase 2 will be what needs to 
happen to ensure the voices of children with complex needs and disabilities 
are listened to and heard (see chapter 8).

Page 99



38 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Placement far away from home

8 Nunno (2006), Learning from tragedy: A survey of child and adolescent restraint fatalities

9 The detailed requirements for visits to children in residential settings, as per the Children Act 
1989 guidance and regulations volume 2: care planning, placement and case reviews. are 
set out in Appendix 4, pages 61 to 62. See also paragraphs 6.16 to 6.21. There are different 
requirements according to the legal status of the child. At Hesley’s children’s residential 
settings in Doncaster, almost all the children in scope had looked‑after status. In the first 
12 months of placement, visits should take place every six weeks, with visits every three 
months thereafter. 

10 Arguably, such arrangements were not compliant with Children’s Homes (England) 
regulation 22, which requires the registered provider to ensure that suitable facilities are 
available for child to meet privately with parents and carers. During the pandemic the 
regulation was modified to enable other communication methods if it was not possible to 
meet privately.

4.10 For the 108 children in scope for the review, the average distance between 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster and their home was 
95 miles. Research evidence shows a clear link between the distance from 
the setting to the child’s family home and increasing vulnerability to abuse.8 
Being placed far away from their home authority impacted on the ways in 
which different children were visited and reviewed by their social workers 
and family members.9 Some social workers only saw their children when 
they returned to their home authority during school holidays, and therefore 
went long periods without seeing them in person. Parents also faced 
financial barriers to seeing their children, particularly where local authorities 
did not provide support with travel costs.

4.11 The protective factors afforded by supportive families were significantly 
compromised during the pandemic, with many of the children having 
limited contact with their parents and other members of their family. Some 
parents were able to visit their children in‑person but were not allowed onto 
the premises – one parent saw their child from behind the fence to the 
placement building. This was a particularly significant barrier and caused 
distress for parents who lived far away from the placement.10

4.12 Professionals contributing to our review indicated that they were well aware 
of the importance of securing placements for children as close to home as 
possible. Nonetheless, they reported major difficulties in securing long‑term 
placements for children with complex needs and challenging behaviour. 
The limited range of options available meant that in practice, a placement 
considerably far away from a child or young adult’s home local authority 
was seen as the only viable course of action. This is a key challenge for the 
commissioning and development of specialist provision.

Page 100



39SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 2

Placement far from home increased the children’s vulnerability.

Appropriateness of the settings to meet 
children’s assessed needs
4.13 Effective matching processes by the local authority and other partner 

agencies are vital for children when a residential setting is being considered 
to meet their assessed needs. These processes require good dialogue to 
establish that the setting can meet the child or young adult’s care and 
support plan, and that the impact of the placement on the group of 
children and young adults at the setting had been considered.

4.14 Evidence from the Operation Lemur Alpha investigation and our 
analysis of the children’s journeys indicates that the matching processes 
were inadequate for some children, leading to placements that were 
inappropriate for their needs and, on occasion, unsafe. The specialist 
observations conducted so far have concluded that five children 
placed at Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster could have 
been considered for support through foster care or semi‑independent 
living instead. 

Finding 3

Some children were placed at the settings inappropriately.

4.15 In phase 2 of the review, we will examine the essential criteria for assessing 
the suitability of commissioned placements so that children with complex 
needs and disabilities are placed in provision that is suitable, safe and meets 
their needs (see chapter 8).

Page 101



40 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Indicators of concern (2018 to 2021)
4.16 Operation Lemur Alpha emerged as a response to 12 allegations from 

whistleblowers in February 2021. However, there had been indications of 
concerns over the previous three years:

• OFSTED had carried out monitoring visits in response to concerns about 
staff shortages (Wilsic Hall 2019) and an escalation in Regulation 40 
serious incident notifications (Fullerton House 2020)

• the LADO in Doncaster had received increasing numbers of allegations 
and concerns about the conduct of the staff at the three settings

• 43 of the local authorities completing questionnaires for our 
review reported concerns about what had happened to the 
children or the settings in general while they were staying at 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster

In spite of these known concerns, the overall system of external oversight 
did not prevent the emergence of a harmful culture to children at the 
settings, nor did it respond to concerns of alleged abuse in a focused or 
appropriate way.

Page 102



41SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

5. Impact of leadership, 
management and culture

11 Department for Education, The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015

12 Commission (2005), ‘Residential care and education: Improving practice in residential 
special schools in Scotland’; Franklin and Goff (2019), ‘Listening and facilitating all forms of 
communication: Disabled children and young people in residential care in England’; Audit 
(2010), ‘Getting it right for children in residential care’; Barron et al. (2019), ‘Exploration of 
the relationship between severe and complex disabilities and child sexual abuse: A call for 
relevant research; Archer (2002), ‘What workers in residential care: Making it work’

5.1 Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and Wheatley House were subject to the 
Children’s Homes Quality Standards set out in the Children’s Homes 
(England) Regulations 2015. The quality standards emphasise the 
importance of a safeguarding culture and ethos where children are listened 
to, responded to, and both feel safe and are safe. Regulation 34 requires the 
registered person ‘to prepare and implement policies for the safeguarding 
of children from abuse or neglect’.11 There must be clear procedures for 
referring child protection concerns and arrangements for dealing with 
allegations concerning staff. The relevant policies need to be regularly 
reviewed and revised. This chapter evaluates the extent to which these 
key expectations of leadership and management were met at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings.

A safeguarding ethos?
5.2 Research evidence highlights that the attitudes and behaviours of leaders, 

managers and staff in a residential setting are essential for creating 
an organisational culture in which good quality care and effective 
safeguarding flourish. A range of studies characterise that culture as 
reflective and progressive, with opportunities for staff to develop and learn. 
Managers lead by example and treat staff and the children with warmth, 
respect and value. Staff take opportunities to share good practice with 
colleagues. They are open in their interactions with children and young 
people and responsive to their needs.12 

Page 103



42 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

5.3 Information from the Hesley Group about the leadership structure at the 
settings described a comprehensive staff team comprising managerial, 
support staff and clinicians operating as a multi‑disciplinary team to deliver 
a common therapeutic approach to support children. The policies and 
procedures that the Hesley Group provided to this review conveyed clear 
expectations about the role that senior staff should play in facilitating a 
culture of learning and leading by example to deliver good outcomes for 
the children and young people in their care. These expectations existed 
on paper alone. In practice, the policies were not implemented effectively 
and, in some cases, were actively violated. In contrast with the safeguarding 
ethos set out in the policies and procedures, evidence from OFSTED 
inspection reports in March 2021 showed that there were serious and 
widespread concerns in relation to the leadership and management of the 
settings.13 The complex abuse investigation by Doncaster Council shows that 
a culture of abuse and harm prevailed, with limited action to challenge and 
limit it. It was a culture where children and young people’s rights were not 
respected, their views were not heard and they were not protected. 

13 OFSTED inspection of Fullerton House, 18‑19 March 2021; OFSTED inspection of Wilsic Hall, 
23‑24 March 2021.

14 OFSTED inspection of Wilsic Hall, 23‑24 March 2021.

A ‘closed shop’ mentality
5.4 The OFSTED inspections in March 2021 highlighted that leaders and 

managers did not develop learning from safeguarding incidents or take 
sufficient action to prevent further incidents of a similar nature. These 
concerns also applied to allegations of children being harmed by staff. 
Managers did not analyse patterns or trends to inform changes in approach 
to supporting the children where this was necessary. The inspection at 
Wilsic Hall also found a lack of transparency by managers in relation to the 
reporting of safeguarding incidents to the regulator.14

5.5 This pervasive, detrimental organisational culture was further embedded 
by the lack of involvement of other professionals. As Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings took on such an all‑encompassing role in providing 
packages of support for children and young people, there was little input 
from other external agencies that may have challenged the culture and 
ways of working. Instead, they remained in a ‘closed shop’ mentality. As one 
practitioner reflected in our group interviews:

Page 104



43SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “These organisations being able to, they offer us an exclusive 
package … we’ll provide residence, we’ll provide education, 
we’ll provide healthcare, we’ll provide psychological assessment but 
I think culturally it just means it’s very much a closed shop. Where do 
they then get their new, fresh ideas and new ways of looking at things? 
No one ever gets to look into and challenge the organisation.”
Interim service manager, children with disabilities team15

This is not to suggest that all employees at the settings were complicit in 
the overt abuse taking place. However, within the context of this negative 
culture, staff were less able to share concerns within and outside of the 
settings. Evidence from Operation Lemur Alpha indicates that several staff 
did attempt to report their concerns to both managers and OFSTED, but 
at times those concerns were either not considered or were minimised 
by senior staff from Hesley’s children’s residential settings. There was also 
an indication that staff were unaware of policies relating to safeguarding 
complaints and whistleblowing, or did not actively use them. As a result, the 
policies could not, and did not, provide an enabling framework for staff to 
safeguard and support children placed at the settings.

Finding 4

Leadership and management in the three settings were inadequate and failed 
to meet statutory requirements, resulting in a culture of poor practice and 
misconduct by care staff.

15 Unless otherwise stated, the professionals quoted are from local authorities.

Page 105



44 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Workforce issues and their impact on 
the quality of care
5.6 Data provided to the review team from the Hesley Group indicates that the 

organisation experienced major challenges regarding staff recruitment and 
retention, with staff turnover across the two settings averaging 38.6% during 
the period of the review in scope (2018 to 2021). Concerns relating to the 
workforce were raised in a monitoring visit to Fullerton House by OFSTED in 
June 2020. The visit identified ‘a developing culture in which a small number 
of staff are bullying each other’ and ‘a large turnover of staff’ which was 
having an impact on the overall aims and outcomes of the home. Evidence 
gathered by Operation Lemur Alpha confirmed the findings of the OFSTED 
report, highlighting concerns that children and young people in the settings 
were not provided with the appropriate ratios of staff and the level of 
supervision in accordance with their needs, risk assessment and care plan. 
In these circumstances, there were incidents of children being harmed by 
other residents. On occasion, they were able to leave their settings and 
were found in unsafe situations.

5.7 The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations specify that staff should 
complete an appropriate induction and have the experience, qualifications 
and skills to meet the needs of each child. Evidence gathered for Operation 
Lemur Alpha indicates that limited induction was given to some staff, and 
there were instances where subsequent training records for staff were out of 
date. Some staff did not have sufficient knowledge or training to recognise 
the signs that children or young adults were at risk and know how to 
respond. As a result, risks were not mitigated and robust practices to protect 
vulnerable children and young adults were not followed.

Poor residential care practice
5.8 The impact of ineffective leadership and limited workforce capacity was 

reflected in the poor practice experienced by the children and young 
people in the settings. Stated practices to respond to the complex needs 
and vulnerabilities of the children placed at Hesley’s children’s residential 
settings in Doncaster were not applied by practitioners in their day‑to‑day 
work with the children, as illustrated through the following examples.

Page 106



45SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Practice example 1: positive behaviour support16

The restrictive interventions reduction policy for the settings stated that 
positive behaviour support ‘will be an integral part of people’s individual 
plans, underpinning all aspects of the person’s daily experience … The 
staff implementing this plan will be trained for this role and their immediate 
managers/supervisors given appropriate training for them to effectively 
support the member of staff concerned … If staff are having difficulty 
delivering the plans, they must ask their manager for guidance. The 
support being delivered should match the plans … Staff must not ‘do 
their own thing’.

In spite of this clear policy requirement, there is evidence that staff did 
not understand and apply the principles of positive behaviour support 
in responding to behaviour that challenges, for instance in recognising 
behaviour as a form of communication. Behaviour support plans were 
not followed.

Practice example 2: use of life space interviews

Although policy documents from the Hesley Group referred to the use of life 
space interviews as a means of involving and empowering young people, 
evidence from Operation Lemur Alpha suggests that this does not seem to 
have been implemented.17 

16 Positive behaviour support is ‘a person centred framework for providing long‑term support 
to people with a learning disability, and/or autism, including those with mental health 
conditions, who have, or may be at risk of developing, behaviours that challenge. It is a 
blend of person centred values and behavioural science and uses evidence to inform 
decision‑making….Behaviour that challenges usually happens for a reason and may be the 
person’s only way of communicating an unmet need. Positive behaviour support helps us 
understand the reason for the behaviour so we can better meet people’s needs, enhance 
their quality of life and reduce the likelihood that the behaviour will happen.’ (Care Quality 
Commission briefing guidance, 2017)

17 Life space interviews are a crisis intervention approach to manage and change children’s 
behaviour, which has been adopted in residential settings. Life space interview techniques 
can be used in an immediate response to a crisis event involving the child, or as part of more 
in‑depth counselling and support.

Page 107



46 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

5.9 Evidence from Operation Lemur Alpha identified notable instances where 
practitioners working in the settings diverged from support plans for young 
people that had been provided by the placing authorities. One example 
concerned occasions where staff used restraints on young people despite 
the fact this diverged from specific requests from the home authorities 
(recorded in internal Hesley Group documentation) not to do so. Another 
example was not using specialist equipment for children and young people 
that had been specified in their care plans, including helmets for head 
protection and weighted blankets.

These examples of poor residential care practice clearly demonstrate a lack 
of internal oversight from senior managers and a failure to act on the poor 
practice that children and young people experienced. 

Finding 5

High rates of staff turnover and vacancies, as well as poor quality training, support 
and supervision, were significant factors affecting the children’s quality of care.

5.10 In the light of the concerns about leadership, management and workforce 
development, the Panel has asked OFSTED to conduct an immediate 
analysis of their evidence around workforce sufficiency focusing on its 
suitability, training and support. (Urgent Action 3, see chapter 9.)

Page 108



47SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

6. Impact of systems of 
quality assurance and 
national regulation

Introduction
6.1 There were many occasions during the period in scope that should have 

triggered an escalation of concerns about the provision at the settings. 
In this chapter we look at the effectiveness and rigour of the wider 
safeguarding system in identifying and responding to the array of concerns 
and complaints about the safety and wellbeing of the children at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings in Doncaster. We consider in turn the roles of:

• The Hesley Group – statutory reporting requirements

• the placing local authorities – care planning, reviews, monitoring of 
placements and visits

• the ‘host’ local authority – management of concerns and allegations

• OFSTED

Statutory reporting requirements
6.2 The Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 place specific record 

keeping and reporting requirements on the registered provider. These 
reports should be provided routinely to OFSTED and the placing local 
authority for each child. For the registered provider, the reports should 
support a culture of reflection, learning and continuous improvement. The 
information enables OFSTED to maintain an overview of the wider context 
of the setting and any emerging signs of risk. For the placing authority, the 
reports should give an indication of what daily life is like for the child or 
young adult in placement.

Page 109



48 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Regulations 35 to 39
6.3 These regulations specify the records that must be kept in residential 

children’s homes, including each child’s case records and records of the use 
of a measure of control, discipline or restraint in relation to a particular child. 
Operation Lemur Alpha has found evidence of poor quality record keeping 
and storage of the children’s records at the three settings.

Regulation 40: serious incident notification
6.4 Regulation 40 requires the registered person to notify OFSTED, the placing 

authority and other partners when a serious incident occurs. Some incidents 
are clearly defined as serious and will require an automatic notification, 
such as a child death (which must also be reported to the Secretary of State 
for Education) or an allegation of abuse against someone in the home. 
For other incidents, the definition of serious is more ambiguous, and it is up 
to the registered person to decide whether it meets the requirements of a 
Regulation 40 notification.

6.5 In respect of the provision at the settings, Operation Lemur Alpha has raised 
concerns about the under‑reporting of serious incidents to OFSTED and 
the placing local authorities. Of particular concern was that records of 
allegations and serious incidents were held in separate ‘allegations books’ 
outside of policy. In some cases, there were ‘bespoke’ allegations books on 
specific children and young adults.

In August 2021, during an assurance visit, OFSTED identified 
additional bespoke allegations books held for five children with a 
tracker of incidents and restraints that were not notified to the home 
local authorities.
Operation Lemur Alpha investigation report

The material held in these books was not shared with OFSTED or the 
placing local authorities. As a result, risk, abuse, harm and injuries to 
children and young adults remained hidden and unreported, with placing 
local authorities unable to investigate the concerns and mitigate risks to 
the children.

Page 110



49SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Regulation 45: registered person review of quality 
of care
6.6 Regulation 45 of the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 requires 

the registered person to review the quality of care for children at the home 
every six months. The findings of the review should be set out in a report (to 
be sent to OFSTED and available on request to placing local authorities) 
detailing how the home was providing adequate quality of care to children 
and young people, and how this evolved over time. The report must also 
identify improvements required and include the views of the children in 
the home. In respect of the settings at Hesley, there were periods when the 
registered person had not completed the review in a timely way. This report 
should have been a tool for self‑evaluation and practice improvement, 
ideally as part of a dialogue between the providers at Hesley, placing 
local authorities and OFSTED, but we found limited evidence of such 
dialogue in practice.

Regulation 44: independent person reports
6.7 Regulation 44 of the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 required 

the Hesley Group settings to appoint an independent person to visit the 
children’s home at least once each month and scrutinise the actions of the 
provider. These visits can be unannounced, culminating in a report which 
asserted the independent person’s views as to whether children were 
effectively safeguarded and whether the conduct of the home promotes 
children’s wellbeing. The report should be sent to OFSTED and the placing 
local authorities. It may also be sent to the host local authority on request. 
Internal investigations in Doncaster have found evidence to suggest that 
the independent persons appointed at Hesley did not always have the 
necessary impartiality to provide critical scrutiny. This may explain, in part, 
why some Regulation 44 reports, although timely, appeared to be over‑
optimistic in nature.

6.8 The Children’s Homes Quality Standards lack specificity for settings for 
children with complex needs and disabilities. Where there are references to 
children and young people with complex needs, they do not set out clear 
and specific standards for meeting their needs and keeping them safe. The 
guide to the Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015, including the 
quality standards, states that:

Page 111



50 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

‘Some of the requirements of the standard must be applied in such a 
way that homes are able to protect and meet the needs of all children 
accommodated in them (particularly in relation to children’s complex 
special educational needs and disabilities). Children should have the 
appropriate level of freedom and choice granted to them, however, for 
some children, ensuring their safety and welfare means that this may be 
limited compared with other settings.’ 18

The lack of specificity in the quality standards cannot be used to justify the 
poor residential care practice found at Hesley’s children’s residential settings 
in Doncaster. It is arguable, however, that in the absence of clear and 
specific standards, there was undue discretion for the Hesley Group to claim 
that they were able to provide appropriate and safe placements that could 
meet the needs of the children placed there.

18 Department for Education, ‘Guide to Children’s Homes Regulations including the quality 
standards’, April 2015

Page 112



51SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 6

The settings demonstrated significant weaknesses in their compliance with 
statutory reporting requirements under the Children’s Homes (England) 
Regulations 2015. Inaccurate and inconsistent record keeping and statutory 
reporting by the settings meant that OFSTED and the placing local authorities 
often had a false picture of the care, safety and progress of the children.

The placing local authorities 
6.9 When a child is looked after, the placing local authority maintains the 

role of corporate parent and must work with multi‑agency partners to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. The child must have 
an allocated social worker who is responsible for developing their care 
plan and ensuring it is delivered. An independent reviewing officer will 
scrutinise the care plan and ensure that it reflects the views and needs of 
the child, providing challenge when identified needs are not being met. 
Where a child has an education, health and care plan, they may have a 
variety of other professionals involved in their package of care, including 
from the education or special educational needs team, the children with 
disabilities team, NHS commissioners and the continuing care team. The 
related nature of these plans and reviews means that local authorities and 
relevant partners need to consider how these duties can be carried out in a 
co‑ordinated way to best meet the needs of the individual child.

Page 113



52 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Monitoring of placements
6.10 A key aspect of the placing local authority’s corporate parenting role is to 

maintain an up‑to‑date and detailed understanding of what is happening 
to the child they have responsibility for. It is vital that monitoring of the 
placement by the local authority is proactive and challenging to ensure 
the child’s progress, safety and welfare. This was particularly important 
for children placed in the settings with Hesley, where formal reporting 
mechanisms under Regulations 40, 44 and 45 were providing a partial or 
possibly misleading account of a child’s circumstances. Evidence from local 
authority questionnaires and our interviews with professionals indicates that 
this key care planning responsibility did not happen consistently. It was clear 
from the interviews that many of the professionals within placing authorities 
did have a meaningful understanding of the child they had placed, their 
preferences and interests, communications styles, and the importance of 
their family relationships. However, this knowledge did not lead to probing 
questions about children’s lives at the settings until the whistle blowers made 
their allegations in February 2021.

6.11 Our interviews suggest that placing authorities were highly reliant on the 
settings providing them with accurate and timely information about what 
was happening with the children they placed there, particularly given 
how far away some children and young people were placed. Absent or 
incomplete reporting meant that some incidents were obscured, and 
therefore authorities did not develop an accurate and credible view of 
what life was like for the child or young person.

 “A previous social worker on a couple of occasions had phoned 
Fullerton to have a check in, maybe the day or two days after there’s 
been an incident but hasn’t been informed of anything happening. 
In fact, she’s put in her case notes, ‘Asked if everything OK? Yeah, 
no issues, no problems’. But when you’ve found all those backdated 
things, it’s highlighted that there have been massive incidents.”
Social worker

Page 114



53SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

6.12 More than half of the placing local authorities that we interviewed did 
develop concerns about the nature of the information they were receiving 
from the Hesley Group. The information was often incomplete or lacked 
details of specific action taken at the setting to respond to concerns. 
Often, the action by placing local authorities did not lead to concerted 
action to address the initial source of the concern, or to ensure that 
information requested from the settings was received. In some placing 
authorities, no response to the concerns raised reflected a lack of clear 
escalation processes.

 “The local authority could have been a bit more robust in not 
accepting comments or statements from the Hesley Group, 
because there were quite a few incidents where records weren’t 
being produced and the local authority wasn’t receiving weekly 
or fortnightly or monthly reports from the group.”
Team manager, children with disabilities team

6.13 The exact nature of the relationship between the provider and placing 
authority was not always clearly articulated. As the provider, the Hesley 
Group took on significant responsibility not only for the provision of care 
and support, but for the monitoring and evaluation of the impact of that 
provision. The placing authority fulfilled a lighter touch role in signing off 
the reports of progress from the settings. In situations where children with 
complex needs and disabilities were hard to place, the relief of finding 
a setting that had agreed to meet all the child’s needs was so strong 
that detailed interrogation of the reports provided from the settings did 
not happen in the way that it should have done.

 “What we can’t see is any external viewpoint being brought in on this. 
Hesley observe it, they mark their own behaviour, they determine 
their own outcomes from it ... We haven’t critically engaged with 
that particular issue; we accept on face value what Hesley group 
are telling us.”
Service manager, children with disabilities team

Page 115



54 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

6.14 This dynamic could have been exacerbated by workforce pressures across 
the system, with high turnover of social workers, team managers and staff 
responsible for commissioning. Some of the children in the review sample 
were known only through written records, with consequent impact on the 
quality of oversight. Limited capacity to undertake visits to children placed a 
considerable distance from their home local authority was also a factor.

6.15 A number of placing authorities reflected on the contrast between their 
perception of the complexity of the child placed at the settings, and 
their superficial understanding of what the child’s life there was actually 
like. This was identified by some authorities as a key learning point, where 
greater challenge and interrogation of what they were being told by 
providers should have been pursued, including triangulation against other 
independent sources of information about the child.

 “With hindsight, I think there should have been a greater level of 
curiosity about what was happening, but a lot of what was described 
in terms of the incidents seemed to fit with what we understood about 
how [the child] generally behaved.”
Director of quality assurance and performance

Visiting
6.16 Placing authorities have statutory duties to visit the children in residential 

care who they have responsibility for. Depending on the child’s legal 
status, this could include their social worker, an independent reviewing 
officer, professionals from the special educational needs or education 
team, and a commissioner. These visiting requirements are a crucial part 
of the monitoring and safeguarding system. The degree of proactivity of 
individual local authorities in some cases impacted on the ways that the 
children were reviewed and safeguarded while at the setting, both before 
and during the pandemic. The learning prompts us to reiterate the critical 
importance of timely, high‑quality, statutory visits and reviews, with careful 
recording and systematic follow‑up to ensure that children are receiving the 
care and educational support they need to make progress and achieve 
positive outcomes.

Page 116



55SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

6.17 There was evidence of good practice from placing authorities, with some 
social workers travelling up to 200 miles and staying locally in Doncaster to 
be close to the children and regularly visiting them. One authority brought 
reviews forward after noticing that children were losing weight, and others 
successfully challenged their child’s placement to permit face‑to‑face 
family contact during the COVID‑19 lockdowns.

6.18 A limiting factor in these visits was that children were often not seen alone. 
The perceived nature of their needs meant that they required continuous 
support by staff from the settings. This was a major tension, undermining 
the opportunity for social workers to build authentic relationships with the 
children, understand what life was like for them in the setting, and to offer a 
safe, trusting environment where they might make disclosures.

 “The placement was present, [the child] was also present because 
some of them are not, and her parents were always there as well. 
She was not seen alone due to her needs. She always had two‑to‑one 
or three‑to‑one support workers. So, it wasn’t a typical visit as you 
would expect in terms of the social worker seeing a child alone.”
Service manager for audit and practice standards

6.19 There was a risk of fragmentation between different teams involved 
within the placing authority. In particular, the roles of special educational 
needs and disabilities teams, social work teams and health teams were 
not always fully aligned, with a lack of clarity about their respective roles. 
Some placing authorities instituted joint visits between these various 
teams. This was perceived to be a positive arrangement and the role 
of the independent reviewing officer was valued as a helpful source of 
co‑ordination and support.

 “I think part of the strength that we’ve had as well is commissioning 
joint visits.”
Social worker

Page 117



56 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “The independent reviewing officer is critical in all of this as well. 
They’re the person who comes in every six months and apart from 
having an overview of the file, then have the ability to see things, feel 
and touch differently if that makes sense … They can be there as the 
extra pair of ears and eyes for the social worker.”
Director of quality assurance and performance

6.20 This analysis has re‑emphasised the recommendation in the special 
educational needs and disabilities code of practice that ‘for looked 
after children the annual review [of the education, health and care plan] 
should, if possible and appropriate, coincide with one of the reviews in 
their care plan and in particular the personal education plan element of 
the care plan.’19

6.21 The impact of COVID‑19 created significant disruption to placing authorities’ 
visits to the settings, with many visits restricted to virtual formats which could 
be difficult to conduct without significant support from home staff. It also 
changed the structure and location of the face‑to‑face visits that did occur. 
As there was limited access to inside the homes, children and young people 
were seen outside with personal protective equipment.20

 “There were about seven visits, May 2020 to January 2021, that weren’t 
in the home. One of which I think was a telephone call right at the 
beginning of the lockdowns and then as they got the processes, the 
rest were outside or to the shops. So, I think there were seven visits in 
total where we didn’t get access to the house.”
Children’s continuing care team leader

6.22 A number of interviewees reflected that this significant disruption to their 
ability to physically visit the homes and see the children in person had been 
a major factor in the risk of harm escalating.

19 Special educational needs and disabilities code of practice: 0‑25 years, January 2015, 
paragraph 9.169.

20 The Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 did not 
restrict visits but recognised that if it was not possible to meet privately then to use other 
communication methods. 

Page 118



57SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “There would have been probably more eyes on [the children]. I think 
a massive thing that we need to take [from this] is actually no one had 
eyes on any of these children for a very long time, and it just goes to 
show what happens.”
Children’s continuing care team leader

 “If her behaviour was changing, it was being explained away as 
being about the pandemic, as opposed to potentially that she was 
then experiencing abuse from potentially inexperienced staff. But 
there wasn’t the potential to be professionally curious because it was 
explained away by the pandemic, and her behaviour by not being 
able to go out and having different people around her.”
Service manager for audit and practice standards

Finding 7

Quality assurance processes in the local authorities placing children at the settings 
were inconsistent and did not enable them to have a full picture of the children’s 
progress, welfare and safety.

6.23 To ensure that placing local authorities have an up to date view about the 
progress, care and safety of children from their area living in residential 
special schools registered as children’s homes, the Panel has initiated urgent 
action, led by DCSs, for the completion of Quality and Safety Reviews 
for each child. An overview of the findings is to be reported to the local 
corporate parenting board, safeguarding partners, and RISLs. (Urgent 
Action 1, see chapter 9.)

Page 119



58 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

The host local authority: management of 
concerns and allegations

21 See Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, chapter 2, paragraphs 4 and 5.

22 A summary of the findings, known as the third party report, has been made available to the 
review team. 

6.24 Working Together to Safeguard Children 201821 requires that every 
local authority has a designated officer role (LADO) responsible for the 
management and oversight of child protection allegations made against 
staff and volunteers who work with children and young people. An 
allegation may relate to person working with children who has:

• behaved in a way that has harmed or may have harmed a child

• possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child

• behaved towards a child in way that indicates they may pose a risk of 
harm to children, or behaved in a way that indicates they may not be 
suitable to work with children

6.25 The LADO function in Doncaster during the period in scope was delivered 
by Doncaster Children’s Services Trust, acting separately from, but on behalf 
of, Doncaster Council. At an early stage in the Operation Lemur Alpha 
investigation, it became clear that since 2018 there had been significant 
and increasing numbers of allegations reported to the LADO against staff at 
Hesley, which had been the subject of an internal investigation by Doncaster 
Children’s Services Trust in June 2020. As a result, the Director of Children’s 
Services (DCS) commissioned an independent review into the effectiveness 
of the LADO function in Doncaster, and the response through the LADO 
function to the increasing number of allegations and concerns regarding 
staff working at the settings.22 The review found that poor work by the LADO 
in Doncaster up to 2020 meant that allegations were not investigated to 
a satisfactory standard, leaving children not adequately considered or 
safeguarded. The LADO role had not been effective in bringing together 
information from a range of sources to analyse the pattern of safeguarding 
concerns about staff at Hesley.

Page 120



59SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 ‘Managers and leaders should have collated and considered 
increasing reports and concerning information with partners 
from a child safeguarding perspective at a much earlier stage;…
No attempt was made to bring placing authorities together… to share 
information, despite the majority of allegations focusing on children 
outside Doncaster’.23

Third party report

6.26 Following the independent review, Doncaster Council initiated a number 
of improvements including: multi‑agency training to raise the profile and 
understanding of the LADO role, consistent application of thresholds for 
referral to the LADO by relevant organisations, and robust governance, 
accountability and scrutiny of the LADO function by senior leaders and the 
Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership.

Finding 8

There were major failings in operation of the LADO function, resulting in allegations 
about the conduct of staff in the residential settings not being investigated to a 
satisfactory standard.

6.27 Doncaster’s independent review also highlighted the lack of liaison 
between Doncaster as ‘host’ local authority and the placing local 
authorities. Evidence from the placing local authorities suggests that there 
was confusion over the nature of the relationship between the placing 
authority and the LADO: 

 “Because we weren’t managing the LADO process, it would have been 
Doncaster as host and Hesley Group as the employer. We weren’t 
always as in the loop about, well, what the outcome was. Because 
actually what we needed to know was that the matter had been 
addressed and investigated. We were responsible for looking after 
that young person … There was often a reluctance to keep us up to 
date about the lower‑level intervention.”
Interim assistant director, children’s social care

23 Third party report, page 7.

Page 121



60 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

The Panel has initiated urgent local assurance action, led by DCSs, to 
directly address this concern (see urgent action, chapter 9).

6.28 A wider consideration is the lack of consistency of approaches between 
LADOs in different local authority areas. This is particularly evident in the 
application of thresholds for LADO action, notably at the points where other 
parties need to become involved in the investigation of concerns. Particular 
challenges relate to the ongoing oversight in place where an external 
investigation is not taken forward but ‘low level’ concerns are passed back 
to the provider for action. The independent management review found that 
actions taken by the LADO function in Doncaster during the period 2018 
to 2020 were not always consistent, appropriate or proportionate, echoing 
similar concerns about the LADO function generally that have been 
reported in serious case reviews and in evidence to the Independent Inquiry 
into Child Sexual Abuse.24 

24 See, for example: Medway LSCB Serious Case Review: ‘Learning for organisations arising from 
incidents at Medway Secure Training Centre’, section 5.8 (January 2019)

The role of OFSTED
6.29 OFSTED is responsible for inspecting residential children’s homes against 

the Children’s Homes Quality Standards and has an obligation to inspect 
homes once a year. Where inspection has found a children’s home to be 
inadequate or requiring improvement they should be inspected at least 
twice a year. In addition to scheduled inspections, OFSTED also plays an 
important oversight and co‑ordination role as the single organisation 
receiving Regulation 40, 44, and 45 reports, as well as LADO referrals, 
anonymous concerns and whistleblowing. This should enable OFSTED 
to understand the emerging signs of risk, not only from an increase in 
Regulation 40 reports and referrals to the LADO, but also from an awareness 
of wider contextual changes in settings. Where concerns are identified, 
OFSTED can undertake unplanned and unannounced visits and retains the 
power to suspend the provision.

6.30 OFSTED inspected the children’s homes at Fullerton House and Wilsic Hall 
in 2015. OFSTED judged that that there was a decline in effectiveness at 
Fullerton House and served compliance notices. Wilsic Hall was judged 
as requiring improvement. Subsequent inspections before the emergency 
inspections in 2021 confirmed that the concerns had been addressed. 

Page 122



61SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

6.31 The school provision at Fullerton House and Wilsic Hall was subject to 
separate inspections by OFSTED. The most recent inspections of the schools 
were in autumn 2015 and 2018. Fullerton House was judged to be good on 
both occasions, while Wilsic Hall was judged as outstanding in 2015 and 
good in 2018. The schools had three additional emergency inspections in 
response to complaints.

6.32 Looking back over the period 2018 to 2021, it is clear that the intelligence 
from complaints, allegations and inspection evidence was not brought 
together with sufficient rigour to identify risk at the three settings and 
escalate earlier intervention. A key learning point from the series of 
inspections is the importance of robust professional curiosity and challenge 
to ensure that inspection goes beyond the evaluation of narrow regulatory 
compliance. This includes rigorous evaluation of patterns of notification 
and complaints over time which should prompt further enquiry. OFSTED has 
since carried out a review of its response to parental complaints, inspections 
of the children’s homes from 2015 to 2021, and the inspection of the 
residential school provision. Drawing on the learning from the review, OFSTED 
highlighted five key changes as follows:

• the dates for the inspections of residential special schools and children’s 
homes should be aligned, so that the provisions are inspected at the 
same time, wherever possible

• the last children’s home report should be included in the pre‑inspection 
information for the school inspection 

• school inspectors should be briefed on safeguarding concerns, and 
information about complaints should be made available from the 
regulatory inspection manager

• inspection training should include training about ‘closed cultures’ in 
special education needs and disabilities settings, and the implications of 
this for the inspection

• inspectors conducting inspections in provisions where children and 
young adults may be non‑verbal will have the requisite knowledge, skills 
and experience

Page 123



62 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

The learning from the review is being taken forward by OFSTED with a 
detailed action plan, which includes improved systems for identifying 
providers who present a risk, as well as arrangements in regional teams to 
improve the monitoring, oversight and analysis of Regulation 40 and 44 
reports and complaints.25 Robust implementation of these changes will 
be crucial for developing a more effective regulatory system for these 
settings in future.

Finding 9

National regulatory arrangements had a limited impact on identifying and 
responding to the many concerns and complaints about children’s safety and 
wellbeing. Children were left at continuing risk of harm.

6.33 It is clear from this analysis that professionals in distinct roles across the 
system had separate information indicating degrees of concern about what 
was happening to the children at the settings. None of this was brought 
together into a considered view that would have triggered escalation and 
intervention. In phase 2 of the review, we will explore further the respective 
roles of different professionals and regulators in keeping children with 
complex health needs and disabilities safe. We will consider the extent 
to which the various sets of reporting requirements, quality standards, 
regulations and inspections provide a coherent and effective assurance 
framework and make recommendations for improvement and change.

25 Complaints concerning Fullerton House and Wilsic Hall – OFSTED learning review and action 
plan, April 2022

Page 124



63SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

7. The children’s journey into 
placement at the settings

7.1 Introduction: a sample of 12 children 
and their journeys
In this chapter, we analyse the journeys of 12 children into placement at Hesley’s 
children’s residential settings in Doncaster. They are representative of the range of 
backgrounds and experiences of the 108 children who had been resident at the 
settings between January 2018 and March 2021. The children had vastly different 
family backgrounds and experiences, but for each one there was multi‑agency 
agreement that their needs could only be met in a residential setting. From our 
analysis, we have identified four key aspects of practice in which, acting singly 
or together, the way that local services assessed and responded to the children’s 
needs had increased the likelihood that they might need a residential placement.

Unrecognised complexity of need
7.2 Detailed analysis of the needs of the 12 children in our sample presents a 

very challenging picture. Half of them had known adverse experiences 
in their early childhood, some relating to significant levels of abuse and 
neglect. In addition, many had experienced multiple placements, which 
sometimes would have involved changing home as well as school. 

 “So not only have we got a child who’s been removed from their 
parents, which is significant for any child, but we’ve also got a child 
who is one of quite a large sibling group … And then on top of that, 
there is additional needs, you know, the disability ... as well. So those 
things are traumatic for any child without some level of understanding 
or communication to be able to talk through, even with things as 
basic as social stories and that kind of thing. So I think in some ways, 
the impact of that was significant.”
Social work team leader

Page 125



64 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

While this complexity was recognised by professionals, we found few 
examples of interventions to address it. This was often because the child’s 
disability became the overwhelming focus, or placement moves meant 
that specific support to address their adverse experiences could not 
be completed.

 “She needed emotional support as well, because of the complexities 
of the trauma. There were more professionals who were needed for 
that intervention work. It was quite specialist, so we did as much as we 
could within the time scales that we had … It’s just that unfortunately, 
we didn’t have, as I say, the timescale to do the full intervention.”
Social worker

Lack of early multi‑agency engagement
7.3 The journeys of the 12 children show early diagnosis but limited follow‑up. 

After diagnosis there was scant evidence of effective multi‑agency 
planning and intervention, despite the fact that the diagnostic and early 
safeguarding risk factors should have highlighted the likelihood that these 
children’s needs would spiral. Where learning disability and child and 
adolescent mental health services teams were involved, this tended to be 
isolated activity rather than integrated into multi‑agency planning and 
review processes. 

Inadequate and insufficient short break 
and family support
7.4 Although 10 of the 12 families in our sample received a short break offer, 

there were limits on the extent to which the provision could be tailored 
and extended to respond to changing needs. Two of the local authorities 
mentioned that the family or carers had reached the ‘ceiling’ of the 
overnight short breaks offer, at six or seven nights a month. Two children 
were unable to access short breaks.

Page 126



65SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “[We need] provision that would enable us to keep these complex 
children and young people at home for longer. This is a mum who very 
definitely wanted to be able to care for him, but what we needed was 
probably more than what … we would traditionally see from a local 
authority care. That sort of provision is not readily available.”
Clinical commissioning group, commissioning performance and quality

In situations where an increase in levels and types of short breaks over time 
had been considered in line with escalating needs, that consideration did 
not extend to include wider family support needs or interventions.

 “[The child was] initially supported with a fairly small short breaks 
package, which would be appropriate for a child of that age. 
Often for children under five, we wouldn’t have very large packages.”
Strategic lead for looked after children

7.5 Most local authorities did not report the provision of any ‘family support’, 
such as parenting support, support in the home, support with behaviour 
strategies, or support for parental mental health. Where support was offered, 
there was tacit recognition from some professionals that what they had 
been able to offer had been insufficient to sustain and support the family’s 
role as a protective factor and enable parents to manage their children’s 
care effectively.

 “There were other behavioural interventions, which are being looked 
at here ... There are some recommendations, [but] it’s mainly around 
positive praise, it doesn’t look to be a very intensive type of work.”
Service manager, children with disabilities team

7.6 Two families received time‑limited Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services support for parenting and behaviour strategies. Three were offered 
support but either declined it, did not consent to the assessment needed to 
access it, or never received it because the situation deteriorated too quickly 
and the child became looked after before support could be put in place.

Page 127



66 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “[X] was permanently allocated a worker from the team (social work 
assistant) when he began receiving overnight short breaks.”
Social work manager

7.7 Our interviews with professionals and the child’s journey mapping activity 
indicate that often a social worker or social work assistant had been 
allocated because a young person was in receipt of short break support. 
This approach was in line with ensuring that proportionate and less intrusive 
pathways to short break support were available for families.26 Where this 
happened, there was an indication that other frontline practitioners tended 
not to escalate increasing or new needs and concerns as there was an 
assumption that, with children’s social care involved, others would follow 
up the issues.27 This led to reviews of short break provision sometimes being 
the only point where escalation of needs was identified. It was often too 
late, with families already falling into crisis and creating a situation where 
disabled children were seen as the ‘problem’ within a family. The ‘solution’ 
was to give families a break from caring, but without underpinning that 
support with any wider family intervention. 

 “[X] was referred to a specialist family support service in 2013 and 
allocated 18 days through the local offer. A year later, a review of 
short breaks was undertaken and [X’s] parents were signposted to 
additional activities in the community. Short breaks were reviewed 
again a year later as it was clear that the child’s needs were still not 
being met, and an extended childminding resource was allocated. 
18 months later a further review of short breaks happened and 
playscheme changed to another provision.

26 Bennett (2016), ‘Promising practice from phases 3 and 4 of the Council for Disabled Children’s 
learning and innovation programme’

27 Our analysis reflects research evidence found in Franklin et.al. (2022), ‘UK social work practice 
in safeguarding disabled children and young people: A qualitative systematic review’

Page 128



67SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

A social work assessment was carried out … following a referral raising 
concern for parental conflict. The parents were clearly very stressed 
… Overnight short breaks were agreed May 2017 … A review of short 
breaks occurred in May 2019 … and increased to three nights per 
month. This was the maximum capacity for community support and 
when this was still not sufficient to meet the child and family need, 
the only alternative is a residential school placement.”
Social worker

7.8 The picture that emerged of inadequate and insufficiently expert support 
for families is supported by research evidence. Adequate and sustained 
family engagement is described across 14 research reports as a successful 
preventative measure that is not seen enough in reality. A UK expert has 
observed that many parents have felt unsupported for so long that they now 
have difficulty engaging with help offered.28

28 Sholl (2020), Commentary on ‘A reflective evaluation of the Bradford positive behaviour 
support – in reach service’

29 Challenging Behaviour Foundation (2015). 

Multiple education placements
7.9 The analysis of the questionnaires to all local authorities indicated that only 

25 of the 108 children were reported to have been excluded from school 
before moving to placement at Hesley’s children’s residential settings 
in Doncaster. This was a somewhat surprising finding given the previous 
research on children with complex needs and disabilities, which indicates 
a history of multiple failed education placements.29 However, when we 
started to look in detail at the children in our sample, it was clear that the 
questionnaire responses might not have conveyed the full picture. Ten of the 
12 children had experienced multiple education placements before their 
arrival at the settings, with some of them being told that their needs could 
not be met by the school and that they were unable to return. 

7.10 Our conversations with professionals indicated a reluctance to use the 
language of exclusion and to present the situation as a ‘managed 
move’ process. However, there was little evidence that these moves were 
managed and timely, or that alternative placements were explored before 
the placements ended.

Page 129



68 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

 “Because it’s not my experience of working in the children with 
disabilities team that exclusion is something we talk about in this 
setting. It’s actually that we can’t meet need. And it’s usually at the tail 
end of trying a lot of different bespoke packages, trying to sometimes 
exclude children from a classroom in the sense of a different way, 
but it wouldn’t be recorded as an exclusion – that is my experience.”
Assistant director for children’s social care

In such circumstances, the fault for the breakdown tended to be attributed 
to the child and their needs rather than looking at whether or not the 
provision could be improved to maintain the child in an effective learning 
environment. There was a concern that where placements ended outside of 
formal processes (neither as an exclusion nor a managed move), there was 
not an opportunity to plan for the child and review their needs. There was 
also little evidence that the impact of the multiple changes on the child’s 
sense of security and behaviour were understood.

Page 130



69SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Finding 10

Our in‑depth analysis of the journeys into residential care of 12 children placed at 
Hesley’s children’s residential settings highlights key challenges in current provision 
for children with disabilities and complex health needs that limit their access to the 
right support at the right time.

7.11 Our overall analysis of the children’s journeys suggests that the support 
available for parents of children with complex needs and disabilities is 
inconsistent and fragmented across different local authority and health 
care areas in England. In phase 2 of the review, we propose to examine the 
commissioning requirements for children with the most complex needs to 
ensure that they have access to the best provision to meet their needs in 
a timely way, drawing on the analysis and learning from the market study 
published by the Competition and Markets Authority in March 2022, which 
found that, as a result of problems in the way the placements market was 
operating, children were not consistently gaining access to placements that 
appropriately met their needs.30 There is a major opportunity to improve 
the efficiency and effectiveness of commissioning arising from the statutory 
changes made to health and care commissioning brought about by the 
Health and Care Act 2022. This transferred accountability for safeguarding, 
children and young people with SEND and children in care from Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) from 
1st July 2022. We will look to incorporate the recent work undertaken 
for the independent review of children’s social care and its proposals 
for transforming care.31 We will also consider research evidence about 
alternatives to residential placements through such provision as specialist 
support services, family help, early diagnosis and preventative services and 
coordinated wraparound care. 

30 Competition and Markets Authority (2022), Children’s social care market study final report 
England Summary, paragraphs 18‑21.

31 The Independent Review of Children’s Social Care (2022). See in particular 
Chapter 5, Pp. 113‑130.

Page 131



70 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

8. Implications for the wider 
system: review phase 2
8.1 The purpose of phase 2 of the review is to learn from what happened to 

the children at Hesley’s residential settings in Doncaster so that, in future, 
children with complex needs and disabilities are kept safe and thrive 
in residential schools registered as children’s homes. We know of good 
practice and will be listening to the views of individuals and organisations 
to improve practice in the future. We will seek to identify any changes that 
need to be made to policy and practice to keep children safe and well in 
residential placements.

8.2 The focus of work in phase 2 will be structured around three key 
lines of enquiry:

1 What needs to happen to ensure the voices of children with complex 
health needs and disabilities are listened to and heard, and their rights 
are respected and upheld?

2 What are the respective roles of different professionals in keeping children 
with the most complex needs safe? What changes, if any, are required to 
improve their effectiveness?

3 What are the conditions for efficient and effective commissioning so that 
children with complex health can access the very best support to meet 
their needs in a timely way?

8.3 The review process will include:

• desktop research to identify best practice nationally and internationally

• preparation of practice briefings to include priorities for change in 
policy and practice

• structured engagement with stakeholders through national multi‑agency 
round table events to ‘test’ our analysis

Our expectation is that the report on phase 2 of the review will make 
national recommendations for improvement and change and will be 
published in spring 2023.

Page 132



71SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

9. Urgent action for assurance 
9.1 We anticipate that there will be parents and carers with children in 

similar settings who will read this phase 1 report and be alarmed at what 
happened to the children at Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and Wheatley 
House. OFSTED registration data shows us there are 69 establishments 
offering 1,793 places. While most children in residential special schools will 
be receiving a safe service, the level of concerns raised by this review means 
we should be ensuring that all children living in residential special schools 
registered as children’s homes are receiving safe, quality placements. 
Parents and carers will demand reassurances that their children are 
safe from abuse.

9.2 Accordingly, the Panel has initiated urgent assurance action by DCSs and 
OFSTED, ahead of the publication of the phase 1 report, to:

• ensure that placing local authorities have an up‑to‑date view about 
the progress, care and safety of children with disabilities and complex 
health needs who are placed in residential special schools registered as 
children’s homes

• ensure that, for all residential special schools registered as children’s 
homes, any LADO referrals, complaints and concerns over the last three 
years relating to the workforce have been appropriately actioned

• ensure effective liaison between LADOs in ‘host’ local authorities with 
residential special schools registered as children’s homes, and the LADOs 
in placing local authorities

• understand current workforce challenges in these settings

It is anticipated that these actions will be completed by the end of 
November 2022. 

Urgent Action 1
• Directors of Children’s Services are to ensure that Quality and Safety 

Reviews are completed for all children with complex needs and disabilities 
currently living within placements with the same registrations (i.e., residential 
specialist schools registered as children’s homes) to ensure they are in safe, 
quality placements.

Page 133



72 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

• This action should be led and overseen by the placing (i.e., home) local 
authority DCS. If a Review identifies concerns about the conduct of a member 
of the workforce, the placing local authority may need to share the concerns 
with the host Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) if the threshold 
has been met.

• DCSs have been asked to provide an overview report on key findings and 
issues to both their local corporate parenting board and to local safeguarding 
partners, together with assurance that the Quality and Safety Reviews have 
been completed.

• DCSs have also asked to send a copy of their overview report on the Quality 
and Safety Reviews to the relevant DfE regional improvement support lead 
(RISL). The Phase 1 review has highlighted how information may be held locally 
but that it is also important to develop a fuller and more comprehensive picture 
of quality in these type of placements. This will also allow for regional and 
national assurance that these actions have been undertaken.

Urgent Action 2
In relation to children with disabilities and complex health needs who are looked 
after children and who are currently placed in residential specialist schools 
which are registered as children’s homes, all Directors of Children’s Services 
should ensure:

• That the host authority LADO for each individual establishment reviews all 
information on any LADO referrals, complaints and concerns over the last 3 
years relating to the workforce in such establishments to ensure these have 
been appropriately actioned.

• The host authority LADO should then contact any local authorities who currently 
have children placed in the establishments in their area if there are any 
outstanding enquiries being carried out regarding staff employed in the home.

DCSs have been asked to confirm that urgent action two has been taken within 
the overview report that will be provided to the DfE Regional Improvement 
Support Lead on action one above.

Urgent Action 3
OFSTED to conduct an immediate analysis of their evidence around workforce 
sufficiency focusing on its suitability, training and support.

Page 134



73SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

10. Conclusion
10.1 Our intention in the first phase of the review was to find out how the children 

came to be placed at one of these settings and what happened to them. 
These settings were regulated by OFSTED and operated as independent 
residential settings, funded through fees from the public purse. The 
conditions for abuse were allowed to flourish, and we have sought to find 
out how and why this happened. 

10.2 Hesley’s children’s residential settings in Doncaster were these children’s 
homes for the duration of their stays. They should have felt safe, 
happy and supported. Instead, their experiences at the settings were 
transformative and traumatic. Children far away from home, often with 
limited communication skills, were trapped in settings where systemic and 
sustained abuse was inflicted with no respite. As professionals familiar with 
serious harm, we have been shocked by what we have learnt. Children 
experienced repeated and dangerous physical restraints, were deprived 
of their liberty, were subjected to physical abuse as a form of discipline, 
and suffered bullying, taunting and excessive and inappropriate use of 
medication. Abuse and neglect flourished due to lack of oversight, limited 
professional curiosity and poorly exercised accountability which allowed 
the provider to take on a lead role, picking and choosing what was shared 
without challenge and painting a false reality. Ultimately, the voices of the 
children were not heard.

10.3 The individuals responsible for this harm and abuse are the subject of 
criminal investigations. While no system, however robust, can fully eliminate 
all risk of harm and abuse, those risks were exacerbated by wider systemic 
failings arising from inadequate leadership and management, poor quality 
training, support and supervision of the workforce, weak compliance with 
legal requirements, and regulatory failure.

Page 135



74 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendices

10.4 The decision to place a child in a residential care setting is complex. 
It has to accommodate the wishes and emotional journeys of parents, 
the challenge of finding a suitable place, and the financial outlay from 
the public purse. What needs to drive this decision is a good and full 
understanding of the needs of the child and how well matched the setting 
is to meet those needs. The setting has to be both suitable at the point of 
placement and sustainable for the longer term, given the changing needs 
as the child develops and makes the transition to adulthood. Phase 2 
will therefore explore critical issues relating to the sufficiency of provision 
and whether a different approach is required, building on the findings 
of the recently published independent review of children’s social care.32 
In doing so, our recommendations will concentrate strongly and clearly 
on the improvements that must be secured nationally to help children with 
disabilities and complex needs access the very best care and support to 
which they have an unquestionable entitlement.

32 https://childrenssocialcare.independent‑review.uk/

Page 136

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/


75SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendices

Page 137



76 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendix 1.  
Terms of reference: 
review phase 1

The key lines of enquiry were:
• How were children placed at Fullerton House, Wilsic Hall and Wheatley House, 

and what procedures and practices were in place to ensure that they were 
safe and well?

• How was the quality of care for each child kept under review?

• How did concerns arise and what was the quality of the response?

• Is what happened to these children reflective of practice more generally and 
how could the safeguarding system be improved?

• In the light of the findings, identify any urgent action required to assure the 
safety and care of children placed in similar specialist settings.

• Identify key issues for further exploration and the development of national 
recommendations in Phase 2 of the review.

The review has begun with the children at the centre, and in phase 2 will examine 
broader lessons for the system. In this initial stage we needed to establish:
• What is the evidence telling us?

• What are the key issues and concerns?

• What is the urgent learning we can share with the sector to promote and 
protect children’s safety and wellbeing?

Page 138



77SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendix 2.  
Questionnaire sent to home 
local authorities of children 
placed at the three settings

Framework for exemplar children’s journeys:
Pre‑ and during placement at Hesley Group

Identification of needs

What early learning and health checks took place?
• What did they report?
• Were other agencies subsequently involved?

When did physical and sensory health checks (e.g. sight and hearing) take place?

Had they received an annual health check?

When did they receive a formal diagnosis?

Were they on a waiting list for a diagnostic pathway?
• If so, how long had they been waiting?

Were they on the learning disability register?

Are there records of A&E attendance?
• If so, how many times and when?

Were they admitted to tier 4 inpatient care? Under what circumstances 
(e.g. under Mental Health Act)? (See additional questions below)

• If so, how many times?

Are there any records of periods out of school?
• If so, what were the reasons?
• Were any other agencies involved (e.g. health/social care)?

Page 139



78 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Are there any records of early exclusions?
• If so, at what age was the first exclusion?
• How many times has the child been excluded?

What was the child or young person’s age at their first change of school?

How many times have they come to the attention of children’s social care?

Assessments and plans

At what stages did the child or young person (and their family) receive social care 
involvement? (Assessment undertaken – this may also include early help assessments)

When was their first statutory education, health and care needs assessment and 
education, health and care plan?

Has there been historical social care involvement in the child or young 
person’s family?

• When was their first assessment?
• When were they first allocated a social worker?

Have they been subject to a child in need plan and/or child protection plan?
• If so, under which category (neglect, emotional, physical, or sexual abuse)?

How long were they on the child in need plan and/or child protection plan?

When did the young person become looked after?

Is there evidence of involvement in decisions relating to their care and support?
• How were the young person’s views, wishes and feelings explored 

and recorded?
• Is there a reasonable belief that they may lack capacity in relation to 

consenting to their care and support?
• Was a mental capacity assessment carried out?
• Is there evidence of best interest decisions?
• Is there evidence of lawful authorisations of deprivations of liberty?

By which route did the young person become looked after?
• Voluntary arrangement – under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989
• Care order
• Emergency protection order (then potentially subject to care proceedings; 

interim care order/care order)
• Police protection order (then potentially subject to care proceedings; 

interim care order/care order)
• A tribunal judgement

Page 140



79SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Support/treatment

Was there any early support intervention from education, health and care 
agencies, including any family support?

Did they access short break provision?
• If so, what type of short break provision (e.g. day, evening, overnight, 

weekend activities, in the child or young person’s own home, the home of 
an approved carer, or in a residential or community setting)?

Where they were receiving any health support or treatment, this could include:
• a form of positive behaviour support therapy or similar
• physical, occupational, speech/language, sensory therapy
• using health commissioned short breaks
• specialist support from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
• support from the community learning disability team
• receiving personal health budget
• medication
• support from a dietician or nutritionist or other diet/nutrition support
• dental support or treatment
• family carer support – including the Healthy Parent Carer Programme

Was there a health element and/or social care element of an education, health 
and care plan or other form of multi‑agency plan (child in need plan, child 
protection plan, looked‑after child etc)?

• If so, what was it, and do we know if it actually delivered/happened?
• In the education, health and care plan what were the:
• outcomes sought?
• provision made?
• placement?

Was anything done to enable the child to experience success? 
• If so, where and how as that achieved?
• Was it built on? 

Visits and reviews

Did annual reviews take place in a timely way?
• Who attended?
• Any change of provision (as well as placement)?
• If so, was it genuinely responsive to the nature of the difficulties or was it just a 

matter of finding a different place for doing the same thing?

Page 141



80 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Across placements, how often were they visited and by whom?

What happened in the visits?
• Was the child seen?
• Was the child seen in private?
• If not, who else was present?

How often have they been visited by parents/family?

Were any concerns raised?

Additional questions for those placed from inpatient settings

Experience of inpatient/admissions avoidance

Was there a discharge plan?

Was the discharge plan followed up on?

Were they on the Dynamic Support Register?
• If so, what happened as a result?

Were there any care education and treatment reviews or local authority 
emergency protocol in advance of, or after admission?

Was there a risk management plan?

Health involvement while in inpatient settings

Was the clinical commissioning group (or NHS England) contributing to the cost of 
the placement?

Have any of the above health checks been carried out while they have been 
in the setting?

What is the health element of the education, health and care plan – is it 
being delivered?

Is there any involvement from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services?

Is there any involvement from the learning disability autism team?

Were they being prescribed and administered medication?
• Any evidence this was reviewed?

Page 142



81SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendix 3.  
List of professionals involved 
in group interviews
Senior education, health and care plan co‑ordinator 
(special educational needs team)

Allocated social worker

Team leader

Designated nurse for children in care

Head of service (0‑25 service)

Assistant director for safeguarding and care planning

Group manager for the statutory assessment team

Team leader (central placements team)

Group manager (Children’s Disability Service)

Safeguarding Children Partnership manager

Interim team manager (Children’s Disability Service)

Designated doctor for looked‑after children

Independent chair of the Safeguarding Children Partnership

Head of service (special education needs)

Head of service (quality improvement)

Deputy head of virtual school

Designated doctor for child safeguarding

Independent reviewing officer

Deputy designated nurse for looked after children and safeguarding

Advanced practitioner (children with disabilities team)

Independent reviewing officer service manager

Short breaks manager

Interim designated nurse for safeguarding

Page 143



82 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Interim service director (safeguarding and quality and improvement)

Personal advisor

Learning disability team lead (clinical commissioning group)

Interim service manager

Interim team manager (children with disabilities)

Education, health and care assessment and review team manager

Chief officer for children’s social work

Head of service (child health and disability)

Service delivery manager (child health and disability team)

Children’s continuing care team leader

Head of disabled children’s service

Locality team leader

Assistant director for children’s social care

Assistant director of education inclusion

Deputy chief nurse

Strategic manager (operations, adult social care)

Strategic manager (statutory special educational needs and disabilities team)

Operations manager (children with disabilities)

Accommodation and support team manager

Director of lifelong learning (education)

Senior manager (transitions team, adult social care)

Director for children’s commissioning

Assistant director of learning disabilities and autism transition services 
(adult social care)

Education and inclusion service manager

Director for quality assurance and performance

Assistant director for inclusion and additional needs

Assistant director for special educational needs and disabilities and 
corporate parenting

Assistant director for children with disabilities

Page 144



83SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Appendix 4. 
The legal framework

33 Disabled Children: A Legal Handbook (third edition)

The Children Act 1989 is the primary piece of legislation in relation to looked after 
children. It sets out the different pathways into care and the associated legal 
status of the children placed. In addition to the primary legislation, there are a 
series of pieces of statutory guidance, including:

• Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018)

• The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations volume 2: care planning, 
placement and case review (2015)

• Visiting children in residential special schools and colleges (2017)

These set out the way in which duties towards disabled children and young 
people in residential settings should be carried out in practice, dependent on 
whether or not they are ‘looked after’.

Legal status
All disabled children are defined as ‘in need’ under the Children Act 1989. The Act 
not only creates an assessment duty for individual children and young people, but 
also requires certain types of service and provision to be available to meet the 
needs of disabled children, including residential and foster care short breaks.33

In terms of legal status, there are several legal bases for a child being placed 
with a residential special school settings for disabled children and young people. 
Depending on the legal basis for placement, different considerations are relevant 
to understanding whether a child has ‘looked after’ status and the subsequent 
duties under a number of aspects of the Children Act 1989, including:

• Section 20 (3), Section 20(4) or Section 20(1)

• Section 31

• Section 85

• Section 86

There is a ‘specific’ duty on local authorities to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of the children they look after.

Page 145



84 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Section 20
Where a child is ‘looked after’ voluntarily under Section 20 (i.e. with parental 
agreement), a local authority does not acquire parental responsibility. In 
those circumstances, responsibility remains with the child’s mother or parents 
(Children Act 1989, Section 2). However, local authorities do have additional 
duties towards disabled children who are ‘looked after’, including in relation to 
accommodation and maintenance.

Where a child who is ‘looked after’ under Section 20 is in a 52‑week residential 
special school placement, the full ‘looked after’ scheme is in place, rather than 
the modified scheme which applies in some circumstances due to the child being 
in receipt of overnight short breaks (see below).

Section 31
A child is described as being in care when a legal order is made (such as an 
interim or full care order), and the parents or those with parental responsibility may 
or may not have provided consent. An interim care order or full care order allows 
the local authority to determine future plans for the child. The local authority can 
also determine where the child should live.

In these circumstances, children are ‘looked after’. This requires the local authority 
to provide accommodation, to maintain and safeguard, to promote welfare, and 
to give effect to or act in accordance with the other welfare responsibilities set out 
in the Children Act 1989.

Section 31 gives the local authority parental responsibility for the child and the 
power to determine the extent to which the child’s parents and others with 
parental responsibility may exercise their responsibility, where this is necessary to 
safeguard or promote the child’s welfare.

Sections 85 and 86
Sections 85 and 86 of the Children Act 1989 require that where children are 
provided with accommodation other than under the social care powers 
and duties (e.g. the local authority’s education department) for a significant 
period (intended to be three months or more), the relevant children’s services 
department must be notified.

Section 85 applies where children and young people are placed in residential 
education or care placements by health or local authority education services.

Section 86 applies where children or young people are placed in a residential 
care home or independent hospital.

Page 146



85SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

None of the children in scope in our review were placed at Hesley’s children’s 
residential settings in Doncaster under sections 85 or 86 of the Children Act 1989.

34 Children Act 1989 – Section 20(4)

35 Disabled Children: A Legal Handbook (third edition)

36 Ibid.

Overnight short breaks
Although the legal framework applies to all children and young people, it 
is possible that some disabled children in receipt of short break support via 
overnight short breaks (either residential or family‑based) may be ‘looked after’ 
under Section 20(4):

‘A local authority may provide accommodation for any child within their area 
(even though a person who has parental responsibility for him is able to provide 
him with accommodation) if they consider that to do so would safeguard or 
promote the child’s welfare.’34

It is also possible that the child becomes ‘looked after’ via the specifically 
enforceable duty under Section 20(1) when “a parent was ‘immediately’ 
prevented from providing a disabled child with suitable care and 
accommodation”.35

In terms of establishing the legal status of a disabled child who is receiving 
overnight short breaks, the guidance36 states that children whose welfare 
will be best safeguarded by becoming ‘looked after’ during residential short 
breaks include: 

• children who have substantial packages of short breaks, sometimes in more 
than one setting

• children whose families have limited resources and may have difficulties 
supporting them or monitoring the quality of care while they are 
away from home

Disabled children who are ‘looked after’ by dint of their accessing short break 
provision overnight for more than 24 hours on a regular basis may be subject to 
the modified regulations for ‘looked after’ children where:

• no single placement is intended to last more than 17 days

• the total in one year does not exceed 75 days

This means that some disabled children and young people may have ‘looked 
after’ status under the modified scheme before entering a 52‑week residential 
special school or college.

Page 147



86 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Pre‑placement

37 See Children Act 1989 section 22c

Many of the disabled children and young people in scope of this review received 
placements in response to emergency or crisis situations which made planning 
more challenging. Despite this, there are a number of key requirements that local 
authorities must consider before placement37, including:

• the identified placement should be the ‘most appropriate placement 
available’ that will ‘best promote and safeguard the child’s welfare’

• when deciding on the most appropriate placement, the local authority 
must ‘give preference to’ placement with a connected person, such as a 
relative or friend

The local authority must, as far as is reasonably practicable, ensure that 
the placement:

• is near the child’s home within their communities

• does not disrupt education

• enables siblings to live together (where the siblings are also looked after)

• provides accommodation which is suitable to the child’s needs if the 
child is disabled

• is within the local authority’s area

In addition to the above considerations, the local authority will need to determine 
if the placement should be under the ‘looked after’ framework and progress with 
the relevant care planning requirements. There should be effective information 
sharing between all agencies, including children and young people and their 
family, to inform placement planning. Wherever possible, all parties, including 
the responsible authority, should be notified of the placement before the 
child is placed.

Where the placement is outside of the local authority’s area and located 
considerably far away, it must be approved by the DCS.

Page 148



87SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Notification

38 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 
attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_
Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf 

When a decision has been made in relation the most appropriate placement for 
a child, and ideally before the child is placed, the placing (home) local authority 
must send a notification to a range of key people and agencies as set out in the 
Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations volume 2: care planning, placement 
and case reviews.38

Where a child is looked after, the allocated social worker in the home local 
authority has responsibility and all relevant parties should be informed and aware. 
However, this may not be the case where a child is placed via education or 
health, so there are requirements to notify the relevant agencies.

Under Section 85, where a child or young person is in a residential placement with 
education functions, the placing (home) authority is responsible for notifying the 
DCS of the local authority where the child is ordinarily resident. 

Under Section 86, where a child or young person is in a residential care home or 
independent hospital, the manager of the setting must notify the DCS of the local 
authority where it is located.

Page 149

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf


88 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS IN RESIDENTIAL SETTINGS

THE CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW PANEL

Reviews and visits

39 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 
attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_
Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf

The requirements for reviews and visits for looked‑after children are clearly set 
out in the Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations volume 2: care planning, 
placement and case reviews.39 

There are a series of duties in relation to the timelines for review and visits to 
individual children and young people dependent on their legal status, as 
shown in the flowchart below devised by the review team from the relevant 
statutory guidance.

The responsible local authority must also make arrangements to visit under the 
following circumstances:

• whenever reasonably requested to do so by the child or young person

• if it believes that a visit is required in order to safeguard and promote the child or 
young person’s welfare

Section 20 or 
Section 31

Visit within
1 week of

placement

Visit every 6 
weeks for

the fi rst
12 months

Visit within
1 week of

placement

Visit within 
3 months of 
notifi cation

Further visits every 6 months

Further visits every 6 months

After 12 months, if 
long term placement 
(to age 18), visit every 
3 months otherwise 

every 6 weeks

Section 85 or 
Section 86

No Section 17 
assessment
in the last

12 months

Section 85 or 
Section 86
Section 17 
assessment 

completed in 
last 12 months

Page 150

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf


The local authority should ensure that all children and young people have 
accessible means of requesting a visit. There is detailed guidance on the way visits 
should be carried out, their purpose and who should be in attendance, in relation 
to both children who do not have looked‑after status and those who are looked 
after.40 Visits to looked‑after children have a number of key purposes as set out in 
guidance, including to:41

• support the development of a good relationship between the child and the 
social worker, which will enable the child to share their experiences, both 
positive and negative, within the placement

• provide an opportunity to talk to the child and to offer reassurance if they feel 
isolated and vulnerable while away from family and friends 

• evaluate and monitor the achievement of actions and outcomes identified in 
the care and placement plan, and contribute to the review of the plan

• identify any difficulties that the child or carer may be experiencing, provide 
advice on appropriately responding to the child’s behaviour, and identify 
where additional supports and services are needed 

• monitor contact arrangements to identify how the child is responding to them 
and any additional support carers may need

Where children are not ‘looked after’, visits should:

• review the child alone in the placement unless they refuse

• consider how the placement is safeguarding the child and promoting their 
welfare and outcomes

• seek the views of parents and explore contact arrangements

• consider whether additional provision needs to be made

• send a report of the visit to the relevant local authority, child and family

40 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 
attachment_data/file/656849/Visiting_children_in_residential_special_schools_and_
colleges.pdf 

41 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 
attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_
Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf 

Page 151

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656849/Visiting_children_in_residential_special_schools_and_colleges.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656849/Visiting_children_in_residential_special_schools_and_colleges.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656849/Visiting_children_in_residential_special_schools_and_colleges.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_regulations_Volume_2_care_planning__placement_and_case_review.pdf


Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



© Crown copyright 2022

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the 
Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we 
have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

To view this licence:

visit: www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open‑government‑licence/version/3

email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

write to: Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU

About this publication:

enquiries: www.education.gov.uk/contactus

download: www.gov.uk/government/publications

Page 156

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
mailto:psi%40nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications


IRO CPAC Briefing
June 2023 

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 10



Key Issues 
arising from 
the IRO 
Annual 
Report 
2022/23 (draft 
expected June 23)

• Planning around young people experiencing several  moves has been 
strengthened –  IROs  report directly to ESQA and CLA HoS to help 
promote stability as well as cases being discussed at PS panel

• IROs continue to improve monitoring of  EHCP’s within reviews

• Recognising some parents do not attend CLA review:- IRO’s actively 
encourage parental attendance and contributions to reviews

• IROs continue to embed Language that Cares, which continues to 
improve the quality of minutes and case recording. 

• IROs need to evidence better oversight and challenge around achieving 
earlier permanency – IROs continue to embed midway reviews to help 
monitor the progression of permanency plans for CLA.

• IROs routinely identify children lifestory work for all CLA, which supports 
improved outcomes for children.

• PEPs some gaps identified regarding educational history or careers 
advice:- The IRO service have increased monitoring of PEP quality 
through CLA reviews and will provide support to eliminate gaps 
previously identified during inspection. 

P
age 158



Midway 
Reviews & 
Themes

• The Midway Review process was reviewed with a new template 
implemented - Oct 2022

• From Feb 2023 to date - 40% increase midway reviews being held - 
This now being one of the IRO practice obsessions

Themes:
• Improvement in CLA access to NHS dentists – IRO’s are liaising with 

the designated CLA Nurse to ensure access

• Challenges in accessing EHCPs for children placed Out of Borough – 
IRO’s continue to encourage and when necessary challenge SEN in 
other LA’s to help progress implementation of EHCP’s for CLA.

• Challenges in finding the right homes for our most vulnerable young 
people – IRO’s will support CLA through liaising with Housing 
colleagues to ensure CLA needs are prioritised. 

• There are challenges for children with additional need accessing the 
right schools in a timely way – IRO’s liaise with the virtual school to 
challenge relevant agencies to progress education access.

• Staying Put is explored within reviews – increase from 29 to 35%

• IRO’s continue to promote placements closer to home to counter the 
impact of children experiencing challenging commutes when placed 
outside of the LA.

P
age 159



Quarter 4 Review Data 
P

age 160



Dispute 
Resolution 

Formal Escalations 23 formal escalations raised - Most resolved at Stage 1

• IROs driving for better quality information was reason for most escalations

• Through challenge and collaboration, IROs have supported more timely 
progression of assessments for CLA placed with parents.

• IRO’s supported children accessing School Transport where appropriate

• IRO initiated actions to improve safeguarding arrangements for a vulnerable 
through being presented to the Exploitation Panel where the multi-agency 
plan was reviewed.

• Helped overcome obstacles created via bureaucracy to support a young 
person’s needs being progressed.

Informal Escalations (Alerts) 58 informal escalations raised

• IROs driving for better quality information has attracted the most alerts

• IROs have had greater liaison with Team Managers to help maintain review 
timescales

• IROs have collaborated with others to help keep plans on track 

• IROs have been raising the profile and importance of midway reviews to 
support progression of plans for CLA 

• IROs evidence greater vigilance regarding children’s circumstances where 
they are CLA but living with parents 

P
age 161



Post Ofsted Action Plan
IRO’s will support various aspects of the Post Ofsted Action Plan with particular focus on 
the elements outline below:-

IRO’s will support progress regarding Life story workshops (to begin over the summer 
2023) through the HCA

IRO SM and CLA HoS have begun QA dip sampling of Care Plans with feedback to 
practitioners, Team Managers and IROs to help strengthen practice 

IRO’s will further improve midway reviews rates to help embed a higher level of scrutiny 

IROs are promoting earlier permanence planning  - evidence on child’s file that promotes 
permanence planning at the earliest stages 

IROs have significantly strengthened collaborative practice to help increase results for 
achieving permanence through long term fostering – 13 CLA matched in last 3 months 
and 20 scheduled by August

Strengthen the impact of the IRO service on 
early permanence planning by:

• Seeking the support of those that are 
best in class and others who do this 
successfully, such as SLIP, to support IRO  
practice improvement 

• The IRO service will develop and provide 
regular reports, including feedback from 
children, families, partners, setting out  
issues relating to systems, timeliness and 
early permanency

• Greater triangulation and scrutiny to 
evidence the impact of the IROs

P
age 162



Feedback

Professionals 
and parents are 

consistently 
asked for 

feedback and 
consultation 

forms are sent 
together with 
invitations to 

reviews

We are 
working with 

other 
service 
areas to 

help 
improve 
feedback 

loops

Exploring 
ways in 

which the 
Participation 
Officer may 
play a role 

in improving 
feedback 

returns and 
systems 

Examples of feedback received in the past 3 months:
• ‘I have attended many “LAC” meetings in my time 

and your focus and clarity, and effective use of the 
time I appreciated and welcomed’ – Residential 
Manager 

• ‘It was my first CLA review as a SW. IRO was very 
supportive as a professional and that made things 
easy for me’ – social worker 

• ‘This was helpful to recap and update all 
professionals’.  - carer

• What would you keep the same about the CLA 
Review: ‘I would keep everything the same since we 
resolved our doubts and we feel very supported by 
Haringey’ – Parent 

P
age 163



Sector Led 
Improvement 
Partners / 
Partners in 
Practice 

The IRO Service is excited to be working with our Partners in Practice to:

• Enhance our policies, procedures and IRO practice standards

• Explore ways in which permanence planning and achieving permanency 
is better embedded 

• Strengthen the IRO service by empowering them to exercise their role  
and authority effectively , including appropriate challenges

• Midway monitoring for all children and young people who are looked 
after. 

• Work is already underway to develop some proposals with the first 
iteration of the Annual Report expected by August 2023 

P
age 164



 

Page 1 of 1  

Report for:  Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee  
 
Item number: 8 
 
Title:   Briefing from the Children in Care health team 
 
 
Report  
authorised by :  Lynn Carrington 
 
Lead Officer: Lynn Carrington, Designated Nurse for Children in Care 
 
Ward(s) affected: N/A 
 
 
 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 
 
1.1      Report provides an update on the work of the Children in Care health team.           
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1      For Members to note. 
 
3. Reasons for decision  

 
N/A 

 
4. Background information 

 
N/A 
 
 

5. Contribution to strategic outcomes 
 
N/A 
 
 

6. Use of Appendices 
N/A 
 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

N/A 

 

Page 165 Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Haringey Children in Care 

Overview: 

The Whittington Health (WH) Haringey Children in Care team is part of the WH 

Haringey Children and Young People’s Service (CYPS) and is based at Tynemouth 

Road Health Centre. The team consist of a Designate Doctor, who has recently 

joined the team, a Named Doctor, and an adoption advisor. The doctors are 

experienced consultant paediatricians.  Other doctors working in the team are 

paediatric registrars who are supervised by the consultants. We have a Designate 

Nurse, and have funding for 4 Children in Care nurses.   

 

The Designate Nurse manages the service. The role involves partnership working 

and liaising with the Doctors, CiC nurses, administrators in Whittington CYPS, First 

Step, Haringey Social Care, The Virtual School, Haringey’s Safeguarding Childrens 

Partnership, North Central London Integrated Care Board (ICB) and other 

Designated Nurses and Doctors.  

 

Initial Health Assessments (IHA) continue to be completed by the team of 

paediatricians at Tynemouth Road Health Centre. Social workers are required to 

attend the Initial Health Assessment to support the child, and to ensure that the 

paediatrician is updated on any concerns that may impact on the child’s health. Prior 

to assessments, previous medical records are requested from child’s GP and other 

health professionals involved. If a permanency plan is required, then the adoption 

advisor will oversee the assessment and a permanency report is completed. 

Completed reports are circulated to professionals involved in the child’s care and 

recommendations made.   

 

Following the IHA, children under 5 receive six monthly Review Health Assessments 

(RHA) by the Children in Care team, over 5-year-olds are seen annually. RHAs are 

usually performed by nurses, who will travel to where the child is placed. Doctors 

may perform the RHA of certain children with additional complexities. Social Workers 

are informed of review assessments, as well as if assessments are delayed. On 

occasions joint visits are made to see children and young people to complete 

assessments, especially if there has been lack of engagement.  

There are currently 4 young people declining to be seen for review health 

assessments.  

 

 

 

 

Page 167



 

The Plans and Key Priorities for 2022-2023 were: 

 

1. To recruit a Designated and Named Doctor for Children in Care. 

Completed 

 

2. Aim for all IHA report recommendations to be available for the first Looked 

After Children review.  

Not completed. 

The Initial Health Assessments do not always take place in time for a report to be 

completed before the first Looked After Children’s review.  Delays can result due to 

the volume of children requiring assessments in a month. Delays occur if the CiC 

team are not informed children have entered care or the consent form is not obtained 

from whoever holds parental responsibility, which delays an appointment from being 

booked. We are introducing a new consent form which will assist the process, as 

social workers will obtain consent for the IHA when a child enters care. Close links 

exist between the performance team and the CIC team, who alert us to children 

entering care as soon as they are made aware. There can be a delay in receiving the 

official notification which includes both children entering care and changing 

placement. 

  

3. To secure funding for 1.0 full time equivalent CIC Nurse as per national 

guidance. 

Completed, Interviews have taken place.  

 

4. To raise the Immunisation uptake and dental check-ups of Children in Care. 

Not completed – work in progress 

 

Immunisations: 

65% of children in Care for over 12 months are up to date with immunisations on 

31.3.2023.  

 

Currently the SW and IRO are made aware of outstanding immunisation when 

Health assessment reports are completed. The carers and GPs are also informed 

and SW’s should ensure carers attend the GP surgery for any overdue 

immunisations. Meetings have taken place with public health and the virtual school, 

and plans are in place for data to be shared with regards to which children are due 

Page 168



 

immunisations in the new academic year. Arrangements will be made for consent 

forms to be shared. 

 

Dental health checks: 

There has been an improvement in children accessing dental health checks. In mid 

May 84% children had up-to-date checks   53 children didn’t have an up-to-date 

dental check; the majority are aged 15 plus. SW’s update the date of the last dental 

check when they complete visits and ask the carers for the date of the last visit. 

Children should be seen 6 monthly. 

 

Other Concerns: 

Ensuring access to appropriate and timely mental health and emotional well-

being. 

There continues to be delays in some Children in Care accessing mental health and 

emotional well-being support, as mental health teams have long waiting lists. First 

Step continues to work with the network around children in care and can offer 1:1 

support for children recently entering care. First Step provides social work 

consultations and network meetings and when there is a raised score following a 

completed Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), or a request from the 

social worker. First Step also liaise closely with the young adult’s service. First Step 

will support the SW’s referral to CAMHS if required. First Step Plus works with 

children who have had placement moves and when there is a risk of placements 

breaking down. Mental Health difficulties of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young 

People, teenagers, and at the point of entry into care have been highlighted as 

particular areas of need. 

 

Ensuring access to appropriate and timely health assessments, including 

neurodevelopmental, medical, and psychiatric assessments. 

We continue to contact local providers via the Designated networks to prioritise 

Children in Care. There have been continued concerns with regards the number and 

health needs of Children in Care and entering care within the last 6 months, with 

many children having complex health needs that require referral onto other medical 

teams and hospital follow up. 

  

Safeguarding 

There continues to be concerns with regards to the number of Children in Care with 

missing episodes and those at risk of exploitation. The team have been attending 

strategy meetings and professional meetings when Safeguarding concerns are 

Page 169



 

reported, and the Designated Nurse and SW attend the Haringey Child Exploitation 

Panel where children at risk are referred to.  

 

Ensuring collaborative working with Public Health teams to secure equitable 

provision for young people who are Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers.  

The Unaccompanied young people currently have an Initial Health assessment 

followed by referral to UCLH Specialist Clinic for Infectious Disease screening and a 

referral to sexual health clinic as required.  

Emotional wellbeing is often a concern. We currently have 32 young people under 18 

who are unaccompanied asylum seekers.  Doctors completing the IHA’s have raised 

concern regards the emotional wellbeing of unaccompanied young people. Currently 

referrals to Baobab (young survivors in exile) waiting lists are closed.  

 

Data 

(Information from Haringey performance team). At the end of March 2023:    

 370 children were in care (rate of 69 per 10,000).  

 141 of children have started to be looked after in the year 1.4.2022-31.3.2023.  

 The rate of children becoming looked after per 10,000 is 26.  

 158 of children ceased to be looked after, 13 children were adopted, which is 8% 

of the children who ceased to be looked after in the period. 

 In the past year there were 45 (28.5%) who ceased to be looked after and 

returned home to live with their parents or relatives.  

 95% of children in care for 12 months or more have had a health assessment. 

(Those in youth offending institutes not CIC prior to being remanded are not the 

responsibility of the CIC team). 

 74% have had a strength and difficulty questionnaire completed. (First Step 

report on the SDQ’s.) 

 

 

Lynn Carrington 

 Designated Nurse CIC Haringey. Date: 23.6.2023 

Page 170


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	6 PERFORMANCE FOR QUARTER 4 2022/23 WITH UPDATES TO MAY 2023
	7 OUTCOME OF OFSTED INSPECTION OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES
	2. Appendix 1 Haringey_Inspection of local authority childrens services_Feb23 (1)
	3. Appendix 2 Proposed Post Ofsted Action Plan
	��Haringey’s Children and Young People Service – POST OFSTED ACTION PLAN 
	�Introduction �
	�Delivering further improvement �
	Strategic leadership and oversight �
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13


	8 NATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION ADVISER FOR CARE LEAVERS
	Slide Number 1
	Champions Model Progress
	Transitional Safeguarding Progress
	Slide Number 4
	Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018
	Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018
	Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018
	Our work to improve outcomes for children since 2018
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Housing Progress
	Manageable workloads
	Digital offer
	Questions 

	9 NATIONAL REVIEW INTO DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS
	Cover
	Contents
	Foreword
	Introduction
	1. Executive summary
	2. Review methodology
	3. Contextual information

	The findings
	4. What happened to the children and young adults placed in these settings?
	5. Impact of leadership, management and culture
	6. Impact of systems of quality assurance and national€regulation
	7. The children’s journey into placement at the settings
	8. Implications for the wider system: review phase 2
	9. Urgent action for assurance 
	10. Conclusion

	Appendices
	Appendix 1. Terms of reference: review€phase€1
	Appendix 2. Questionnaire sent to home local authorities of children placed at the€three€settings
	Appendix 3. List of professionals involved in€group interviews
	Appendix 4. The€legal€framework

	Copyright statement

	10 IRO CPAC BRIEFING
	IRO CPAC Briefing
	Key Issues arising from the IRO Annual Report 2022/23 (draft expected June 23)
	Midway Reviews & Themes
	 Quarter 4 Review Data 
	Dispute Resolution 
	Post Ofsted Action Plan
	Feedback
	Sector Led Improvement Partners /  Partners in Practice	

	11 BRIEFING FROM THE CHILDREN IN CARE HEALTH TEAM
	report for corporate parenting committee 12.7.2023 (2)


